
 
City Commission Agenda

Civic Center, 2 Park Drive South, Great Falls, MT
Commission Chambers Room 206

August 7, 2018

CALL TO ORDER 7:00 P.M.

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

ROLL CALL/STAFF INTRODUCTIONS

AGENDA APPROVAL

CONFLICT DISCLOSURE/ EX PARTE COMMUNICATIONS

PETITIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS
(Public comment on any matter that is not on the agenda of the meeting and that is within the jurisdiction of the City Commission. Please
keep your remarks to a maximum of 3 minutes. When at the podium, state your name and address for the record.)

1. Miscellaneous reports and announcements.

NEIGHBORHOOD COUNCILS

2. Miscellaneous reports and announcements from Neighborhood Councils.

BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS

3. Miscellaneous reports and announcements from Boards and Commissions.

CITY MANAGER

4. Miscellaneous reports and announcements from the City Manager.

CONSENT AGENDA
The Consent Agenda is made up of routine day to day items that require Commission action. Items may be pulled from the Consent Agenda
for separate discussion/vote by any Commissioner.

5. Minutes, July 17, 2018, Commission Meeting.

6. Total Expenditures of $6,509,562 for the period of June 30, 2018 through July 25, 2018,
to include claims over $5,000, in the amount of $6,097,250.

7. Contracts List.

8. Approve cancellation of outstanding and unpaid checks over one (1) year old.

9. Award a contract in the amount of $199,911.96 to Geranios Enterprises, Inc., for the
43rd Street North / 8th Avenue North Street Reconstruction, and authorize the City
Manager to execute the construction contract documents.

10. Award a contract in the amount of $217,980.00 to Central Excavation for the Lift Station
#8 Removal, and authorize the City Manager to execute the construction contract

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 1 of 284                                     



documents.

11. Award a contract for the 16th Avenue South / Prospect Heights Storm Drain
Improvements, in the amount of $166,756.10 to Horn Construction and authorize the City
Manager to execute the construction contract documents.

12. Award a contract in the amount of $134,863.80 to Geranios Enterprises, Inc., for the
Miscellaneous Drainage Improvements NW Side Alleys Phase 2 and authorize the City
Manager to execute the construction contract documents.

13. Award a contract in the amount of $260,520.00 to Ed Boland Construction Inc. for the
Lift Station 9 Rehabilitation Project, and authorize the City Manager to execute the
construction contract documents.

14. Award a contract in the amount of $378,950.00 to Planned and Engineered Construction
Inc. (PEC) for the Sanitary Sewer Trenchless Rehabilitation, Phase 21, and authorize
the City Manager to execute the construction contract documents.

15. Award a contract in the amount of $123,806.00 to Thomas Dean & Hoskins, Inc., for
the CMATP Storm Drain Improvements Design, Phase 3, and authorize the City
Manager to execute the construction contract documents.

16. Approve the purchases of water meter equipment for the 2019 Fiscal Year from
Ferguson Enterprises, Inc. in an amount not to exceed $240,000. 

Action:  Approve Consent Agenda as presented or remove items for separate discussion and/or vote

PUBLIC HEARINGS

17. Resolution 10243, to Levy and Assess Street Maintenance District.
Action: Conduct public hearing and adopt or deny Res. 10243. (Presented by Melissa Kinzler)

18. Resolution 10244, to Levy and Assess Properties within Special Improvement Lighting
Districts.
Action: Conduct public hearing and adopt or deny Res. 10244. (Presented by Melissa Kinzler)

19. Res. 10245, to Levy and Assess Special Improvement General Boulevard Maintenance
District No. 3570.  
Action: Conduct public hearing and adopt or deny Res. 10245. (Presented by Melissa Kinzler)

20. Resolution 10246, to Levy and Assess Special Improvement Portage Meadows
Maintenance District No. 1195.
Action: Conduct public hearing and adopt or deny Res. 10246. (Presented by Melissa Kinzler)

21. Resolution 10252, to amend building permit fees per Exhibit A- Permit Fee Schedule.
Action: Conduct public hearing and adopt or deny Res. 10252. (Presented by Craig Raymond)

22. Sky-line Addition Lots 1A, 2A, 3-5. and 6A; Tract 2 of Certificate of Survey #5150; and
the adjoining right-of-way of Skyline Drive NW.
   1.     Resolution 10253, to annex subject properties and Improvement Agreements and
accompanying Findings of Fact.
Action: Conduct joint public hearing and adopt or deny Res.10253 approve or deny
the Improvement Agreements and the accompanying Findings of Fact.
   2.     Ordinance 3191, to establish R-2 Single-family Medium Density zoning for the
subject properties.

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 2 of 284                                     



Action: Adopt or deny Ord. 3191 and the accompanying Findings of Fact. (Presented
by Craig Raymond)

23. Ordinance 3190 to rezone the property located in The Great Falls Water Power and
Townsite Company's First Addition, Block 405, Lots 8-14 from PUD Planned Unit
Development to R-3 Single-family high density.
Action: Conduct public hearing and adopt or deny Ord. 3190 and Findings of Fact. (Presented
by Crag Raymond)

OLD BUSINESS

NEW BUSINESS

ORDINANCES/RESOLUTIONS

24. Resolution 10247, to Levy and Assess the Great Falls Park District Number 1.
Action: Set or not set public hearing date on Res. 10247 for September 4, 2018. (Presented by
Melissa Kinzler)

25. Ordinance 3180, to establish PUD Planned Unit Development zoning upon annexation
for the property legally described in Certificate of Survey #5162,for a project known as
Wheat Ridge Estates, Phase I.
Action: Accept Ord. 3180 on first reading and set or not set a public hearing for September 18,
2018. (Presented by Craig Raymond)

CITY COMMISSION

26. Miscellaneous reports and announcements from the City Commission.

27. Commission Initiatives.

ADJOURNMENT
(Please exit the chambers as quickly as possible. Chamber doors will be closed 5 minutes after adjournment of the meeting.) Commission
meetings are televised on cable channel 190. If a video recording is available it will be posted on the City's website
at https://greatfallsmt.net after the meeting. City Commission meetings are re aired on cable channel 190 the following Wednesday morning
at 10 am, and the following Tuesday evening at 7 pm.

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 3 of 284                                     



Agenda # 5.
Commission Meeting Date: August 7, 2018

City of Great Falls
Commission Agenda Report

Item: Minutes, July 17, 2018, Commission Meeting

From: City Clerk's Office

Initiated By: City Clerk's Office

Presented By: City Commission

ATTACHMENTS:

Draft July 17, 2018 - - City Commission Meeting Minutes

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 4 of 284                                     



JOURNAL OF COMMISSION PROCEEDINGS
July 17, 2018

Regular City Commission Meeting
Commission Chambers Room 206

CALL TO ORDER 7:00 P.M.

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

ROLL CALL

City Commission members present: Bob Kelly, Bill Bronson, Mary Sheehy Moe, Owen Robinson
and Tracy Houck.  Also present were City Manager Greg Doyon and Deputy City Manager Chuck
Anderson; City Clerk Lisa Kunz; Public Works Director Jim Rearden; Human Resources Director
Gaye McInerney; Finance Director Melissa Kinzler; Housing Authority Executive Director Kevin
Hager; Library Director Kathy Mora; Fire Chief Steve Hester; City Attorney Sara Sexe; and,
Police Chief Dave Bowen.

AGENDA APPROVAL

No changes were proposed by the City Manager or City Commissio   The agenda was approved as
submitted.

CONFLICT DISCLOSURE/ EX PARTE COMMUNICATIONS

Mayor Kelly reported that he received a tel phone call day from a constituent expressing sorrow
that the recommendation to the Commission s clos e of the Natatorium.

PETITIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS

1. Miscellaneous rep ts and announcements.

None.

NEIGHBORHOOD COUNCILS

2. Miscellaneous reports and announcements from Neighborhood Councils.

None.

BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS

3. Appointment, Housing Authority Board of Commissioners.

Commissioner Moe moved, seconded by Commissioner Houck, that the City Commission

DRAFT

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 5 of 284                                     Attachment # 1



appoint David Fink for a five-year term through June 30, 2023 to the Great Falls Housing
Authority Board of Commissioners.

Mayor Kelly asked if there were any comments from the public.  Hearing none, Mayor Kelly
asked if there was any discussion amongst the Commissioners.  
 
Commissioner Houck expressed appreciation to Mike McCleary for his 10 years of service to
this board. 
 
Motion carried 5-0

4. Appointment, Library Board.

Commissioner Robinson moved, seconded by Commissioner Bronson, that the City
Commission appoint Anne Bulger to the Library Board for a five-year term through June
30, 2023.

Mayor Kelly asked if there were any comments from he public.  Hearing none, Mayor Kelly
asked if there was any discussion amongst the Commissio rs. 
 
Appreciation was expressed to MaryEllen Kro p for her service o the community.

Motion carried 5-0 

5. Miscellaneous reports and announce ents from Boards and Commissions.

Lonnie Hill, 610 4th Avenu  SW, ad a prepared statement on behalf of the Park and
Recreation Advisory oard exp essing su port for a short term solution to keep indoor swimming
available, if not cost pr hibiti e, whi  ng term solutions are researched and developed. 

CITY MANAGER

6. Miscellaneo s repor s and announcements from the City Manager.

City Manger Greg Doyon reported that:
 

He will keep the Commission posted as staff works through the live-streaming
technology issues.  The meetings are being recorded for viewing.
Staff is collecting information requested by the Commission on two areas of concern with
the budget - the status of the Natatorium facility and what the plans are long term for the
golf courses.
He attended a quarterly City-County Health Department meeting wherein the detection of
the West Nile virus north of Great Falls was reported. 
Assistant Fire Chief Jones and Cascade County DES Coordinator John Stevens were
featured in a KGPR radio show discussing the recent flooding events and the upcoming fire
season.
Great Falls Fire Rescue had 35 calls for service on the 4th of July, and the Great Falls
Police Department had 21 calls regarding fireworks. 

DRAFT

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 6 of 284                                     Attachment # 1



Twenty applications were received for the inaugural City 101 program.
Overtime expenses totaled $14,000 for the recent President Trump visit to Great Falls.
Sergio Carrion retired from the City of Great Falls on July 13, 2018 with 44 years of
service.
Brooke Lindskog was a recent graduate of Firefighter 1 and 2 and is on her probationary
period with Great Falls Fire Rescue.

CONSENT AGENDA

7. Minutes, July 3, 2018, Commission Meeting.

8. Total Expenditures of $6,366,330 for the period of June 15, 2018 through July
5, 2018, to include claims over $5,000, in the amount of $6,012,065.

9. Contracts List.

10. Approve the School Resource Officer Services Agreeme t with Great Falls
Public School District for the 2018/201  schoo  year. 

11. Approve a Professional Servic s Ag ement with Benefis Hospitals, Inc. to
provide Annual Firefighter Medi al Physic s/Wellness Exams in an amount
up to $79,487.85 annually

Commissioner Houc  m ved, seconded by Commissioner Robinson, that the City
Commission a t the onsent Agenda as submitted.

Mayor K lly asked if ere were any comments from the public or discussion amongst the
Commission s. No one esponded.
 
With regard to I m 11, Professional Services Agreement with Benefis, Manager Doyon
commented that a provision for annual firefighter medical physicals/wellness exams was ratified
during the last labor agreement with Local 8.  The cost to provide the service was more than
anticipated.   An adjustment in the proposed budget was made to accommodate the costs
for those services.  There is a limited number of providers that can provide the occupational
health physicals in this instance.  To reduce the costs further, staff attempted to negotiate with
Benefis and also looked into the possibility of incorporating the City's Wellness Program for
some of the services.  A central provider was required to establish, track and maintain the records
and results.  He encouraged the Commission to keep this in mind for future Collective Bargaining
Agreements with Local 8, and also to have a full understanding of requirements and costs
associated with future requests.     
 
Mayor Kelly again asked if there were any comments from the public or discussion amongst the
Commissioners.  Hearing none, Mayor Kelly called for the vote. 

Motion carried 5-0

DRAFT

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 7 of 284                                     Attachment # 1



PUBLIC HEARINGS

12. 2018/2019 Business Improvement District Budget and Work Plan. 

Business Improvement District (BID) Community Director Joan Redeen reported that the BID
was originally formed in 1989 and is up for renewal every 10 years.  The property owners within
the BID vote to self-impose an additional assessment on their property tax bill.  All of those
funds are directed back into the BID boundaries for beautification and improvements.  The BID
is currently comprised of 192 parcels and is operated by a volunteer board of directors comprised
of property owners or designated representatives from within the district. 
 
The BID has proven itself to be a vital part of the downtown area providing for improvement
and beautification.  She explained the three pronged assessment formula that has been unchanged
since 1989.  In 2017, a fourth prong was added to allow for residential growth.   The BID total
annual operating assessment income budgeted has ranged rom $158,000 in 2009 to $248,000 in
2019. She further reviewed grant funds provided fo  façade, new businesses and residential
development, as well as streetscape, sidewalk, art, and Pre erve America grants.  
 
BID Director Redeen reported that the tota  tax valuation o  the properties within the BID
boundaries totaled over $65 million dollars i  2009, a d $110 million dollars in 2018. 
 
Other services provided to property owners w hin the District include tree maintenance, trash
removal, summer flower maintenan  winter snow removal, holiday décor and banners.

Mayor Kelly declared th  publ  hearing open.
 
No one spoke in oppo ition t  r  port of the 2018/2019 BID Budget and Work Plan.
 
Mayor Kelly losed e pub c hearing and asked the will of the Commission.

Commissio er Bronson moved, seconded by Commissioner Houck, that the City
Commission a cept the 2018/2019 Business Improvement District Budget and Work Plan.

Mayor Kelly asked if there was any discussion amongst the Commissioners.
 
Community Director Redeen and the BID Board of Directors were commended for 
accomplishments, tackling challenges and being part of the solutions for the downtown.
 
There being no further discussion, Mayor Kelly called for the vote. 

Motion carried 5-0

13. 2018/2019 Tourism Business Improvement District Budget and Work Plan.

Tourism Business Improvement District (TBID) Tourism Director Rebecca Engum reported
that the TBID is a 10 year district made up of hotel properties that collect an assessment in the

DRAFT

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 8 of 284                                     Attachment # 1



amount of $1.00 per room night from anyone using lodging facilities within the community 30
days or less.  Last year over 892,000 visitors spent the night in our community.  That number is
significantly down from 2016, the national park anniversary, but up 5% from 2015.   She
discussed certain conditions for the decline in room demand numbers.  The TBID has
strategically used reserve funds in the last year to invest in media and supported some key
projects that will make Great Falls more competitive as a convention and sports venue in the
future.
 
Recapping accomplishments, the TBID launched a new website, placed a record amount of
media, launched an app, renewed the TBID district, launched restaurant week, and will be the
location to launch the new state "Taste our Place" program.  Additionally, the TBID brought
back the "Greatest of Great Falls" in partnership with the Great Falls Tribune and awarded 58
different titles to businesses in our community that are the greatest, and then promote messages
through social media as well as in market visitors.
 
In summary, TBID's theme going forward is: establish, begin to grow, continue with content
efforts (Basecamp blog, Adventure Awaits emails, newsletters and social media) and more
placement that produces the greatest return on investm nt, continue to do trade shows at a
reduced rate, formalize an engagement strategy that will get locals more involved with the tourism
message, and launch a partner retargeting program.  Th  TBID team will concentrate more on
conventions and meetings by attending more meeting pla er events, new familiarization trip
opportunities with meeting planners with quali ied RFP's, and a new meeting incentive to let
planners know what our community is willing to help with.

Mayor Kelly declared the public he rin  open.
 
No one spoke in opposition to or in su po t of the 2018/2019 TBID Budget and Work Plan.
 
Mayor Kelly closed th  public hearing and asked the will of the Commission.

Commissioner Moe oved, seconded by Commissioner Bronson, that the City
Commissio  accept the 2 18/2019 Tourism Business Improvement District Budget and
Work Pl n.

Mayor Kelly a ed if t ere was any discussion amongst the Commissioners.
 
Commissioner Houck inquired who made up the board.
 
Tourism Director Engum responded:  Chairman Scott Shull (Days Inn), Becky Amaral-Miller
(Staybridge Suites), Robert Dompier (Best Western Plus Heritage Inn), David Buckingham
(Crystal Inn), Laurie Price-Manning (Hilton Garden Inn),  Scott Arensmeyer (currently serving,
but seeking replacement), and Malissa Hollan (LaQuinta Inn and Suites).  Board members serve
four year terms. 
 
Commissioner Moe expressed appreciation for the thorough report and written materials.

There being no further discussion, Mayor Kelly called for the vote. 

Motion carried 5-0

14. Resolution 10239 Intent to Increase Property Tax.

DRAFT

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 9 of 284                                     Attachment # 1



Finance Director Melissa Kinzler reported that, prior to the adoption of the City’s annual budget,
the Commission is required to hold public hearings on (1) the intent to increase revenue from
property taxation, and (2) the proposed annual budget. This action would schedule the public
hearing on the intent to increase revenue from property taxation. 

The City of Great Falls has a limited ability to increase property tax revenue because of a
statewide property tax cap. Pursuant to Mont. Code Ann. § 15-10-420, the City is authorized to
increase property tax revenue by “one-half of the average rate of inflation for the prior three
years.” 

For Fiscal Year 2019 (Tax Year 2018), as provided by the Montana Department of
Administration, the allowable inflationary adjustment is .82%. This amounts to $127,721 of
additional revenue. 

Mont. Code Ann. §§  15-10-420 and 2-9-212(2)(a) also allows property tax levy increases for
premium contributions for group benefits. The City is pro osing an additional 1.93% property tax
levy increase for health insurance premiums. This wo  provide $300,000 in additional revenue
to help offset the health insurance increases in th  Gene al Fund. Health insurance premiums
increased 8.2% for Fiscal Year 2019.  The total roposed all wable property tax levy increase is
2.75%. 

The hearing on Resolution 10239 is the In nt o Increase Property Tax, whereas additional
action by the City Commission will be needed  the future to set the increased mill levy. This
will occur after the City receives s rtified tax le value from the Montana Department of
Revenue in August.

Mayor Kelly declared the publi  hearing pen.
 
Speaking in oppo ition to Resolution 10239 was John Hubbard, 615 7th Avenue South.  Mr.
Hubbard exp essed o positio  to any increases in taxes, rates or fees. 

No one spo e in support of Resolution 10239.
 
Mayor Kelly clo d t e public hearing and asked the will of the Commission.
 

Commissioner Robinson moved, seconded by Commissioner Houck, that the City
Commission adopt Resolution 10239.

Mayor Kelly asked if there was any discussion amongst the Commissioners.  Hearing
none, Mayor Kelly called for the vote.
 
Motion carried 5-0

15. Resolution 10240 Annual Budget Resolution.

Finance Director Melissa Kinzler reported that the City started the Fiscal Year 2019 budget

DRAFT

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 10 of 284                                     Attachment # 1



process with an initial City Commission priority setting session on March 27, 2018. The City
Commission set informal budget priorities for the Fiscal Year 2019 Budget. This session was
open to the public. 

In March, the City Manager and Department Heads met to discuss 2019 budget priorities. Each
department's requested budgets were presented to the City Manager between May 21st and May
30th, 2018. 

From these meetings and through the City Manager's direction, the Fiscal Year 2019 Budget was
balanced. The Proposed Fiscal Year 2019 Budget was presented to the City Commission on
June 27th, July 3rd, and July 11th at the City Commission Budget Work Sessions.  These
sessions were also open to the public.  

Mont. Code Ann. § 7-6-4024 requires that the budget be approved and adopted by resolution by
the later of the first Thursday after the first Tuesday in September or within 30 calendar days of
receiving certified taxable values from the Montana Department of Revenue. 

Included in the budget resolution is the  fund balance polic  change for the General Fund from a
minimum of 17% to 22% of total expenditures. 

Director Kinzler provided a high level synopsis of the FY 19 proposed budget:
 

$109 million in total revenues, up less t an .5%
$31.8 million in total general fund reve ues, u  3.64%
proposed fee increases for water - 5%  sewer - 2%, storm drain - 10%, sanitation
commercial - 5%; and, a decre e for permi  fees - 5%
assessment increases include P rtag  Meadow   7%, Natural Resources Boulevard - 3%
new assessment for the Park M inten nce istrict

 
All proposed revenue i crease  requir  separate action by the City Commission.  Additional
public hearings will b  set for p oposed fe  increases.
 
She continued wi h the hig  level review:
 

$11  million in tot  expenses, up 1.64%
$31.8 million in ge eral fund total expenses, up 3.7%; included in that budget is proposed
increase  for pers nnel of 2.29 employees

 
Collective bargaining increases are:
 

3.5% for MPEA
5.5% for Police
5% for Fire
proposed 3% for non-union staff
health insurance increases of 8.2% are included in the costs
minimal operation improvements for Court, Fire, Police and Park and Recreation
Departments

 
Facility and facility capital improvements of $2.9 million includes the park facility (Park
Maintenance District), and a proposed $17 million in capital improvements for storm drain,
water, sewer and streets.
 
The general fund currently has an undesignated projected fund balance of 22%.   
 

DRAFT

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 11 of 284                                     Attachment # 1



Three funds are considered at risk:  golf courses, parking and Civic Center events.  The City is
currently working towards financial stability of these funds.

Mayor Kelly declared the public hearing open.
 
No one spoke in opposition to or in support of Resolution 10240. 
 
Written correspondence was received from Shyla Patera, North Central Independent Living
Services, Inc., expressing appreciation for progressing with infrastructure disability and
accessibility issues, and concern about receiving great accessible community services with a
struggling tax base.
 
There being no one further to address the Commission, Mayor Kelly closed the public hearing.

Commissioner Bronson moved, seconded by Commissioner Robinson, that the City
Commission adopt Resolution 10240.

Mayor Kelly asked if there was any discussion amongst th  Commissioners.
 
Commissioner Houck commented on the many budget meetin  attended and information that
the City Commission has receive   Tough decisions have been vetted. 
The Commission collectively set forth goal  and s trying to utilize community dollars the best
way it can.  Some things are not going to be ab  to be taken care of that the Commission wants
in lieu of other priorities.  She cred d the City Manager and staff for having conversations that
were outside the box regarding fun ing and different sources that would then open up funding
for other things. 
 
Commissioner Bronso  thank d staf  for their work and preparation in addressing the
Commission's gener  directive  when pu ting this budget together.  The Commission is trying to
address the basic servic  that the public wants from a municipal government.  The Commission
isn't always on  h ndred percent satisfied with what is being provided, but it is because the City
does not ha e enough esour s to meet the demands and expectations that the public really has. 
Municipa  government i  limited in its resources.  The City is hoping to get about $19.5 million
dollars in p perty tax r venue this coming year.  The combined budget of the police and fire
departments is 22.5 m lion, or $3 million dollars more than the projected tax revenue.  The City
is under limitation  imposed by state law and is essentially trying to run a 21st century operation
and budget on 19th century tax principles.  Until there is a recognition statewide that cities and
towns, that are the large engines of growth in the state, should have greater freedom in
conjunction with the taxpayers in their communities to be able to decide for themselves how best
to raise the revenues to meet the needs of those communities, we will have to struggle through
with the system that we have.
 
Commissioner Moe commented that the two things she hears about the most with regard to the
budget are the Natatorium and the golf courses. She commented that it is a pity cities are not
structured in such a way to meet other than basic needs.  She feels that healthful recreation in
communities is equally important.   After many conversations and reports received about
the Natatorium, she doesn't believe that safety allows the City to keep it open for another year
without making major improvements to the facility.  She concurs with the analysis that making
those improvements would be cost prohibitive.   She has made it known that her approval of the
budget was contingent on a Plan B for the Natatorium.  The City Manager has worked with her
to come up with several alternatives, but it is not something  that can be pinned down at this
time.  They are working in good faith to provide a short term solution while the community

DRAFT

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 12 of 284                                     Attachment # 1



considers what can be done for the long term.   
 
She agreed with the recommendation of issuing a Request for Proposals that might provide for a
more sustainable function for the golf courses.  She thinks they are an important part of the
recreational life in the community.  They will be seeking responses to see if there is a better way
to keep both courses open. 
 
Commissioner Robinson concurred with the comments of his fellow commissioners.  He is in
favor of finding a short term, and perhaps long term, solution for indoor swimming.  He noted the
difficulty of budgeting public safety to the level the Commission would like.  He expressed
appreciation to the City Manager and staff  in providing the information and asking the questions
that needed answered to come up with this budget.
 
Commissioner Houck pointed out that property tax protests are still pending.  The City
is exercising fudiciary responsibility in budgeting only the money the City knows it will get.
 
On the advice of counsel and concurrence with the Commissioners, Mayor Kelly allowed
additional public comment.
 
Larry Johnson, 3523 9th Avenue South, referring t  Item 11, Professional Services Agreement
with Benefis for annual firefighter medical physicals/we ness exams, commented that the
agreement should cover all first responders emp oyed by the Ci  
 
There being no one further to address the C mmi on, Mayor Kelly closed the public comment
period.
 
With regard to the budget, Mayo  Kel y noted t at discussions have been ongoing for six
months.  He encouraged the public  acti e p icipation.  The Commission is committed to
delivering efficient and eff ive serv s to the public with the limited budget it is presented
with.  City staff has d ne a g eat job of managing those resources, especially through some
difficult times.  He xpressed appreciati n to the taxpayers for allowing the Park Maintenance
District to go forward.
 
There being no furthe  discu ion, Mayor Kelly called for the vote.
 
Motion car d 5-0

OLD BUSINESS

NEW BUSINESS

16. Labor Agreement between City of Great Falls and the International
Brotherhood of Electrical Workers (IBEW) Local Union #233.

Human Resources Director Gaye McInerney reported that staff recommends the City
Commission approve the labor agreement between the City of Great Falls and the International
Brotherhood of Electrical Workers (IBEW) Local Union #233. The IBEW consists of seven
employees across two City departments - Planning and Community Development and Public
Works. 
 
Members of the negotiating team worked to update basic contractual language in order to make

DRAFT

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 13 of 284                                     Attachment # 1



the Agreement more clear, more understandable, and consistent.  Changes from the previous
Agreement include, but are not limited to:
 

Article 2 - Term of the Agreement: Updated the contract dates to reflect the new term
beginning July 1, 2018 through June 30, 2019.
Article 4 - Definitions: Clarified the definition of "Temporary employee" to coincide with
the definition outlined in the City of Great Falls Personnel Policy Manual.
Article 6.5 - Strikes and Lockouts: Clarified when the Union may "strike" and the City may
"lockout" if the contract has expired, good faith efforts in negotiating a new contract have
failed, and the parties are at impasse.
Article 11.1 - Call Back: Clarified rate of one and one half regular straight time rate of pay
will be paid to employees called in for work two hours before the start of their scheduled
shift or four hours after the end of the scheduled shift.
Article 16.2(3) - Sick Leave: Clarified no more than five days sick leave may be granted
when a death occurs in the immediate family, unless the leave qualifies for FMLA.
Article 16.3(4) - Sick Leave: Clarified Parental Leave provision with, "unless qualified
under the Family Medical Leave Act (FMLA)."
Article 16.6 - Sick Leave: Clarified death benefit  are provided for under the Public
Employment Retirement System (PERS).
Article 16.7 - Sick Leave: Clarified that sick le e d nations are not available to employees
during a probationary period.
Article 25 - Updated wording of clause from Affirmat e Action to Non-Discrimination
Policy.
Article 28 - Waiver and Amendment Clause was added stating no past practices, policies,
rules, or prior agreements shall alter the i nt or the meaning of the specific articles of this
Agreement.
Schedule A was updated with hree w positio s and to reflect a 4.5% increase - 3.0% for
COLA and 1.5% for market adju men  The increase also includes a $0.15 per hour
deferral for the IBEW Pension.
Schedule B, 4(A)(3): He lth pre ium charges after 7/1/18 will be shared at a provider
standard rate w th the Ci y paying 0 percent and the employee paying 10 percent of the
premium. In add on  he 7/1/18 premium rates were updated.

 
The previou  labor a reeme t period was for a two year period, expiring June 30, 2018. The
term of th  proposed Ag eement is for a one year period beginning July 1, 2018 through June 30,
2019.  A on year contra t was bargained in order to align the healthcare benefit premiums across
all City depar ents fo  two reasons. Firstly, to establish a provider standard rate computation
from MMIA, an  condly, to establish a cost sharing with the City paying 90 percent and the
employee paying 10 percent of the healthcare premium. 
 
The representatives of the negotiating teams included-City:  Gaye McInerney, Human Resources
Director; Sara Sexe, City Attorney; Jim Rearden, Public Works Director; Chuck Anderson,
Deputy City Manager; Wayne Lovelis, Water Plant Manager; and Jerry McKinley, Traffic
Division Supervisor.  IBEW:  John Gordon, IBEW Business Manager; Don Briggs, IBEW
Assistant Business Manager; Robert Bubnash, Traffic Signal Tech/Electrician, Public Works;
Wes Crawford, SCADA/Tech Support Technician, Water Plant; and Mat Kenner, Asset
Management/Tech Support Specialist, Administration. 
 
The IBEW members voted unanimously in June, 2018 to ratify the proposed contract.
 
The financial impact of a 4.5% increase to wages (3.0% COLA and 1.5% market adjustment)
for a one year contract is approximately $19,131, divided out as follows:  Planning and
Community Development - $2,880; Public Works Administration - $2,709; Traffic Division -
$5,418; and Water Plant - $8,124.

DRAFT

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 14 of 284                                     Attachment # 1



Commissioner Bronson moved, seconded by Commissioner Robinson, that the City
Commission approve the labor agreement between the City of Great Falls and the
International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers (IBEW) Local Union #233.

Mayor Kelly asked if there were any comments from the public.  Hearing none, Mayor Kelly
asked if there was any discussion amongst the Commissioners.
 
Commissioner Houck received clarification that there were seven people affected by the contract
negotiations, and that five of them were on the negotiating team.  She inquired if the Commission
would provide direction to staff if it did not ratify the labor agreement.
 
Manager Doyon responded that, if the Commission had concerns, he would take the specific
concerns back to the negotiating teams.
 
Commissioner Moe inquired the rationale for not allowing sick leave donations during the
probationary period.
 
Director McInerney responded that there are many b efits held back until the probationary
period is complete.  This change is consistent with the City  Personnel Policy Manual.
 
There being no further discussion, Mayor Ke ly called for the vot .
 
Motion carried 5-0

ORDINANCES/RESOLUTIONS

C TY COMMISSION

17. Miscellaneous repo ts and annou cements from the City Commission.

Mayor Kel  inquired th  status of the response to the statement read by Debbie Walsh on behalf
of Elizabeth B uskotter at the July 11th budget work session.
 
Manager Doyon responded that the response letter has been drafted, and that he expected the
letter to go out in tomorrow's mail.  
 
Mayor Kelly announced that Mayor Pro Tempore Bill Bronson will preside over the August 7th
Commission meetings in his absence.
 
Commissioner Houck reported that the Business Improvement District (BID) is governed by a
Board of Directors:  Andy Ferrin, Garry Hackett, Alison Fried, Max Grebe, Travis Neil, Sheila
Rice and Jason Madill.  The work plan and grant applications that Community Director Redeen
reported on earlier are on the BID's website.
 
Commissioner Moe commented that the news coverage about the Missoula policeman that
uncovered the baby in the woods made her cognizant, not for the first time, but in a
particular way,  of the strain that is always with our police and fire departments.  She expressed
appreciation to the first responders for their extraordinary service.
 

DRAFT

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 15 of 284                                     Attachment # 1



At the request of Mayor Kelly, Fire Chief Steve Hester announced that the opening ceremony
for the Professional Firefighters and Firefighters Association Convention begins tomorrow at the
Best Western Heritage Inn.  He extended an invitation to drop in to interact with the firefighters
from across the state.
 
 

18. Commission Initiatives.

None.

ADJOURNMENT

There being no further business to come before the Commission, Commissioner Moe moved,
seconded by Mayor Kelly, to adjourn the regular meeting of July 17, 2018, at 8:24 p.m.

 
 

Mayor Bob Kel y
 
 

 
City Cl rk Lisa Kun

 
Minute  App ove

DRAFT

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 16 of 284                                     Attachment # 1



Agenda # 6.
Commission Meeting Date: August 7, 2018

City of Great Falls
Commission Agenda Report

Item: Total Expenditures of $6,509,562 for the period of June 30, 2018 through July 25, 2018, to
include claims over $5,000, in the amount of $6,097,250.

From: Fiscal Services

Initiated By: City Commission

Presented By: Melissa Kinzler, Fiscal Services Director

ATTACHMENTS:

5000 Report

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 17 of 284                                     



Agenda # 6

Commission Meeting Date: August 7, 2018

CITY OF GREAT FALLS

COMMISSION AGENDA REPORT

ITEM: $5,000 Report

Invoices and Claims in Excess of $5,000

PRESENTED BY: Fiscal Services Director

ACTION REQUESTED:  Approval with Consent Agenda

LISTING OF ALL ACCOUNTS PAYABLE CHECKS ISSUED AVAILABLE ONLINE AT 

www.greatfallsmt.net/fiscalservices/check-register-fund

TOTAL CHECKS ISSUED AND WIRE TRANSFERS MADE ARE NOTED BELOW WITH AN

ITEMIZED LISTING OF ALL TRANSACTIONS GREATER THAN $5000:

ACCOUNTS PAYABLE CHECK RUNS FROM JULY 6, 2018 - JULY 25, 2018 6,478,942.84

MUNICIPAL COURT ACCOUNT CHECK RUN FOR JUNE 30, 2018 - JULY 13, 2018 30,619.00

TOTAL:  $ 6,509,561.84

GENERAL FUND

CITY COMMISSION

MONTANA LEAGUE OF CITIES AND 2018-2019 MEMBERSHIP DUES 20,712.30

TOWNS

OTHER ADMIN

CTA ARCHITECTS ENGINEERS PHASE I CC EXTERIOR ENVELOPE 8,492.72

REHAB ARCHITECTURAL SERVICES

CASCADE CITY COUNTY HEALTH DEPT 2019 FIRST HALF ANNUAL CONTRIBUTION 125,000.00

POLICE

STATE OF MONTANA DEPT OF JUSTICE CIN FEES 07/01/18 - 06/30/19 1,067.09

(SPLIT AMONG FUNDS)

SPECIAL REVENUE FUND

911 SPECIAL REVENUE

CENTURYLINK DISPATCH MONTHLY LINE CHARGES 5,840.80

HIDTA SPECIAL REVENUE

STATE OF MONTANA DEPT OF JUSTICE CJIN FEES 07/01/18 - 06/30/19 605.37

(SPLIT AMONG FUNDS)

Page 1 of 4

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 18 of 284                                     Attachment # 1



SPECIAL REVENUE FUND (CONTINUED)

STREET DISTRICT

KUGLIN CONSTRUCTION OF 1697.2  3RD AVE S HANDICAP RAMPS 82,610.41

(SPLIT AMONG FUNDS)

GREAT FALLS SAND & GRAVEL ASPHALT 87,859.99

LIBRARY

SIRSIDYNIX MAINTENANCE AGREEMENT 7/1/18-6/30/19 38,252.25

PLANNING & COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT

GREAT FALLS TRANSIT DISTRICT 2ND QUARTER REIMBURSEMENT FOR 21,318.35

TRANSIT PLANNING FROM UPWP FUNDS

RECEIVED

NATURAL RESOURCES

TREE AMIGOS TREE SERVICE ASH TREE TRIM CONTRACT 5,760.00

FEDERAL BLOCK GRANTS

QUALITY LIFE CONCEPTS INC CDBG SEAL & REPLACE ASBESTOS 17,888.00

FLOORING SOUTH PARK GROUP HOME

 

CAPITAL PROJECTS

GENERAL CAPITAL

GREAT FALLS SAND & GRAVEL OF 1684.1 POLICE DEPT. CONCRETE 17,812.57

REPLACEMENT

ENTERPRISE FUNDS

WATER

FERGUSON ENTERPRISES INC METER SUPPLIES 25,220.04

UNITED MATERIALS OF GREAT FALLS OF 1465.2 LOWER SOUTH SIDE WMR PH III 264,750.28

STATE OF MONTANA 1% WITHHOLDING FOR SLETTEN 5,106.70

STATE OF MONTANA 1% WITHHOLDING FOR LANDMARK 6,894.42

STRUCTURES 

TECHNICAL MARKETING MFG. INC FIRE STATION 1 & MAFB PLC UPGRADE 9,575.40

NALCO COMPANY WATERPLANT CHEMICALS 59,748.00

SLETTEN CONSTRUCTION CO OF 1519.6 WTP IMP PH 1 CONSTRUCTION 505,563.63

LANDMARK STRUCTURES I, L.P OF 1625.2 GORE HILL TANK REPL. 682,547.18

ADVANCED ENGINEERING & OF 1625.0 WATER STORAGE TANK 32,945.50

ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES EVALUATION PHASE 1

Page 2 of 4

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 19 of 284                                     Attachment # 1



ENTERPRISE FUNDS (CONTINUED)

SEWER

VEOLIA WATER NORTH AMERICA MONTHLY WWTP OPERATION CONTRACT 482,548.08

JUNE & JULY 2018

VEOLIA WATER NORTH AMERICA MONTHLY CONTRACTED CAPITAL 25,000.00

IMPROVEMENTS JUNE & JULY 2018

NCI ENGINEERING CO OF 1658.3 CMATP TIF  #30 FORCE MAIN 22,269.40

TITAN MACHINERY INC RING O MATIC 550 78,300.00

HDR ENGINEERING WWTP ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATORY 8,874.04

COMPLIANCE

LINKO TECHNOLOGY INC ANNUAL SOFTWARE MAINTENANCE 6,075.00

US BANK NA DEBT SERVICE 314,575.00

CIP CONSTRUCTION OF 1695.6 WEST BANK SANITARY 28,382.91

TECHNOLOGIES INC SEWER MANHOLE LINING

STORM DRAIN

KUGLIN CONSTRUCTION OF 1697.2  3RD AVE S HANDICAP RAMPS 44.97

(SPLIT AMONG FUNDS)

CENTRAL EXCAVATION OF 1462.5 18TH ST S STORM DRAIN 526,342.13

STATE OF MONTANA 1% WITHHOLDING FOR CENTRAL  5,316.59

EXCAVATION

911 DISPATCH CENTER

STATE OF MONTANA DEPT OF JUSTICE CJIN FEES 07/01/18 - 06/30/19 31,554.40

(SPLIT AMONG FUNDS)

RECREATION

BIG SKY BUS LINES REC CENTER 2018 SUMMER CAMP 5,216.32

TRANSPORT

CIVIC CENTER EVENTS

DICK OLSON CONSTRUCTION INC THEATER PROJECTION BOOTH UPGRADE 12,519.00

INTERNAL SERVICES FUND

HEALTH & BENEFITS

MONTANA MUNICIPAL INTERLOCAL EMPLOYEE INSURANCE PREMIUM FOR 792,584.70

AUTHORITY JULY 2018

INSURANCE & SAFETY

KENCO SECURITY & TECHNOLOGY CIVIC CENTER INSTALL CCTV SYSTEM 21,312.52

MONTANA MUNICIPAL INTERLOCAL FY 2018/19 LIABILITY PREMIUM 591,414.00

AUTHORITY

MONTANA MUNICIPAL INTERLOCAL FY 2018/2019 PROPERTY ASSESSMENT 214,407.05

AUTHORITY

Page 3 of 4

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 20 of 284                                     Attachment # 1



INTERNAL SERVICES FUND (CONTINUED)

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY

VERMONT SYSTEMS INC ANNUAL RECTRAC WEBTRAC 10,036.99

MAINTENANCE

CENTRAL GARAGE

TERRACON CONSULTANTS INC OF 1455.9 PW FUEL TANK PURCHASE 6,726.50

 INSTALL

FLAWLESS AUTOBODY INC MMIA DEDUCTIBLE-INSURANCE 10,000.00

MOUNTAIN VIEW CO-OP FUEL 74,803.97

TRUST AND AGENCY

COURT TRUST MUNICIPAL COURT

CITY OF GREAT FALLS FINES & FORFEITURES COLLECTIONS 25,804.00

PAYROLL CLEARING 

STATE TREASURER MONTANA TAXES 52,773.00

ICMA RETIREMENT TRUST EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS 7,898.34

FIREFIGHTER RETIREMENT FIREFIGHTER RETIREMENT EMPLOYEE & 54,642.81

EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS

STATEWIDE POLICE RESERVE FUND POLICE RETIREMENT EMPLOYEE & 67,630.94

EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS

PUBLIC EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT PUBLIC EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT 133,972.65

EMPLOYEE & EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS

POLICE SAVINGS & LOAN EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS 13,377.00

US BANK FEDERAL TAXES, FICA & MEDICARE 229,893.87

AFLAC EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS 10,397.35

NATIONWIDE RETIREMENT SOLUTIONS EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS 13,379.40

UTILITY BILLS

NORTHWESTERN ENERGY TRANSMISSION CHARGES FOR APR 2018 11,645.73

TALEN TREASURE STATE ELECTRICITY CHARGES FOR JUNE 2018 89,092.00

MONTANA WASTE SYSTEMS INC JUNE 2018 MONTHLY CHARGES 92,868.36

CLAIMS OVER $5000 TOTAL: $ 6,097,250.02

Page 4 of 4

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 21 of 284                                     Attachment # 1



Agenda # 7.
Commission Meeting Date: August 7, 2018

City of Great Falls
Commission Agenda Report

Item: Contracts List

From: City Clerk's Office

Initiated By: Various City Departments

Presented By: City Commission

ATTACHMENTS:

Contracts List

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 22 of 284                                     



CITY OF GREAT FALLS, MONTANA                                                                                                                 AGENDA:      7                                              

 

COMMUNICATION TO THE CITY COMMISSION      DATE: August 7, 2018 

 
ITEM:    CONTRACTS LIST 

Itemizing contracts not otherwise approved or ratified by City Commission Action 
(Listed contracts are available for inspection in the City Clerk’s Office.) 

 
PRESENTED BY:   Darcy Dea, Deputy City Clerk 

 

ACTION REQUESTED:  Ratification of Contracts through the Consent Agenda 
 
MAYOR’S SIGNATURE: ___________________________________________                                                                       

 

CONTRACTS LIST 

 
 
  

DEPARTMENT 

 
OTHER PARTY (PERSON 

OR ENTITY) 

 
PERIOD 

 
AMOUNT 

 
PURPOSE 

A 

Great Falls Fire 
Rescue 

Calvert’s Overhead Door 08/07/2018- 
08/07/2019  

$6400 Agreement to replace overhead doors at 
the Great Falls Fire Rescue Training 
Center at 1900 9th Street South 

 

B 

Public Works/ 
Engineering 

Stewart and Sara Reynolds Permanent $1.00 Memorandum of Understanding and 
Permanent Storm Drainage Utility 
Easement in the Southwest Quarter of the 
Southwest Quarter of Section 13, 
Township 20 North, Range 3 East, MPM, 
Grandview Tracts Subdivision   
OF 1722.2 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 23 of 284                                     Attachment # 1



C 

Public Works/ 
Engineering 

Cartegraph Systems  LLC 08/07/2018- 
08/07/2019 

$9,300 Purchase Agreement and Addendum to 
Cartegraph Hosted Solutions Agreement, 
dated March 28, 2018 for Cartegraph 
Cloud Shared Hosting Subscription, User 
Pack Subscription – 5 named users, and 
fixed fee for support and field services 
 

D 

Planning and 
Community 
Development 

Falls Mechanical Services, 
LLC 

08/07/2018-
06/30/2019 

$6996 Professional Services Agreement for 
Community Development Offices HVAC 
replacement. 
 

E 

Planning and 
Community 
Development 

Tilleraas Landscape Nursery 
Inc. 

08/07/2018-
12/31/2020 

$37,225 Agreement to provide landscape 
renovations and maintenance of the 
landscaping at the Civic Center 
 

F 

Great Falls Police 
Department 

Mission Critical Partners LLC 08/07/2018-
12/31/2018 

$36,880 Professional Services Agreement to 
provide an Assessment Report for review 
of radio system 
 

G 

Park and Recreation Custom Wood Flooring  08/07/2018-
08/28/2018 

$3,537.50 Agreement to recoat the wood floors in 
the gym and the dance studio in the 
Community Recreation Center 
 

 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 24 of 284                                     Attachment # 1



Agenda # 8.
Commission Meeting Date: August 7, 2018

City of Great Falls
Commission Agenda Report

Item: Cancellation of Outstanding and Unpaid Checks Over a Year Old

From: Melissa Kinzler, Finance Director

Initiated By: Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP)

Presented By: Melissa Kinzler, Finance Director

Action Requested: Approve cancellation of outstanding and unpaid checks over one (1) year old.

Suggested Motion:
1.  Commissioner moves:            
 

“I move that the City Commission (approve/deny) the cancellation of City of Great Falls checks
that remain outstanding, and unpaid, for a period of one (1) year or longer as authorized by Mont.
Code Ann. §7-6-4303.” 
 

2.  Mayor requests a second to the motion, public comment, Commission discussion, and calls for the
vote.

Staff Recommendation:
Staff recommends that the City Commission approve the cancellation of checks that remain outstanding,
and unpaid, for the period of one (1) year or longer.
 

Summary:
Mont. Code Ann. §7-6-4303, authorizes the City Commission to cancel municipal checks that have
remained outstanding and unpaid for a period of one (1) year or longer. Attached is the required list of
the instruments to be cancelled including the check number, date, amount, and payee.  The Finance
Department sends out two separate letters with affidavits to the address on record for the payee.  If no
response is received, a request to cancel the checks is sent to the City Commission.  If a payee comes
forward anytime after the checks are cancelled, Finance will generate a replacement check.  The
cancellation of outstanding checks is done on an annual basis.  The last time the City Commission
approved cancellation of checks issued by the Finance Department was September 5, 2017.

Fiscal Impact:
The total amount of the checks that are written off ($966.30) is placed in the General Fund miscellaneous

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 25 of 284                                     



revenue.
 

ATTACHMENTS:

List of Outstanding and Unpaid Checks

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 26 of 284                                     





Agenda # 9.
Commission Meeting Date: August 7, 2018

City of Great Falls
Commission Agenda Report

Item: Construction Contract Award: 43rd Street North / 8th Avenue North Street Reconstruction, Office
File 1679.9

From: Engineering Division

Initiated By: Public Works Department

Presented By: Jim Rearden, Public Works Director

Action Requested: Consider Bids and Approve Contract

Suggested Motion:
1.   Commissioner moves:
 

"I move that the City Commission (award/not award) a contract in the amount of $199,911.96 to
Geranios Enterprises, Inc., for the 43 d Street No th / 8th Avenue North Street Reconstructio , and
authorize the City Manager to execute the construction contract documents."

 
2.  Mayor requests a second to the motion, public comment, Commission discussion, and calls for the
vote.

Staff Recommendation:
Approve construction contract award.
 

Summary:
This project was initiated to reconstruct a portion of 43rd Street North from the north cul-de-sac to a
point 50 feet south of the intersection with 8th Avenue North. 

Background:
Workload Impacts:
Design phase engineering and plans and specifications were completed by the City Engineering staff
with assistance from City Street Division and Utilities. City Engineering staff will provide construction
phase engineering services and project inspection. The construction activity will require temporary
closure of 8th Avenue North from 42nd Street North to 44th Street North. Access to local residences and
businesses adjacent to construction zones will be maintained.
 
Purpose:

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 28 of 284                                     



This project was initiated to reconstruct a portion of 43rd Street North from the north cul-de-sac to a
point 50 feet south of the intersect on with 8th Avenue Nort .  The project consists of reconstructing
approximately 250 feet of road way; installing valley gutters; curb and gutter; sidewalk; and ADA curb
ramps.
 
Project Work Scope:
Work to be performed under this contract includes the following: approximately 1,100 Square Yards of 4
inch Asphalt Concrete Pavement; approximately 560 Lineal Feet of integral concrete curb and gutter;
1,150 Square Feet of four (4)-inch concrete sidewalk; 2,200 Square Feet of 6 inch reinforced concrete;
4 truncated domes; and 2,200 Square Feet of sod placement.
 
Evaluation and Selection Process:
The specifications were advertised two times in the Great Falls Tribune.  One bid was received on July
24, 2018 with a bid price of $199,911.96. Geranios Enterprises, Inc., submitted the lone bid.
 
Conclusion:
City staff recommends awarding the contract to Geranios Enterprises, Inc., in the amount of $199,911.96.

Fiscal Impact:
The attached bid tabulation summarizes bids that were received. Street D vis on Improvements funding
is budgeted to fund this project.
 

Alternatives:
The C ty Commission could vote to deny award of t e construction contract and e-bid or cancel the
project.

ATTACHMENTS:

Bid Tab OF 1679.9

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 29 of 284                                     



Page 1 of 1

CITY OF GREAT FALLS BID TABULATION SUMMARY Project Number 1679.9

P.O. BOX 5021 Bids Taken at Civic Center

GREAT FALLS, MT  59403 43rd Street North / 8th Ave North Street Reconstruction Date: July 24, 2018

O.F. 1679.9 Tabulated By:

Name & Address of

Bidder

Acknowledge

Addendum #1

Acknowledge

Addendum #2

10% Bid

Security

Affidavit of

Non-Collusion

Certificate of

Non-Segregated

Facilities

Certificate of

Compliance with

Insurance Req.

Total Bid

1
Geranios Enterprises                

P.O. Box 2543                    

Great Falls MT 59403

X X X X $199,911.96

2

Great Falls Sand & Gravel

P.O. Box 1989

Great Falls, MT  59403
No Bid

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10 Engineer's Estimate

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 30 of 284                                     Attachment # 1



Agenda # 10.
Commission Meeting Date: August 7, 2018

City of Great Falls
Commission Agenda Report

Item: Construction Contract Award: Lift Station #8 Removal, O.F. 1722.2

From: Engineering Division

Initiated By: Public Works Department

Presented By: Jim Rearden, Public Works Director

Action Requested: Consider Bids and Approve Contract

Suggested Motion:
1.  Commissioner moves:
 

"I move that the City Commission (award/not award) a contract in the amount of $217,980.00 to
Central Excavation for the Lift Station #8 Removal, and authorize the City Manager to execute the
construction contract documents."

 
2.  Mayor requests a second to the motion, public comment, Commission discussion, and calls for the
vote.

Staff Recommendation:
Approve construction contract award. 

Summary:
This project was initiated to prevent sanitary sewage overflows (SSOs) by installing new gravity PVC
sanitary sewer collection main and removing the existing lift station. The purpose for doing this is to
continue to provide adequate and reliable sewer flow in order to protect the health and safety of the
citizens of Great Falls.  

Background:
Workload Impacts:
Design phase engineering and plans and specifications were completed by Outrigger Consultants, LLC. 
Outrigger Consultants and City Engineering staff will provide construction phase engineering services
and project inspection.
 
Purpose:
The existing lift station was installed in 1979 and is nearing the end of its useful design life. The project
will help prevent SSO’s from the aging lift station and continue to allow the city to provide sanitary

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 31 of 284                                     



sewer service to the citizens of Great Falls safely and effectively. The project begins at Lift Station #8
on the dead end of 20th Avenue South, east of the intersection of 20th Avenue South and 4th Street South. 
The project continues along an easterly extension of 20th Avenue South then south for 420 feet and ties
into the gravity system at the east end of 21st Avenue South.
 
Project Work Scope:
Work to be pe for ed under this contract ncludes the following: approximately 850 lineal feet of new 8
inch diameter PVC sanitary sewer collection main; 194 lineal feet of new 10-inch diameter PVC
sanitary sewer collection main; five 48-inch diameter manholes; abandonment of the existing sanitary
sewer lift station, force main, and wet well manhole; removal of two manholes; and landscaping and
irrigation system repair.
 
Evaluation and Selection Process:
The specifications were advertised three times in the Great Falls Tribune.  Two bids were received on
July 24, 2018 with the bids ranging between $217,980.00 and $230,315.00. Central
Excavation submitted the low bid.
 
Conclusion:
City staff recommends awarding the contract to Central Excavation in the amount of $217,980.00.

Fiscal Impact:
The attached bid tabulation summarizes bids that were received. City sanitary sewer funding is budgeted
to fund this project. 

Alternatives:
The City Commission could vote to deny award of the construction contract and re-bid or cancel the
project.

ATTACHMENTS:

Bid Tab OF 1722.2

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 32 of 284                                     



Page 1 of 1

CITY OF GREAT FALLS BID TABULATION SUMMARY Project Number 1722.2

P.O. BOX 5021 Bids Taken at Civic Center

GREAT FALLS, MT  59403 Lift Station #8 Removal Date: July 25, 2018

O.F. 1722.2 Tabulated By:

Name & Address of

Bidder

Acknowledge

Addendum #1

Acknowledge

Addendum #2

10% Bid

Security

Affidavit of

Non-Collusion

Certificate of

Non-Segregated

Facilities

Certificate of

Compliance with

Insurance Req.

Total Bid

1
Cap Con                                

4117 14th Ave S                   

Great Falls, MT 59405

X X X X $230,315.00

2

Ed Boland Construction

4601 7th Ave. So.

Great Falls, MT  59405
No Bid

3
Central Plumbing & Heating                    

3701 River Drive N            

Great Falls, MT 59405

X X X X $217,980.00

4

5

6

7

8

9

10 Engineer's Estimate

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 33 of 284                                     Attachment # 1



Agenda # 11.
Commission Meeting Date: August 7, 2018

City of Great Falls
Commission Agenda Report

Item: 16th Avenue South / Prospect Heights Storm Drain Improvements - O.F. 1666.7

From: Engineering Division

Initiated By: Public Works Department

Presented By: Jim Rearden, Public Works Director

Action Requested: Consider Bids and Approve Construction Contract

Suggested Motion:
1.  Commissioner moves:
 

“I move the City Commission (award/not award) a contract for the 16th Avenue South / Prospect
Heights Storm Drain Improvements, in the amount of $166,756.10 to Horn Construction and
authorize the City Manager to execute the construction contract documents."

 
2.  Mayor calls for a second to the motion, public comment, Commission discussion, and calls for the
vote.

Staff Recommendation:
Approve construction contract award. 

Summary:
This project will improve drainage and remedy flooding issues along 16th Avenue South in the Prospect
Heights Area. This project includes work scope to upsize 382 lineal feet of storm drain pipe and install
two new inlets along 16th Avenue South between 4th and 2nd Street South as well as upsize 16 lineal feet
of storm drain pipe on 2nd Street South between 16th and 17th Avenue South. The project is scheduled to
begin no later than September 1st and is anticipated to be completed by mid-October.

Background:
Citizen Participation
The improvements to the storm drain system will reduce the potential for stormwater impacting motorists
and property during heavy rain events. There will be road closures along the route of the pipe
installation. Local residents provided comments for the project, and will be provided updates during
construction.
 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 34 of 284                                     



Workload Impact
City Engineering Staff completed the project design and will perform construction inspection and
contract administration duties.
 
Purpose
The purpose of this project is to reduce the potential for flooding in the Prospect Heights area during
heavy rainfall events, and reduce the volume of standing water on 16th Avenue South and 2nd Street
South.
 
Project Work Scope
This project consists of installation of approximately 440 lineal feet of storm drain pipe including
manholes, two inlets, and inlet leads; removal of existing storm drain; restoration of roadway gravel base
and asphalt pavement; and miscellaneous concrete sidewalk, curb and apron work. The project
provisions specified the project to begin no later than September 1, 2018 and be completed in 45
calendar days.
 
Evaluation and Selection Process
Two (2) bids were received on July 25, 2018, with the base bids ranging between $166,756.10 and
$215,015.00. Horn Construction submitted the low bid and executed all the necessary bid documents.
 
Conclusion
City staff recommends awarding the construction contract to Horn Construction, in the amount of
$166,756.10.

Fiscal Impact:
The attached bid tabulation summarizes bids that were received. 

 
Storm Drain Capital Funds will be utilized to finance associated improvements within the project.  
 

Alternatives:
The City Commission could vote to deny award of the construction contract to the low bid and instead
award the contract to a different bidder; re-bid the project; or cancel the project. 

ATTACHMENTS:

Bid Tabulation

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 35 of 284                                     



Page 1 of 1

CITY OF GREAT FALLS BID TABULATION SUMMARY Project Number 1666.7

P.O. BOX 5021 Bids Taken at Civic Center

GREAT FALLS, MT  59403 16th Avenue South / Prospect Heights Storm Drain Improvements Date: July 25, 2018

O.F. 1666.7 Tabulated By: Madeline Good

Name & Address of

Bidder

Acknowledge

Addendum #1

Acknowledge

Addendum #2

10% Bid

Security

Affidavit of

Non-Collusion

Certificate of

Non-Segregated

Facilities

Certificate of

Compliance with

Insurance Req.

Total Bid

1

Central Plumbing 

3701 River Drive North

Great Falls, MT   59405
No Bid

2

Horn Construction

11 Sunnyside Ave.

Vaughn, MT  59487
     $166,756.10

3

Capcon Construction

4117 14th Ave. S.

Great Falls, MT 59405
     $215,015.00

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 36 of 284                                     Attachment # 1



Agenda # 12.
Commission Meeting Date: August 7, 2018

City of Great Falls
Commission Agenda Report

Item: Construction Contract Award: Miscellaneous Drainage Improvements NW Side Alleys Phase 2,
Office File 1666.8

From: Engineering Division

Initiated By: Public Works Department

Presented By: Jim Rearden, Public Works Director

Action Requested: Consider Bids and Approve Contract

Suggested Motion:
1.  Commissioner moves:
 

"I move that the City Commission (award/not award) a contract in the amount of $134,863.80 to
Geranios Enterprises, Inc., for the Miscellaneous Drainage Improvements NW Side Alleys Phase
2, Office File 1666.8, and authorize the City Manager to execute the construction contract
documents."

 
2.  Mayor requests a second to the motion, Commission discussion, public comment, and calls for the
vote.

Staff Recommendation:
Approve construction contract award.
 

Summary:
This project was initiated to reduce storm water ponding issues along 3rd Alley Northwest and 5th Alley
Northwest between Vaughn Road and 15th Street Northwest. Flat grades and low areas in the alley have
created ponding issues throughout the alley.  Some areas of ponding have depths of 6-inches or more.  

Background:
Workload Impacts:
 
Design phase engineering and plans and specifications were completed by the City Engineering staff
with assistance from City Street Division and Utilities. City Engineering staff will provide construction
phase engineering services and project inspection.

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 37 of 284                                     



 
Purpose:
 
The primary objective of this project is to provide adequate drainage and reduce storm water ponding in
the alleys.  Phase 1 of this project was completed November 23, 2017 and remediated the drainage
issues in 4th Alley Northwest.  At this time, no further alley drainage work is planned in this area.
 
Project Work Scope:
 
Work to be performed under this contract includes the following: approximately 550-feet of 12-inch
SDR 35 PVC storm p pe  approximately 120 lineal feet of integral concrete cur  and gutter; Two 24-
inch storm drain riser inlets; Type I Curb Inlet w/ concrete apron; Two 5 foot diameter manholes; 200
square feet of 6” reinforced concrete; 1,100 square ya ds of separation geotextile; and 600 square feet of
sod.
 
Evaluation and Selection Process:
 
The specifications were advertised two times in the Great Falls Tribune.  Two bids were received on
July 24, 2018 with the bids ranging between $134,863.80 and $171,000.00. Geranios Enterprises, Inc.,
submitted the low bid.
 
Conclusion:
 
City staff recommends awarding the contract to Geranios Enterprises, Inc., in the amount of
$134,863.80.

Fiscal Impact:
The attached bid tabulation summarizes bids that were received. City storm drain funding and street
improvements other than buildings is budgeted to fund this project.
 

Alternatives:
The C ty Commission could vote to deny award of t e construction contract and e-bid or cancel the
project.

ATTACHMENTS:

Bid Tab OF 1666.8

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 38 of 284                                     



Page 1 of 1

CITY OF GREAT FALLS BID TABULATION SUMMARY Project Number OF 1666.8

P.O. BOX 5021 Bids Taken at Civic Center

GREAT FALLS, MT  59403 Misc Drainage Improvements, NW Side Alleys Phase 2 Date: July 24, 2018

O.F. 1666.8 Tabulated By:

Name & Address of

Bidder

Acknowledge

Addendum #1

Acknowledge

Addendum #2

10% Bid

Security

Affidavit of

Non-Collusion

Certificate of

Non-Segregated

Facilities

Certificate of

Compliance with

Insurance Req.

Total Bid

1
Cap Con                                

4117 14th Ave S                   

Great Falls, MT 59405

N/A N/A X X X $171,100.00

2
Geranios Enterprises                

P.O. Box 2543                    

Great Falls MT 59403

N/A N/A X X X $134,863.80

3
Horn Construction                  

11 Sunnyside Ave                 

Vaughn, MT 59487

N/A N/A

4

David W. Kuglin Construction

P.O. Box 491

Black Eagle, MT  59414
N/A N/A None

5

6

7

8

9

10 Engineer's Estimate

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 39 of 284                                     Attachment # 1



Agenda # 13.
Commission Meeting Date: August 7, 2018

City of Great Falls
Commission Agenda Report

Item: Construction Contract Award: Lift Station 9 Rehabilitation, Office File 1722.1

From: Engineering Division

Initiated By: Public Works Department

Presented By: Jim Rearden, Public Works Director

Action Requested: Consider Bids and Approve Contract

Suggested Motion:
1. Commissioner moves:      
 

"I move that the City Commission (award/not award) a contract in the amount of $260,520.00 to Ed
Boland Construction Inc. for the Lift Station 9 Rehabilitation Project, and authorize the City
Manager to execute the construction contract documents."
 

2. Mayor requests a second to the motion, public comment, Commission discussion, and calls for the
vote.

Staff Recommendation:
Approve Construction Contract Award.
 

Summary:
This project was initiated as a esult of Veolia Water's reports of frequent clogging associated with the
two pumps in sewer lift station #9. The lift station serves the Sunrise Court Apartments complex. The
complex is made up of approximately 14 multi-unit apartment buildings. Upon initial investigation of the
lift station #9 structure and equipment, the team found that the drywell housing the pumps was
experiencing corrosion in several areas. The scope of the project was defined according to these initial
investigations to include corrosion corrections, electrical and control equipment upgrades, valve
upgrades/replacements, and rebuilding of both existing station pumps.
 
It should be noted that the decision to award/not award this contract was postponed at the July 3rd
Commission Meeting until the August 7th Commission meeting. This postponement was to allow time for
the Great Falls Housing Authority Board to meet concerning the lift station power supply. At the July
19th Great Falls Housing Authority Board meeting, it was agreed that the board would honor the original
agreement and continue to pay for electricity on t is Lift Station. Based on this confirmation, we would

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 40 of 284                                     



like to move forward the award of this contract.

Background:
Citizen Participation:
The construction activity will require closure of 1st Avenue South and parts of 51st Street near the lift
station. Access to the residences adjacent to the construction zones will be maintained. The Sunrise
Courts management has been notified of the project.
 
Workload and Impacts:
Design phase engineering, plans, and specifications were completed by NCI Engineering staff with
assistance and guidance from the City Engineering Division, City Environmental Division and Veolia
Water. NCI Engineering will provide construction phase engineering services and handle project
inspection. City Engineering will provide project administration.
 
Purpose:
The primary objective of this project is to maintain the function of the existing lift station, eliminate
clogging of the pumps, and upgrade the communication system in coordination with other lift stations
maintained by Veolia.
 
Project Work Scope:
This project consists of repairing and coating the lift station drywell, rebuilding both existing lift station
pumps; replacing the gate and check valves, sump pump, blower, dehumidifier, and floor mat heater;
upgrading electrical and installing a new disconnect and control panel, and setting up and maintaining all
necessary bypass pumping. The control panels and associated electrical are to be moved to ground level
for easier access by Veolia Water. Currently, confined space protocol must be followed to
maintain/operate these systems. The project is scheduled for substantial completion in 30 calendar days
after a 12 week equipment acquisition allowance period.
 
Evaluation and Selection Process:
Two (2) bids were received on June 20, 2018 with the bid prices ranging from $260,520.00 to
$343,046.00. Ed Boland Construction Inc. submitted the low bid.
 
Conclusion:
City staff recommends awarding the contract to Ed Boland Construction Inc. in the amount of
$260,520.00.

Fiscal Impact:
The attached bid tabulation summarizes the bids that were received. Funding for this project will be
from the Sewer capital fund.
 

Alternatives:
The City Commission could vote to deny award of the construction contract and re-bid or cancel the
project.  

ATTACHMENTS:

Bid Tab OF1722.1

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 41 of 284                                     



Page 1 of 1

CITY OF GREAT FALLS BID TABULATION SUMMARY Project Number PW341806

P.O. BOX 5021 Bids Taken at Civic Center

GREAT FALLS, MT  59403 Lift Station #9 Rehabilitation Date: June 20, 2018

O.F. 1722.1 Tabulated By: Mikalea Schultz

Name & Address of

Bidder

Acknowledge

Addendum #1

Acknowledge

Addendum #2

10% Bid

Security

Affidavit of

Non-Collusion

Certificate of

Non-Segregated

Facilities

Certificate of

Compliance with

Insurance Req.

Total Bid

1

Ed Boland Construction

4601 7th Ave. So.

Great Falls, MT  59405
X X X X $260,520.00

2
Geranios Enterprises   

P.O. Box 2543          

Great Falls MT 59403

X X X X $343,046.00

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10 Engineer's Estimate $203,500.00

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 42 of 284                                     Attachment # 1



Agenda # 14.
Commission Meeting Date: August 7, 2018

City of Great Falls
Commission Agenda Report

Item: Construction Contract Award: Sanitary Sewer Trenchless Rehabilitation, Phase 21, Office File
1674.8

From: Engineering Division

Initiated By: Public Works Department

Presented By: Jim Rearden, Public Works Director

Action Requested: Consider Bid and Award Construction Contract

Suggested Motion:
1. Commissioner moves:      
 

"I move the City Commission (award/not award) a contract in the amount of $378,950.00 to
Planned and Engineered Construction Inc. (PEC) for the Sanitary Sewer Trenchless Rehabilitation,
Phase 21, and authorize the City Manager to execute the construction contract documents."
 

2. Mayor requests a second to the motion, public comment, Commission discussion, and calls for the
vote.

Staff Recommendation:
Approve construction contract award.
 

Summary:
Approximately 12,501 lineal feet of 8 and 9 inch sewer main is to be lined as part of this project. These
mains were identified by the Public Works Utilities Division as priorities for lining.

Background:
Significant Impacts
This project is a continuation of the ongoing rehabilitation program of sanitary sewer mains that utilizes
trenchless technologies. The use of this technology greatly extends the life and reduces maintenance cost
of deteriorating sewer mains without disturbing soils or structures above the main.
 
Citizen Participation
The construction activity will have little impact on the citizens of Great Falls. The contractor is required
to keep the sewer mains functioning by utilizing bypass pumping.

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 43 of 284                                     



 
Workload Impacts
The Utility Division of the City's Public Works Department completed sewer main camera inspections
that we e used to identify and prioritize sewer mains which needed rehabilitation. City Engi eeri g staff
designed the project and will perform construction inspection and contract administration duties.
 
Purpose
Many of the sewer mains in Great Falls have outlasted the r intended service life. Although the sewer
mains are functioning, the aged lines develop pits, c acks, and holes. These defects can lead to raw
sewage leaking into ground water, and also make routine maintenance difficult. Utilizing Cured-in-Place-
Pipe (CIPP) will extend the service life and alleviate the issues stated above. Trenchless technology
was chosen for this project for several reasons, including lower cost, ease of installation, greatly
reduced surface disruption, and elimination of utility conflicts.
 
 
Project Work Scope
This project will rehabilitate 12 501 linear feet of 8 and 9-inch diameter sewer mains at thirty-four (34)
locations spread around the City. These locations are as follows:
 
4th Alley North  4th-5th Street  11th Alley South 15th-16th Street
5th Alley North 4th-5th Street  Valley View Dr. & Avenue D NW
5th Alley North 6th-7th Street 1st Alley SW13th-14th Street
6th Alley North 6th -7th Street 1st Alley NW 14th-15th Street  
6th Alley North 8th -9th Street 6th Alley NW 12th-13th Street
3rd Alley North 8th-9th Street 6th Alley SW 4th-6th Street
5th Alley North 11th-12th Street 46th Street S 3rd-7th Ave
5th Alley North 13th-14th Street
4th Alley North 15th-16th Street  
2nd Alley North 17th -18th Street
1st Alley North 22nd-23rd Street  
5th Alley North 24th -25th Street  
4th Alley North 24th -25th Street  
5th Alley North 25th-26th Street  
3rd Alley North 25th -26th Street  
1st Alley North 27th-28th Street   
3rd Alley North 28th-29th Street
1st Alley North 29th-30th Street
4th Alley North 30th-31st Street   
3rd Alley North 31st-32nd Street  
 
Evaluation and Selection Process
Two bids were received from Planned and Engineered Construction, Inc. (PEC) and Insituform
Technologies and opened on July 25, 2018. The two bids were, $378,950.00, and $434,121.00, with
PEC providing the low bid.
Conclusion
City staff recommends awarding the construction contract to PEC in the amount of $378,950.00. PEC

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 44 of 284                                     



has successfully completed numerous sewer rehabilitation projects in Great Falls and around the region.

Fiscal Impact:
The attached bid tabulation summarizes the two bids that were received. Funding for this project will be
from the Storm Drain Capital Funds. 

Alternatives:
The City Commission could vote to deny award of the construction contract to the low bidder and
instead award the contract to the other bidder; re-bid the project; or cancel the project.

ATTACHMENTS:

Bid Tab OF 1674.8

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 45 of 284                                     



Page 1 of 1

CITY OF GREAT FALLS BID TABULATION SUMMARY Project Number

P.O. BOX 5021 Bids Taken at Civic Center

GREAT FALLS, MT  59403 Sanitary Sewer Trenchless Phase 21 Date: July 25, 2018

O.F. 1674.8 Tabulated By:

Name & Address of

Bidder

Acknowledge

Addendum #1

Acknowledge

Addendum #2

10% Bid

Security

Affidavit of

Non-Collusion

Certificate of

Non-Segregated

Facilities

Certificate of

Compliance with

Insurance Req.

Total Bid

1 P.E.C X X X X $378,950.00

2

Insituform Technologies

X X X X $434,121.00

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10 Engineer's Estimate $444,925.00

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 46 of 284                                     Attachment # 1



Agenda # 15.
Commission Meeting Date: August 7, 2018

City of Great Falls
Commission Agenda Report

Item: Professional Services Contract: Central Montana Agriculture and Technology Park (CMATP)
TIF Phase III Storm Drain, O.F. 1658.1

From: Engineering Division

Initiated By: Public Works Department

Presented By: Jim Rearden, Public Works Director

Action Requested: Consider and Approve Contract

Suggested Motion:
1.  Commissioner moves:
 

"I move that the City Commission (award/not award) a contract in the amount of $123,806.00
to Thomas Dean & Hoskins, Inc., for the CMATP Storm Drain Improvements Design, Phase 3, and
authorize the City Manager to execute the construction contract documents."

 
2.  Mayor requests a second to the motion, public comment, Commission discussion, and calls for the
vote.

Staff Recommendation:
City staff recommends approving the professional services agreement for completion of the master plans
and final engineering design for the storm drainage network. 
 

Summary:
The City proposes to retain Thomas Dean & Hosk ns, Inc. (TD&H) to complete the master plan and
final design for the storm drainage network across the CMATP.

Background:
The sanitary sewer utility and street installations for the area were completed under Phases 1 and 2 in
2014. The storm drainage network is the last rema n ng major utility to be installed. The storm drainage
system will serve the entire Central Montana Agri-Tech Park (CMATP) development and properties
east of Black Eagle Road.  TD&H completed the preliminary storm drainage design in November of
2016, including conceptual storm drain sizing, the topographical survey of the corridor, and the easement
documentation.
 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 47 of 284                                     



Workload Impacts:
For this phase of the project, the design will be finalized and construction documents with cost estimates
will be completed. Easements and permits for the proposed alignment will be finalized and acquired. 
The storm drain system design easements and construction documents will be finalized by TD&H.  City
Engineering Division will perform administrative duties and coordinate the consultant’s activities.

Fiscal Impact:
100% of the costs for engineering design and administration will be provided by tax increment funds. 
 

Alternatives:
The City Commission could vote to deny award of the professional services contract or cancel the
project.

ATTACHMENTS:

Professional Services Agreement
Proposed Scope of Services
Proposed Cost Estimate

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 48 of 284                                     



 
Revised 02/29/2016 

1

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 

 
THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into by and between the CITY OF GREAT 

FALLS, MONTANA, a municipal corporation organized and existing under the laws of the 
State of Montana, P.O. Box 5021, Great Falls, Montana 59403-5021, hereinafter referred to as 
“City,” and Thomas Dean & Hoskins, Inc (TD&H Engineering), 1800 River Drive North, 

Great Falls, MT 59401, hereinafter referred to as “Consultant.” 
 
In consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements herein contained, the receipt 

and sufficiency whereof being hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as follows: 
 
1. Purpose:  City agrees to hire Consultant as an independent contractor to perform 

for City services described in the Scope of Services attached hereto as Exhibit “A” and by this 
reference made a part hereof. 

 
2. Term of Agreement:  This Agreement is effective upon the date of its execution 

through December 30, 2020. Both parties reserve the right to cancel this Agreement by 
providing a written thirty (30) day notice to the other party.  The parties may extend this 
agreement in writing prior to its termination. 

 
3. Scope of Work:  Consultant will perform the work and provide the services in 

accordance with the requirements of the Scope of Services. 
 
4. Payment:  City agrees to pay Consultant One Hundred Twenty-Three 

Thousand Eight Hundred Six Dollars ($123,806.00) per Lump Sum for services performed 
pursuant to the Scope of Services.  Any alteration or deviation from the described work that 
involves extra costs will be performed by Consultant after written request by the City, and will 
become an extra charge over and above the contract amount.  The parties must agree upon any 
extra charges in writing. 

 
5. Independent Contractor Status:  The parties agree that Consultant is an 

independent contractor for purposes of this Agreement and is not to be considered an employee 
of the City for any purpose.  Consultant is not subject to the terms and provisions of the City’s 
personnel policies handbook and may not be considered a City employee for workers’ 
compensation or any other purpose.  Consultant is not authorized to represent the City or 
otherwise bind the City in any dealings between Consultant and any third parties. 

 
Consultant shall comply with the applicable requirements of the Workers’ Compensation 

Act, Title 39, Chapter 71, MCA, and the Occupational Disease Act of Montana, Title 39, 
Chapter 71, MCA.  Consultant shall maintain workers’ compensation coverage for all members 
and employees of Consultant’s business, except for those members who are exempted by law. 

 
 
 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 49 of 284                                     Attachment # 1



 
Revised 02/29/2016 

2

Consultant shall furnish the City with copies showing one of the following: (1) a binder 
for workers’ compensation coverage by an insurer licensed and authorized to provide workers’ 
compensation insurance in the State of Montana; or (2) proof of exemption from workers’ 
compensation granted by law for independent contractors. 

 
6. Indemnification:  To the fullest extent permitted by law, Consultant shall fully 

indemnify, defend, and save City, its agents, representatives, employees, and officers harmless 
from and against any and all claims, actions, costs, fees, losses, liabilities or damages of 
whatever kind or nature arising from or related to Consultant’s performance of this Agreement 
and Consultant’s work on the  Project or work of any subcontractor or supplier to Consultant. 
 

 7.  Insurance:  Consultant shall purchase and maintain insurance coverage as set 
forth below.  The insurance policy must name the City, (including its elected or appointed 
officers, officials, employees, or volunteers), as an additional insured and be written on a 
“primary—noncontributory basis, and on an occurrence, not a claims made basis.” Consultant 
will provide the City with applicable additional insured endorsement documentation substantially 
similar or identical to the example set forth below.  Each coverage shall be obtained from an 
insurance company that is duly licensed and authorized to transact insurance business and write 
insurance within the state of Montana, with a minimum of “A.M. Best Rating” of A-, VI, as will 
protect the Consultant, the various acts of subcontractors, the City and its officers, employees, 
agents, and representatives from claims for bodily injury and/or property damage which may 
arise from operations and completed operations under this Agreement.  All insurance coverage 
shall remain in effect throughout the life of this Agreement and for a minimum of one (1) year 
following the date of expiration of Consultant’s warranties.  All insurance policies must contain 
a provision or endorsement that the coverage afforded will not be canceled, materially changed, 
or renewal refused until at least thirty (30) days prior written notice has been given to 
Consultant, City, and all other additional insureds to whom a certificate of insurance has been 
issued.  All insurance documentation shall be in a form acceptable to the City. 
 

Insurance Coverage at least in the following amounts is required: 

 
1. Commercial General Liability $1,000,000 per occurrence 
   (bodily injury and property damage) $2,000,000 aggregate 
 
2. Products and Completed Operations $2,000,000 
 
3. Automobile Liability $1,000,000 combined single limit 
 
4. Workers’ Compensation Not less than statutory limits 
 
5. Employers’ Liability $1,000,000 
 
6. Professional Liability (E&O) $1,000,000 per occurrence 
   (only if applicable) $2,000,000 aggregate 
 

Consultant may provide applicable excess or umbrella coverage to supplement Consultant’s 
existing insurance coverage, if Consultant’s existing policy limits do not satisfy the coverage 
requirements as set forth above. 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 50 of 284                                     Attachment # 1



 
Revised 02/29/2016 

3

Additional Insured Endorsement Example: 
 

 
8. Professional Service:  Consultant agrees that all services and work performed 

hereunder will be accomplished in a professional manner. 
 
9. Compliance with Laws:  Consultant agrees to comply with all federal, state and 

local laws, ordinances, rules and regulations, including the safety rules, codes, and provisions of 
the Montana Safety Act in Title 50, Chapter 71, MCA.  As applicable, Consultant agrees to 
purchase a City safety inspection certificate or special business license. 

 
 
 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 51 of 284                                     Attachment # 1



 
Revised 02/29/2016 

4

10. Nondiscrimination:  Consultant agrees that all hiring by Consultant of persons 
performing this Agreement will be on the basis of merit and qualification and will not 
discriminate on the basis of race, color, religion, creed, political ideas, sex, age, marital status, 
physical or mental disability, national origin, or other class protected by state and/or federal law. 

 
11. Default and Termination:  If either party fails to comply with any condition of 

this Agreement at the time or in the manner provided for, the other party, at its option, may 
terminate this Agreement and be released from all obligations if the default is not cured within 
ten (10) days after written notice is provided to the defaulting party.  Said notice shall set forth 
the items to be cured.  Additionally, the non-defaulting party may bring suit for damages, 
specific performance, and any other remedy provided by law.  These remedies are cumulative 
and not exclusive.  Use of one remedy does not preclude use of the others.  Notices shall be 
provided in writing and hand-delivered or mailed to the parties at the addresses set forth in the 
first paragraph of this Agreement. 

 
12. Modification and Assignability:  This document contains the entire agreement 

between the parties and no statements, promises or inducements made by either party or agents 
of either party, which are not contained in this written Agreement, may be considered valid or 
binding.  This Agreement may not be enlarged, modified or altered except by written agreement 
signed by both parties hereto.  The Consultant may not subcontract or assign Consultant’s rights, 
including the right to compensation or duties arising hereunder, without the prior written consent 
of City.  Any subcontractor or assignee will be bound by all of the terms and conditions of this 
Agreement. 

 
13. Ownership and Publication of Materials:  All reports, information, data, and 

other materials prepared by the Consultant pursuant to this Agreement are the property of the 
City.  The City has the exclusive and unrestricted authority to release, publish or otherwise use, 
in whole or part, information relating thereto.  Any re-use without written verification or 
adaptation by the Consultant for the specific purpose intended will be at the City’s sole risk and 
without liability or legal exposure to the Consultant.  No material produced in whole or in part 
under this Agreement may be copyrighted or patented in the United States or in any other 
country without the prior written approval of the City. 

 

14. Liaison:  City’s designated liaison with Consultant is Russell Brewer and 
Consultant’s designated liaison with City is Camille Johnson. 

 
15. Applicability:  This Agreement and any extensions hereof shall be governed and 

construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Montana. 
 
16. Binding:  This Agreement and all of the covenants hereof shall inure to the 

benefit and be binding upon the City of Great Falls and the Contractor respectively and their 
partners, successors, assigns and legal representatives.  Neither the City nor the Contractor shall 
have the right to assign, transfer or sublet their interest or obligations hereunder without written 
consent of the other party.   

 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 52 of 284                                     Attachment # 1



 
Revised 02/29/2016 

5

17. Amendments:  Any amendment or modification of this Agreement or any 
provisions herein shall be made in writing and executed in the same manner as this original 
document and shall after execution become a part of the Agreement. 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Consultant and City have caused this Agreement to be 
executed and intend to be legally bound thereby as of the date set forth below. 

 

 
CITY OF GREAT FALLS, MONTANA CONSULTANT 

  

 

 
By________________________________ By_________________________________ 
   Gregory T. Doyon, City Manager   
 Print Name__________________________  
Date ______________________________      
  Title _______________________________ 
 
  Date _______________________________ 
 
 
ATTEST:                           
 
 
                                                                              (Seal of the City) 
__________________________________ 
Lisa Kunz, City Clerk 
 
 
 
* APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
 
By________________________________ 
   Sara R. Sexe, City Attorney 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
* By law, the City Attorney may only advise or approve contract or legal document language on behalf of the City 
of Great Falls, and not on behalf of other parties.  Review and approval of this document was conducted solely from 
the legal perspective, and for the benefit, of the City of Great Falls.  Other parties should not rely on this approval 
and should seek review and approval by their own respective counsel. 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 53 of 284                                     Attachment # 1



Final, Updated 2018-06-26 

EXHIBIT “A” 
City of Great Falls CMATP Storm Drain Phase 3 

O.F. 1658.1 
Scope of Services 

 
General: 
The purpose of the project is to implement recommendations for a new storm drain for the 
Central Montana Agricultural and Technology Park (CMATP) as recommended in the 2016 
CMATP TIF Storm Drain Phase 3 Preliminary Storm Drain Report.  A new storm drain 
interceptor will be designed for traditional open trench pipe installation beginning east of 
Highway 87 and ending east of Black Eagle Road.  One bored and jacked railroad crossing will 
be designed under a rail line owned and operated by Malteurop. The railroad crossing will be 
designed in accordance with BNSF requirements.  The new storm drain will be located in 
Cascade County right-of-way across Black Eagle Road; the remainder of the storm drain will be 
located in private property.  The design will also include provisions for crossing a shallow, 10-
inch high pressure gas main.  Work which has already been completed or is in progress under a 
separate contract includes conceptual storm drain sizing, the topographical survey of the 
corridor, and the easement documentation.  The principal field investigation and analysis tasks 
are described in the following discussion.  
 
Design Criteria and Analysis: 
 
The CMATP design will address recommendations in the November 2016 Preliminary Storm 
Drain Report and will conform to the requirements in the City’s Storm Drainage Design Manual.  
The 2016 study provided recommended pipe sizes throughout the alignment; however, the City 
has requested that the storm drain design and analysis be revised in an attempt to reduce the 
storm drain diameters.  The SSA stormwater model will be modified for two scenarios: (1) Size 
the storm drain to convey existing condition hydrology; and (2) Size the storm drain for fully 
developed conditions with parallel mains.  The existing condition hydrology was not analyzed 
previously; therefore, the proposed scope and fee accounts for developing an existing 
conditions SSA model.  The revised storm drain sizing will be documented in a Final Storm 
Drain Report. 
 
The new CMATP storm drain will discharge to an existing drainage.  As a result, the work 
includes analysis and design of energy dissipation and erosion protection at the storm drain 
outlet.  Minor structural engineering and analysis is anticipated for the design of a cutoff wall 
and energy dissipation structure.  The stormwater will also be required to meet the City’s MS4 
requirements, inclusive of engineered treatment at the outlet.   
 
Geotechnical Investigation: 
 
A geotechnical investigation will be completed along the storm drain alignment to establish 
subsurface conditions associated with trench excavation and provide a basis for the erosion 
protection analysis at the storm drain outlet.  Additionally, a geotechnical investigation is 
considered mandatory for design of the large bore and jack crossing in order to meet all BNSF 
requirements.  The following is a description of the geotechnical investigation activities: 
 
The geotechnical investigation will include seven conventional soil borings along the project 
alignment to provide the subsurface data required for bidding the various project components 
and assessing the corrosion and scour properties required to complete the final design.  The 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 54 of 284                                     Attachment # 2





Final, Updated 2018-06-26 

Schedule: 
 
Preliminary design is anticipated to begin in July of 2018 and bidding is expected during 
February or March of 2019.  Contract award and construction would follow in late spring/early 
summer of 2019 with an anticipated duration of 2 months.    
 
Fee and Tasks: 
 
Preliminary Design, Final Design, Bidding Phase, and Construction Phase service fee estimates 
are based on hourly rates, estimated labor hours and expenses.  Although no specific tasks 
have been identified as miscellaneous services, a contingency budget is included to account for 
unforeseen activities.  Miscellaneous engineering services shall only be as directed and 
authorized by the Owner.  A Fee Estimate with projected labor hours for each staff classification 
expected to work on the project along with TD&H Engineering’s 2018 Rate Schedule are 
included as Exhibit B and Exhibit C.  Figure 1 illustrates the project corridor for reference. 
 
Contract is expected to be fixed fee; fee is based on the detailed summary of labor and 
expenses in Exhibit B. 
 
The following is a summary of specific tasks by project phase: 
 
Task 1.00 – Study and Report 

1.01 Geotechnical Investigation 
 
Task 2.00 – Preliminary Design 

2.01 Facilitate progress meetings & project management 
2.02 Collect and review existing information – Utility plans, previous project 

documents, etc. 
2.03 On-site for hydrovac utility investigation 
2.04 Preliminary County coordination 
2.05 Preliminary Malteurop coordination 
2.06 Preliminary Northwestern Energy coordination 
2.07 Erosion protection and energy dissipation analysis 
2.08 Black Eagle Road culvert analysis and inlet sizing 
2.09 Existing conditions hydrology and storm drain sizing 
2.10 Revise developed conditions storm drain sizing 
2.11 MS4 treatment alternatives 
2.12 Final Storm Drain Design Report with updated budgetary cost estimates 

(document tasks 2.07 through 2.11) 
2.13 Preliminary Design Review Meeting 

 
  

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 56 of 284                                     Attachment # 2



Final, Updated 2018-06-26 

Task 3.00 – Final Design 
3.01 Facilitate progress meetings & project management 
3.02 Update base drawings 
3.03 Prepare and submit Cascade County right-of-way permit 
3.04 Design MS4 Treatment 
3.05 90% Construction drawings (two phases) 
3.06 90% Technical specifications and bid documents (two phases) 
3.07 Provide 90% documents to City for comment and review (two phases) 
3.08 90% Design Review Meeting 
3.09 Final construction drawings, bid documents, and technical specifications (two 

phases 
3.10 Quantity take off and construction cost estimate (two phases) 
3.11 Final quality control review (two phases) 
 

Task 4.00 – Bidding (Two Phases) 
4.01 Printing bid sets 
4.02 Respond to bidder questions and issue Addenda 
4.03 Attend pre-bid conference 
4.04 Attend bid opening 
4.05 Review bids and provide award recommendation 
4.06 Prepare Executed Documents 

 
Task 5.00 – Construction Administration (Two Phases) 

5.01 Attend pre-construction conference 
5.02 Address RFI’s 
5.03 Prepare As-Constructed Plans including 22x34 mylars and electronic files 

 
Task 6.00 – Miscellaneous Services 

6.01 Miscellaneous engineering services related to tasks not addressed in Tasks 1.0 
through 5.0.  Miscellaneous engineering services shall only be as directed and 
authorized by the Owner. 

 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 57 of 284                                     Attachment # 2



6/26/2018

CEVJ SUMMARY
12,000 00$   

22,982.70$   

63,011 50$   

8,094 00$     

12,717 50$   

5,000 00$     
TOTAL 123,805.70$ 

Task No. Task P E6 E4 E3 E2 AM CD2 CD3 CR1 E4 CD2 E4 E4 E1 AA

1.00 Study and Report
Principal
(Wade)

Engineer VI   
(Dustin)

Engineer IV
(Mike)

Engineer III
(Camille)

Engineer II
(Nicole)

Production
(Cindy)

CAD Designer 
II

(Morris)

CAD / 
Production 

Manager
(Curt)

Construction 
Representative 

I
(Taylor)

Structural 
Engineer IV

(Scott)

Structural CAD 
Designer II

(Ruth)

Geotechnical 
Engineer IV

(Craig)

Geotechnical 
Engineer IV

(Peter)

Geotechnical 
Engineer I

(Bill)

Administrative 
Assistant
(Mellissa)

Labor Cost 
per Task

Mileage
(miles)

Computer 
Usage 
(CAD)

(hours)

Computer 
Usage (Non-

CAD)
(hours)

Subcontractors/ 
Direct Expenses 
(e.g. printing or 

Materials Testing)
Reimbursables 
Cost per Task

Total Cost 
per Task

1.01 Geotechnical Investigation 20 2 15 1 4,139.00$    30 20 7,780.00$               7,861.00$          12,000.00$   
Total 20 2 15 1 30 20 N/A
Rate 180.00$     164.00$        125.00$        104.00$       94.00$       81.00$           80.00$            95.00$            69.00$              125.00$            80.00$              125.00$            125.00$           89.00$            54.00$              Labor Cost 0.70$     10.00$       3.00$           N/A Phase Cost

Labor Cost 2,500.00$         250.00$           1,335.00$       54.00$              4,139.00$    21.00$   60.00$         7,780.00$               7,861.00$          12,000.00$   

Task No. Task P E6 E4 E3 E2 AM CD2 CD3 CR1 E4 CD2 E4 E4 E1 AA

2.00 Preliminary Design
Principal
(Wade)

Engineer VI   
(Dustin)

Engineer IV
(Mike)

Engineer III
(Camille)

Engineer II
(Nicole)

Production
(Cindy)

CAD Designer 
II

(Morris)

CAD / 
Production 

Manager
(Curt)

Construction 
Representative 

I
(Taylor)

Structural 
Engineer IV

(Scott)

Structural CAD 
Designer II

(Ruth)

Geotechnical 
Engineer IV

(Craig)

Geotechnical 
Engineer IV

(Peter)

Geotechnical 
Engineer I

(Bill)

Administrative 
Assistant
(Mellissa)

Labor Cost 
per Task

Mileage
(miles)

Computer 
Usage 
(CAD)

(hours)

Computer 
Usage (Non-

CAD)
(hours)

Subcontractors/ 
Direct Expenses 
(e.g. printing or 

Materials Testing)
Reimbursables 
Cost per Task

Total Cost 
per Task

2.01 Facilitate progress meetings & project management 2 16 1,992.00$    10 9 34.00$               2,026.00$     

2.02

Collect and review existing information - utility plans, 

previous project documents, etc. 4 8 1,168.00$    6 18.00$               1,186.00$     
2.03 On-site for hydrovac utility investigation 2 188.00$       6 1 7.20$                 195.20$        
2.04 Preliminary County coordination 1 4 580.00$       3 9.00$                 589.00$        
2.05 Preliminary Malteurop coordination 1 4 580.00$       3 9.00$                 589.00$        
2.06 Preliminary Northwestern Energy coordination 1 4 540.00$       3 9.00$                 549.00$        
2.07 Erosion protection and energy dissipation analysis 4 8 1,332.00$    6 18.00$               1,350.00$     
2.08 Black Eagle Road culvert analysis and inlet sizing 1 4 2 768.00$       4 12.00$               780.00$        
2.09 Existing conditions hydrology and storm drain sizing 1 8 24 3,252.00$    17 51.00$               3,303.00$     
2.10 Revise developed conditions storm drain sizing 1 4 16 2,084.00$    11 33.00$               2,117.00$     
2.11 MS4 treatment alternatives 1 4 8 1,332.00$    7 21.00$               1,353.00$     

2.12

Final Storm Drain Report with updated budgetary cost 

estimates (document tasks 2.07 through 2.11) 4 16 32 4 24 2 7,762.00$    26 28 100.00$                  444.00$             8,206.00$     
2.13 Preliminary Design Review Meeting 1 1 2 1 1 727.00$       5 3 12.50$               739.50$        

Total 1 14 4 74 97 5 24 2 21 26 101 N/A
Rate 180.00$     164.00$        125.00$        104.00$       94.00$       81.00$           80.00$            95.00$            69.00$              125.00$            80.00$              125.00$            125.00$           89.00$            54.00$              Labor Cost 0.70$     10.00$       3.00$           N/A Phase Cost

Labor Cost 180.00$     2,296.00$     500.00$        7,696.00$    9,118.00$  405.00$         1,920.00$       190.00$          22,305.00$  14.70$   260.00$     303.00$       100.00$                  677.70$             22,982.70$   

Task No. Task P E6 E4 E3 E2 AM CD2 CD3 CR1 E4 CD2 E4 E4 E1 AA

3.00 Final Design
Principal
(Wade)

Engineer VI   
(Dustin)

Engineer IV
(Mike)

Engineer III
(Camille)

Engineer II
(Nicole)

Production
(Cindy)

CAD Designer 
II

(Morris)

CAD / 
Production 

Manager
(Curt)

Construction 
Representative 

I
(Taylor)

Structural 
Engineer IV

(Scott)

Structural CAD 
Designer II

(Ruth)

Geotechnical 
Engineer IV

(Craig)

Geotechnical 
Engineer IV

(Peter)

Geotechnical 
Engineer I

(Bill)

Administrative 
Assistant
(Mellissa)

Labor Cost 
per Task

Mileage
(miles)

Computer 
Usage 
(CAD)

(hours)

Computer 
Usage (Non-

CAD)
(hours)

Subcontractors/ 
Direct Expenses 
(e.g. printing or 

Materials Testing)
Reimbursables 
Cost per Task

Total Cost 
per Task

3.01 Facilitate progress meetings & project management 8 40 4 5,796.00$    10 26 85.00$               5,881.00$     
3.02 Update base drawings 8 640.00$       8 80.00$               720.00$        
3.03 Prepare and submit Cascade County right-of-way permit 1 2 4 2 910.00$       5 15.00$               925.00$        
3.04 Design MS4 Treatment 2 40 24 6,408.00$    24 21 303.00$             6,711.00$     
3.05 Prepare 90% Construction Drawings (two phases) 6 6 32 100 4 16 20 17,042.00$  104 40 1,160.00$          18,202.00$   

3.06

Prepare 90% technical specifications and bid documents 

(two phases) 8 60 12 8,524.00$    40 120.00$             8,644.00$     

3.07

Provide 90% documents to City for comment and review 

(two phases) 4 2 578.00$       3 100.00$                  109.00$             687.00$        
3.08 90% Design Review Meeting 1 1 2 552.00$       5 2 9.50$                 561.50$        

3.09

Final construction drawings, bid documents, and technical 

specifications (two phases) 4 32 8 80 4 4 12 12,872.00$  84 30 50.00$                    980.00$             13,852.00$   

3.10

Quantity Take Off and Construction Cost Estimate (two 

phases) 2 24 8 8 4,128.00$    21 63.00$               4,191.00$     
3.11 Final quality control review (two phases) 4 8 4 2 2,610.00$    9 27.00$               2,637.00$     

Total 5 40 6 240 12 30 212 8 8 20 32 15 220 197 N/A
Rate 180.00$     164.00$        125.00$        104.00$       94.00$       81.00$           80.00$            95.00$            69.00$              125.00$            80.00$              125.00$            125.00$           89.00$            54.00$              Labor Cost 0.70$     10.00$       3.00$           N/A Phase Cost

Cost 900.00$     6,560.00$     750.00$        24,960.00$  1,128.00$  2,430.00$      16,960.00$     760.00$          552.00$            2,500.00$         2,560.00$         60,060.00$  10.50$   2,200.00$  591.00$       150.00$                  2,951.50$          63,011.50$   

Construction Administration (two phases)

Miscellaneous Services

Reimbursables 

Cost

Exhibit "B" TD&H Engineering Fee Estimate
CMATP Storm Drain Phase 3, O.F. 1658.1

City of Great Falls

Reimbursables 

Cost

Reimbursables 

Cost

Study and Report

Preliminary Design

Final Design (two phases)

Bidding (two phases)

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 58 of 284                                     Attachment # 3



6/26/2018

Exhibit "B" TD&H Engineering Fee Estimate
CMATP Storm Drain Phase 3, O.F. 1658.1

City of Great Falls

Task No. Task P E6 E4 E3 E2 AM CD2 CD3 CR1 E4 CD2 E4 E4 E1 AA

4.00 Bidding (Two Phases)
Principal
(Wade)

Engineer VI   
(Dustin)

Engineer IV
(Mike)

Engineer III
(Camille)

Engineer II
(Nicole)

Production
(Cindy)

CAD Designer 
II

(Morris)

CAD / 
Production 

Manager
(Curt)

Construction 
Representative 

I
(Taylor)

Structural 
Engineer IV

(Scott)

Structural CAD 
Designer II

(Ruth)

Geotechnical 
Engineer IV

(Craig)

Geotechnical 
Engineer IV

(Peter)

Geotechnical 
Engineer I

(Bill)

Administrative 
Assistant
(Mellissa)

Labor Cost 
per Task

Mileage
(miles)

Computer 
Usage 
(CAD)

(hours)

Computer 
Usage (Non-

CAD)
(hours)

Subcontractors/ 
Direct Expenses 
(e.g. printing or 

Materials Testing)
Reimbursables 
Cost per Task

Total Cost 
per Task

4.01 Printing bid sets 1 2 6 2 1,018.00$    2 5 500.00$                  535.00$             1,553.00$     
4.02 Respond to bidder questions and issue Addenda 2 16 2 4 2,504.00$    12 36.00$               2,540.00$     
4.03 Attend pre-bid conference 4 4 1 1,153.00$    5 5 18.50$               1,171.50$     
4.04 Attend bid opening 4 1 497.00$       5 3 12.50$               509.50$        
4.05 Review bids and provide award recommendation 1 2 8 1 1,421.00$    6 18.00$               1,439.00$     
4.06 Prepare Executed Documents 1 6 1 869.00$       4 12.00$               881.00$        

Total 1 10 40 2 14 2 10 2 35 N/A
Rate 180.00$     164.00$        125.00$        104.00$       94.00$       81.00$           80.00$            95.00$            69.00$              125.00$            80.00$              125.00$            125.00$           89.00$            54.00$              Labor Cost 0.70$     10.00$       3.00$           N/A Phase Cost

Cost 180.00$     1,640.00$     4,160.00$    188.00$     1,134.00$      160.00$          7,462.00$    7.00$     20.00$       105.00$       500.00$                  632.00$             8,094.00$     

Task No. Task P E6 E4 E3 E2 AM CD2 CD3 CR1 E4 CD2 E4 E4 E1 AA

5.00 Construction Administration (Two Phases)
Principal
(Wade)

Engineer VI   
(Dustin)

Engineer IV
(Mike)

Engineer III
(Camille)

Engineer II
(Nicole)

Production
(Cindy)

CAD Designer 
II

(Morris)

CAD / 
Production 

Manager
(Curt)

Construction 
Representative 

I
(Taylor)

Structural 
Engineer IV

(Scott)

Structural CAD 
Designer II

(Ruth)

Geotechnical 
Engineer IV

(Craig)

Geotechnical 
Engineer IV

(Peter)

Geotechnical 
Engineer I

(Bill)

Administrative 
Assistant
(Mellissa)

Labor Cost 
per Task

Mileage
(miles)

Computer 
Usage 
(CAD)

(hours)

Computer 
Usage (Non-

CAD)
(hours)

Subcontractors/ 
Direct Expenses 
(e.g. printing or 

Materials Testing)
Reimbursables 
Cost per Task

Total Cost 
per Task

5.01 Attend pre-construction conference 4 1 497.00$       5 3 12.50$               509.50$        
5.02 Address RFI's, provide technical assistance as needed 8 20 4 24 5,636.00$    24 16 288.00$             5,924.00$     

5.03

Prepare As-Constructed drawings including 22x34 mylars 

and electronic files 2 12 2 32 8 8 5,698.00$    40 12 150.00$                  586.00$             6,284.00$     
Total 10 36 7 56 8 8 5 64 31 N/A
Rate 180.00$     164.00$        125.00$        104.00$       94.00$       81.00$           80.00$            95.00$            69.00$              125.00$            80.00$              125.00$            125.00$           89.00$            54.00$              Labor Cost 0.70$     10.00$       3.00$           N/A Phase Cost

Cost 1,640.00$     3,744.00$    567.00$         4,480.00$       760.00$          640.00$            11,831.00$  3.50$     640.00$     93.00$         150.00$                  886.50$             12,717.50$   

Reimbursables 

Cost

Reimbursables 

Cost

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 59 of 284                                     Attachment # 3



Agenda # 16.
Commission Meeting Date: August 7, 2018

City of Great Falls
Commission Agenda Report

Item: Water Meter Equipment Purchases for Fiscal Year 2019

From: Utilities Division

Initiated By: Public Works Department

Presented By: Jim Rearden, Public Works Director

Action Requested: Approve Purchases

Suggested Motion:
1.  Commissioner moves:
 

"I move that the City Commission (approve/deny) the purchases of water meter equipment for the
2019 Fiscal Year from Ferguson Enterprises, Inc. in an amount not to exceed $240,000."
 

2.  Mayor calls for a second to the motion, public comment, Commission discussion, and calls for the
vote.

Staff Recommendation:
Approve purchases 

Background:
Significant Impacts
There are approximately 22,000 water meters within the City Water Distribution System.  We have
replaced the majority of our smaller meters that were not compatible with our radio read system.  We are
now working on replacing our larger meters (2" to 8") and installing MXUs (radio read equipment) on
the remaining meters.  The radio read system makes reading meters safer and more efficient.  Currently,
there are approximately 6,500 radio reads installed in the city.
 
Purpose
To approve the purchases of water meter equipment for FY 2019.
 
Project Work Scope
In Fiscal Year 2018, staff purchased $230,000 worth of radio read equipment, new meters, meter parts
and installation equipment from Ferguson Enterprises, Inc.  On March 1, 2017, Ferguson Enterprises,
Inc. replaced Dana Kepner Co. as the distributor for Sensus meter equipment.

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 60 of 284                                     



 
In Fiscal Year 2019, staff proposes to purchase radio read equipment, new meters, meter parts and
installation equipment from Ferguson Enterprises, Inc. totaling approximately $240,000.
 
Our plan for the upcoming 3 to 5 years is to replace the approximately one hundred 2" and larger meters
in our system that we are unable to read remotely.  To read each meter, the employee must enter every
property and read the numbers off the meter.  This is very time consuming for the City staff and
inconvenient for the property owners.  We also have approximately 15,000 MXUs to install, which will
take 15 to 20 years to accomplish.
 
Another issue that we will be facing in the future is the EPA has changed the definition of "Lead Free"
from 8.0% to .25% of lead in brass.  The majority of our meters are brass, which means when we have
problems (stuck, broken, etc.) with the existing meters, we cannot rebuild them.  We will have to install a
new .25% "Lead Free" meter or an "I-Perl" meter (composite/plastic material).
 
Evaluation and Selection Process
Ferguson Enterprises, Inc. is the sole source distributor for compatible parts and equipment for the City's
metering system.  Due to compatibility issues with different equipment, supplies, and suppliers, staff
proposes to continue to purchase equipment from Ferguson.

Fiscal Impact:
Water meter equipment and supply purchases are budgeted on a yearly basis by the Public Works Water
Distribution Division. 

Alternatives:
The City Commission could vote to deny purchases.

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 61 of 284                                     



Agenda # 17.
Commission Meeting Date: August 7, 2018

City of Great Falls
Commission Agenda Report

Item: Resolution 10243 to Levy and Assess Street Maintenance District

From: Judy Burg, Taxes and Assessments

Initiated By: Annual Assessment Process

Presented By: Melissa Kinzler, Finance Director

Action Requested: City Commission Conduct Public Hearing and Adopt Resolution 10243

Public Hearing:
1.     Mayor conducts public hearing, calling three times each for proponents and opponents.
 
2.     Mayor closes public hearing and asks the will of the Commission.

Suggested Motion:
1.     Commissioner moves:
 
          "I move the City Commission (adopt/deny) Resolution 10243."
 
2.     Mayor requests a second to the motion, Commission discussion, and calls for the vote.

Staff Recommendation:
Staff recommends the City Commission adopt Resolution 10243. 

Background:
The Street Division maintains approximately 383 miles of streets and alleys within the city limits. 
Maintenance consists of pavement rehabilitation and restoration, street cleaning, snow and ice removal,
alley maintenance, and the nuisance weed program.  In addition, Traffic Operations are funded through
the Street Division and are responsible for the maintenance of all roadway signs, signals, and pavement
markings.
 
During the budget process, information is gathered regarding the actual, and anticipated expenses of the
Street Fund, future capital projects are reviewed and the street maintenance assessment for the next fiscal
year is discussed.
 
After calculating all factors pertinent to the operation of the Street Maintenance District, an assessment

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 62 of 284                                     



amount for the next fiscal year is calculated, proposed, and presented to the City Commissioners for
approval.  No recommendation for an increase is proposed for Fiscal Year 2019.  The last street
maintenance increase of 10% was approved in Fiscal Year 2016.
 
As part of the annual budget development and adoption procedures, the Street Maintenance Assessment
Resolution must be submitted for City Commission action.  A public notice and hearing is required prior
to final passage of the assessment resolution.
 
ASSESSMENT OPTION
Section 7-12-4425 M.C.A. states: "...The council shall pass and finally adopt a resolution specifying the
district assessment option and levying and assessing all the property within the several districts..."  The
City uses the "assessable area" option under Section 7-12-4422, M.C.A. to assess its street
maintenance.  The assessable area option, defines assessable area by square footage caps.  Four options
for assessments exists:
 
Residential:     Square footage caps per parcel of 12,000 square feet for residential property and
properties categorized as non-profit/cemetery organizations 501(c)(13) as defined by the Internal
Revenue Code.
 
Downtown:     Downtown District shall be defined as being within an area bounded on the north by
Third Alley North, on the south by Third Alley South, on the east by Tenth Street, and on the west by
Park Drive.  Any properties located in this area, with a designated residential land use code of 111, 112
and 114, shall be excluded from the District and assessed as part of the Residential District.
 
Mixed-Use:     A 'mixed use' category which consists of property equal to or greater than 112,000 square
feet but less than 50% commercially developed.  For the 'mixed use' category, the Planning Department
shall identify all property equal to, or greater than 112,000 square feet, which are 50% or less
commercially developed.  Those properties shall be assessed 50% commercial and 50% at capped
residential.
 
Commercial:     1 million square foot cap for all other property.  The 1 million square foot cap for all
other property encourages large green areas on some private properties within the City.
 
Inter-local Agreement:      An "inter-local contracted maintenance" category that designates properties
owned by other governments or their agencies adjacent to City streets that are maintained by the other
governments or their agencies.  This category's assessment includes a 7.5% administrative fee as well as
the annual contracted cost of maintenance.  The maintenance cost portion is agreed upon by the City and
the contracting entity.

Fiscal Impact:
Adoption of Resolution 10243 will allow the City to fund the cost of work, improvements, and
maintenance in the street maintenance district.
 
For Fiscal Year 2019, the street maintenance assessment will remain the same as Fiscal Year 2018. 
This equates to an assessment factor of $0.014702 per square foot, for a total of $4,583,265, and will
result in an annual assessment of $110.27 for an average size lot of 7,500 square feet (7,500 sq. ft. x
0.014702 factor  $110.27).
 

Alternatives:

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 63 of 284                                     



The City Commission could choose to deny Resolution 10243 to Levy and Assess Street Maintenance;
however, the reduction in services to the community could be detrimental to the safety and welfare of the
general public.

Concurrences:
Public Works staff is responsible for the operation expenses of the Street Department.  Fiscal Services
staff is responsible for assessing and collecting the street maintenance revenues necessary to carry out
the operations.

ATTACHMENTS:

Resolution 10243 - Revised after posting

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 64 of 284                                     



 

 RESOLUTION NO.  10243 
 

 

A RESOLUTION LEVYING AND ASSESSING THE COST OF STREET 

MAINTENANCE FOR STREETS AND ALLEYS IN THE CITY OF GREAT 

FALLS, MONTANA FOR THE FISCAL YEAR BEGINNING JULY 1, 2018 

AND ENDING JUNE 30, 2019 

 

 

 WHEREAS, creation and alteration of Street Maintenance Districts is authorized pursuant 

to Title 7, Chapter 12, Part 44, MCA; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Great Falls City Council did provide for street maintenance pursuant to 

Ordinance 1687 adopted September 7, 1971; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City Commission did amend and expand the scope of street maintenance 

services pursuant to Ordinance 2584 adopted February 5, 1991; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City Commission finds and has determined that each and every lot or 

parcel within said district has been or will be specially benefited by said maintenance; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City intends to continue maintaining streets and alleys within the 

corporate limits of the City of Great Falls; and 

 

 WHEREAS, on July 17, 2018, the City Commission adopted Resolution 10240, Annual 

Budget Resolution, in which the estimated assessment for such maintenance not offset by other 

revenues within the Street Maintenance District was reflected as FOUR MILLION FIVE 

HUNDRED EIGHTY-THREE THOUSAND TWO HUNDRED SIXTY-FIVE DOLLARS 

($4,583,265); and 

 

WHEREAS, in accordance with § 7-12-4426, MCA, notice was published setting forth 

that Resolution No. 10243 Levying and Assessing the Cost of Street Maintenance for Streets and 

Alleys in the City of Great Falls, Montana, would be brought before the Great Falls City Commission 

for public hearing on August 7, 2018. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY 

OF GREAT FALLS, MONTANA, that: 

 

Section 1 – Maintenance Costs Assessed 

The costs of maintenance, not offset by other revenues, in the Street Maintenance District, totaling 

FOUR MILLION FIVE HUNDRED EIGHTY-THREE THOUSAND TWO HUNDRED SIXTY-

FIVE DOLLARS ($4,583,265) be levied and assessed upon the property in said district for the 

fiscal year ending June 30, 2019.  The description of each lot or parcel of land within the Street 

Maintenance District and the respective assessments are set forth in the records of the Finance 

Department of the City of Great Falls, Montana, and by this reference incorporated herein as if 

fully set forth.  

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 65 of 284                                     Attachment # 1



Section 2 – Maintenance Assessment Method 

The percentage of the cost of maintenance for the assessable areas benefitted by the maintenance 

district as established in § 7-12-4425, MCA, shall be made as set forth in § 7-12-4422, MCA. 

 

The Street Maintenance District shall be assessed according to factors based on the property 

classification and square footage with caps.  Assessable areas within the Street Maintenance 

District shall be set with a square footage cap of 12,000 square feet for residential property and 

properties categorized as non-profit/cemetery organizations 501(c)(13) as defined by the Internal 

Revenue Code, and a square footage cap of one million square feet for all other property.  

Downtown District shall be defined as being within an area bounded on the north by Third Alley 

North, on the south by Third Alley South, on the east by Tenth Street and on the west by Park 

Drive and any properties located within this area with a designated residential land use code shall 

be excluded from the District.  The Planning and Community Development Department shall 

annually identify all mixed-use property equal to or greater than 112,000 square feet which are 

50% or less commercially developed.  Those mixed-use properties shall be assessed 50% 

commercial and 50% capped residential. Inter-local Agreement shall be defined as properties 

owned by other governments or their agencies adjacent to City streets that are maintained by the 

other governments or their agencies.  This category’s assessment includes a 7.5% administrative 

fee as well as the annual contracted cost of maintenance.    

 

No proration of the street maintenance assessment shall be made for any reason, including the fact 

that a particular property did not have paved streets for the entire taxable year. 

 

Section 3 – Assessments Due Date 

Assessments are payable in two payments and will become delinquent at 5:00 o'clock p.m. on 

November 30, 2018 and May 31, 2019. 

 

 PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Commission of the City of Great Falls, Montana, 

this 7th day of August, 2018. 

 

 

                                                   

Bob Kelly, Mayor                       

ATTEST: 

 

                                               

Lisa Kunz, City Clerk 

 

 

(Seal of the City) 

 

 

APPROVED FOR LEGAL CONTENT: 

 

                                                                       

Sara R. Sexe, City Attorney 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 66 of 284                                     Attachment # 1



Agenda # 18.
Commission Meeting Date: August 7, 2018

City of Great Falls
Commission Agenda Report

Item: Resolution 10244 to Levy and Assess Properties within Special Improvement Lighting Districts

From: Judy Burg, Taxes and Assessments

Initiated By: Annual Assessment Process

Presented By: Melissa Kinzler, Finance Director

Action Requested: City Commission Conduct Public Hearing and Adopt Resolution 10244

Public Hearing:
1.     Mayor conducts public hearing, calling three times each for proponents and opponents.
 
2.     Mayor closes public hearing and asks the will of the Commission.

Suggested Motion:
1.     Commissioner moves:
 
          "I move the City Commission (adopt/deny) Resolution 10244."
 
2.     Mayor requests a second to the motion, Commission discussion, and calls for the vote.

Staff Recommendation:
Staff recommends the City Commission adopt Resolution 10244 to levy and assess properties within the
Special Improvement Lighting Districts. 

Background:
There are currently 27 Special Improvement Lighting Districts (SLD's) with approximately 9,429
roadway lights.  The majority (97%) of the roadway lights are owned by Northwestern Energy.  The
City pays a maintenance fee to Northwestern Energy for these lights in addition to a fee which covers the
electrical transmission and distribution.  The electrical supply for the street lights is currently being
furnished by Talen Treasure State.  The remaining 3% of roadway lighting is City-owned.  The Special
Improvement Lighting District funds are administered by the Fiscal Services Department.  The purpose
of the fund is to maintain the light poles and furnish electrical current for the light districts throughout the
year.  After determining financial factors pertinent to the operation of the special improvement lighting
districts, an assessment amount for the next fiscal year is calculated, budgeted and presented to the City
Commission for approval.

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 67 of 284                                     



 
As part of the annual budget development and adoption procedures, the Special Improvement Lighting
Districts Assessment Resolution must be submitted for City Commission action.  A public notice and
hearing is required prior to final passage of the assessment resolution.

Fiscal Impact:
Adoption of Resolution 10244 will allow the City to fund the operational and maintenance costs
required in the Special Improvement Lighting Districts for the fiscal year. 
 
ASSESSMENT ANTICIPATED
The anticipated assessment amount for the Special Improvement Lighting District funds for the next
fiscal year is $1,164,252.  After review of the budget and the estimated assessment for Fiscal Year
2018/2019, the total assessment amount reflects a 0% increase from the prior fiscal year as the cash
balances for the various lighting districts are more than adequate to cover the operational costs for the
districts.
 
                   BUDGETED
           TOTAL ASSESSMENT                       FISCAL YEAR
 
                    $1,547,428                              2014/2015 (26 Districts)
                    $1,428,082                              2015/2016 (26 Districts)
                    $1,175,344                              2016/2017 (27 Districts)
                    $1,159,589                              2017/2018 (27 Districts)
                    $1,164,252                              2018/2019 (27 Districts)          
 
Fiscal Year 2018/2019 assessment per district is indicated on the SLD Maintenance Budget and
Assessment Worksheet attached as Exhibit "A" and made a part of Resolution 10244.
 

Alternatives:
The City Commission could choose to deny the adoption of Resolution 10244; however, the reduction in
services to the community could be detrimental to the safety and welfare of the general public.

Concurrences:
Fiscal Services staff is responsible for the operation expenses, along with assessing and collecting the
revenues; Public Works is responsible for the maintenance of all City-owned lighting districts.

ATTACHMENTS:

Resolution 10244
SLD Budget & Assessment Worksheet - Exhibit "A"
Special Lighting District Boundary Map

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 68 of 284                                     



 RESOLUTION NO.  10244 

 

 

A RESOLUTION LEVYING AND ASSESSING THE COST OF 

MAINTAINING SPECIAL IMPROVEMENT LIGHTING DISTRICTS 

(SLD’S) NUMBERED 18, 650, 651, 912, 973, 1067A, 1105, 1230, 1255, 1261, 

1269, 1270, 1289, 1290, 1294, 1295, 1296, 1297, 1298, 1302, 1303, 1304, 1305, 

1306, 1308, 1309 AND 1310 IN THE CITY OF GREAT FALLS, 

MONTANA, FOR THE FISCAL YEAR BEGINNING JULY 1, 2018 AND 

ENDING JUNE 30, 2019 

 

 

 WHEREAS, the City Commission declares that the above-captioned Special 
Improvement Lighting Districts were created, lighting systems installed and that the City intends 
to continue maintenance of such lighting systems in said SLD's; and 
  
 WHEREAS, the City Commission declares that each lot or parcel of land contained in 
each of said SLD's will continue to be benefited by such lighting in the same manner as 
determined in the creation of each Special Improvement Lighting District; and 
 
 WHEREAS, on July 17, 2018, the City Commission adopted Resolution 10240, Annual 
Budget Resolution.  The budgeted amounts for maintenance of the City’s lighting systems were 
reviewed and adjusted.  The newly adjusted assessment amount totals ONE MILLION ONE 
HUNDRED SIXTY-FOUR THOUSAND TWO HUNDRED FIFTY-TWO DOLLARS 
($1,164,252); and 
 
 WHEREAS, in accordance with § 7-1-4127, MCA, notice was published setting forth 
that Resolution No. 10244 Levying and Assessing the Cost of Maintaining Special Improvement 
Lighting Districts (SLD’s) Nos. 18, 650, 651, 912, 973, 1067A, 1105, 1230, 1255, 1261, 1269, 
1270, 1289, 1290, 1294, 1295, 1296, 1297, 1298, 1302, 1303, 1304, 1305, 1306, 1308, 1309 and 
1310 in the City of Great Falls, Montana, would be brought before the Great Falls City 
Commission for public hearing on August 7, 2018. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY 

OF GREAT FALLS, MONTANA, that: 
 
Section 1 – Maintenance Costs Assessed 
The cost of maintenance for said lighting systems in the above-captioned SLD's totaling 
$1,164,252 be levied and assessed upon the properties in said SLD's.   
 
Section 2 – Assessment Method 
Each lot and parcel within each SLD is hereby assessed a proportion of the maintenance costs 
attributed to the SLD in the proportion to which its assessable area (individual square feet) bears 
to the area of the whole special improvement lighting district (total square feet), exclusive of 
streets, avenues, alleys and public places.  An assessment projection summary of each district, 
describing total cost, is attached hereto and, by this reference, incorporated herein as if fully set 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 69 of 284                                     Attachment # 1



forth.  The description of each lot or parcel of land within each SLD and the respective 
assessments are set forth in the records of the Fiscal Services Department of the City of Great 
Falls, Montana and by this reference is also incorporated herein as if fully set forth. 
 
Section 3 – Assessment Due Date 
Assessments are payable in two payments and will become delinquent at 5:00 o’clock p.m. on 
November 30, 2018 and May 31, 2019. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Commission of the City of Great Falls, Montana, 
this 7th day of August, 2018. 
 
 
 
 

                                            
Bob Kelly, Mayor                         

 
ATTEST: 
 
 
                                               
Lisa Kunz, City Clerk 
 
 
 
(Seal of the City) 
 
 
 
APPROVED FOR LEGAL CONTENT: 
 
 
 
                                                                        
Sara R. Sexe, City Attorney 
 
 
 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 70 of 284                                     Attachment # 1



FY  2019

XXXX.00.104 XXXX.00.104 XXXX.00.104 XXXX.00.104 XXXX.31.536 XXXX.31.536 XXXX.31.536

43420 45120 48692 48652 42390 43690 48636

2019 2%

PROJECTED REQUESTED OTHER MAPPING FISCAL PUBLIC WORKS PUBLIC WORKS PUBLIC WORKS REQUESTED 2019 2018 2019 DIFF

DISTRICT BEGINNING UTILITY MISC SERVICE SERVICE SUPPLIES & OUTSIDE INTERNAL TOTAL ENDING ASSESSMENT ASSESSMENT (+/-)

DISTRICT TYPE FUND CASH EXPENSE EXPENSES CHARGE MATERIALS CONTRACTOR MAINTENANCE EXPENSES CASH

  

18 STREET 8402 1,855                2,724              -                       -                     232                  -                           -                           -                           2,956              1,782 2,883               2,883 -       

650 PERIOD 8403 43,106             5,491              -                       -                     467                  1,455                  1,455                  1,455                  10,323           42,212 9,429               9,429 -       

651 STREET 8404 3,743                2,244              -                       -                     191                  -                           -                           -                           2,435              2,446 1,138               1,138 -       

912 STREET 8405 14,072             14,131            -                       -                     1,201              -                           -                           -                           15,332           12,208 13,468             12,208 (1,260)  

973 STREET 8406 24,389             52                    -                       -                     4                       -                           -                           -                           56                    24,387 55                     55 -       

1067A ALLEY 8407 5,614                4,995              -                       -                     425                  -                           -                           -                           5,420              4,954 4,760               4,760 -       

1105 STREET 8408 3,090                3,957              -                       -                     336                  -                           -                           -                           4,293              2,507 3,710               3,710 -       

1230 STREET 8409 488                   195                  -                       -                     17                    -                           -                           -                           211                 461 185                   185 -       

1255 STREET 8410 1,043                390                  -                       -                     33                    -                           -                           -                           423                 992 371                   371 -       

1261 PERIOD 8411 10,635             4,601              286                 -                     391                  1,220                  1,220                  1,220                  8,937              9,851 8,153               8,153 -       

1269 PERIOD 8412 88,080             14,704            780                 -                     1,250              3,897                  3,897                  3,897                  28,427           85,588 25,935             25,935 -       

1270 PERIOD 8413 18,011             6,217              234                 -                     528                  1,648                  1,648                  1,648                  11,923           16,505 10,417             10,417 -       

1289 STREET 8414 13,138             13,839            -                       -                     1,176              -                           -                           -                           15,016           10,797 12,674             10,797 (1,877)  

1290 STREET 8415 1,711                1,148              -                       -                     98                    -                           -                           -                           1,245              1,559 1,093               1,093 -       

1294 SLDA 8416 88,687             141,649          -                       831               12,041            -                           200                      -                           154,721         69,777 135,811           139,611 3,800   

1298 SLDI 8417 43,490             20,921            -                       712               1,778              -                           -                           -                           23,412           30,263 10,185             10,185 -       

1295 SLDC 8418 68,098             58,617            -                       831               4,983              -                           -                           -                           64,431           60,217 56,550             56,550 -       

1296 SLDR 8419 1,302,040       924,426          -                       2,789            78,584            -                           10,313                -                           1,016,113      1,127,870 841,943           841,943 -       

1297 SLDT 8420 27,448             29,757            -                       772               2,530              -                           -                           -                           33,059           8,887 14,498             18,498 4,000   

1302 ML3 8430 20,075             735                  -                       -                     63                    195                     195                      195                      1,383              19,249 557                   557 -       

1304 EC1 8432 8,963                1,946              -                       -                     165                  516                     516                      516                      3,659              7,009 1,705               1,705 -       

1306 ML4 8434 5,945                292                  -                       -                     25                    77                        77                        77                        548                 5,768 371                   371 -       

1308 ECII & III 8436 10,247             1,320              -                       -                     112                  350                     350                      350                      2,482              8,898 1,133               1,133 -       

1310 ML5 8438 8,761                973                  -                       -                     83                    258                     258                      258                      1,830              7,767 835                   835 -       

1303 Stone Meadow 1 8440 13,052             518                  -                       -                     44                    137                     137                      137                      974                 12,524 446                   446 -       

1305 Water Tower 8442 11,369             390                  -                       -                     33                    103                     103                      103                      733                 10,971 334                   334 -       

1309 Stone Meadow 2 8444 1,900                541                  -                       -                     46                    143                     143                      143                      1,016              1,833 950                   950 -       

ALL DIST Fund 217 8401 46,625             -                       

1,885,676       1,256,774      1,300              5,935            106,837          10,000                20,513                10,000                1,411,358      1,587,282 1,159,589 1,164,252 4,663

City-Owned Lighting Districts % of Increase 0%

REQUESTED EXPENSES

SPECIAL IMPROVEMENT LIGHTING DISTRICTS MAINTENANCE BUDGET & ASSESSMENT WORKSHEET

RESOLUTION 10244 - EXHIBIT "A"

C:\Program Files (x86)\neevia.com\docConverterPro\temp\NVDC\48651531-2EBF-4F7C-800C-7906ED32DFCE\Great Falls  MT.2647.1.Res_10244_Exhibit_A_2019_SLD_Budget.xlsxCity Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 71 of 284                                     Attachment # 2



City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 72 of 284                                     Attachment # 3



Agenda # 19.
Commission Meeting Date: August 7, 2018

City of Great Falls
Commission Agenda Report

Item: Resolution 10245 to Levy and Assess Special Improvement General Boulevard Maintenance
District No. 3570

From: Judy Burg, Taxes and Assessments

Initiated By: Annual Assessment Process

Presented By: Melissa Kinzler, Finance Director

Action Requested: City Commission Conduct Public Hearing and Adopt Resolution 10245

Public Hearing:
1.     Mayor conducts public hearing, calling three times each for proponents and opponents.
 
2.     Mayor closes public hearing and asks the will of the Commission.

Suggested Motion:
1.     Commissioner moves:
 
          "I move the City Commission (adopt/deny) Resolution 10245."
 
2.     Mayor requests a second to the motion, Commission discussion, and calls for the vote.

Staff Recommendation:
Staff recommends the City Commission adopt Resolution 10245. 

Background:
The Park and Recreation Department, Natural Resources - Boulevard Division is responsible for the
care and maintenance of over 13,331 street trees located within the General Boulevard District. 
Services provided within the District are pruning, removal, planting, leaf pickup, and streetscape design.
 
The budget development process begins in January of each year when the Natural Resources -
Boulevard Division receives its midyear financial reports.  The midyear reports, and subsequent reports,
are used to determine the current financial position of the department.  Information is gathered regarding
the actual and anticipated expenses, future projects, goals, and objective of the department.
 
After calculating all factors pertinent to the operation of the Natural Resources - Boulevard Division, an

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 73 of 284                                     



assessment amount for the next fiscal year is calculated, proposed and presented to the City Commission
for approval.  An increase of 3% has been proposed for Fiscal Year 2019 to help meet increases in
operational costs for additional tree planting and watering.  The last General Boulevard maintenance
increase of 7% was approved in Fiscal Year 2018.
 
In order to legally provide for the necessary assessment support, State laws require City Commission
hearings and passage of authorizing resolutions.  Sections 7-12-4102, 7-12-4176 and 7-12-4179 M.C.A.
authorize the City Commission to create and assess the costs of work, improvements, and maintenance to
the owners of property within the boundaries of such district.
 
As part of the annual budget development and adoption procedures, the Special Improvement General
Boulevard Maintenance District Assessment Resolution must be submitted for City Commission action. 
A public notice and hearing is required prior to final passage of the assessment resolution.

Fiscal Impact:
Adoption of Resolution 10245 will allow the City to finance the costs of work, improvements, and
maintenance conducted each year in the Special Improvement General Boulevard Maintenance District.
 
ASSESSMENT ANTICIPATED
The anticipated assessment amount for the General Boulevard Maintenance District for the next fiscal
year is the amount reflected in the Fiscal Year 2019 Budget.  This equates to an assessment of $0.010892
per square foot, for a total of $386,564 and will result in an assessment of $81.69 for an average size lot
of 7,500 square feet (7,500 sq. ft. x 0.0101892 factor  $81.69.)  This is a yearly increase of $2.38 for a
average lot size of 7,500 square feet.
 

Alternatives:
The City Commission could choose to deny Resolution 10245 to Levy and Assess General Boulevard
Maintenance; however, the reduction in services to trim, prune, spray, and maintain the trees, within the
district, would be detrimental to the overall shelter and beauty provided by the street trees to the
community.

Concurrences:
Park and Recreation staff is responsible for the operation expenses of the Boulevard District fund. 
Fiscal Services staff is responsible for assessing and collecting the revenues necessary to carry out the
operations.  The City Commissioners have received information regarding the condition of the
Boulevard District and the Natural Resources Fund operations during the annual budget process.

ATTACHMENTS:

Resolution 10245 - Revised after original posting
Map of General Boulevard District

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 74 of 284                                     



 RESOLUTION NO.  10245 
 

 

A RESOLUTION LEVYING AND ASSESSING THE COST OF 

MAINTAINING BOULEVARDS IN THE GENERAL BOULEVARD 

DISTRICT NO. 3570 OF THE CITY OF GREAT FALLS, MONTANA FOR 

THE FISCAL YEAR BEGINNING JULY 1, 2018 AND ENDING JUNE 30, 

2019 
 

 

 WHEREAS, the Great Falls City Council did create a General Boulevard Maintenance 

District No. 3570 by Resolution 3570 on January 2, 1946; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City Commission did amend and exclude Lots 8-14, Block 34 of Boston 

and Great Falls Addition, from the boundaries of the General Boulevard District by Resolution 

8132 on September 1, 1987, in accordance with § 7-12-4335, MCA; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City intends to continue trimming, pruning, spraying, and otherwise 

maintaining the trees within said district, except when such maintenance conflicts with other 

provisions of the Official Code of the City of Great Falls; and 

 

 WHEREAS, on July 17, 2018, the City Commission adopted Resolution 10240, Annual 

Budget Resolution, in which the estimated assessment for such maintenance within the General 

Boulevard Maintenance District No. 3570 was reflected as THREE HUNDRED EIGHTY-SIX 

THOUSAND FIVE HUNDRED AND SIXTY-FOUR DOLLARS ($386,564); and  

 

WHEREAS, in accordance with § 7-1-4127, MCA, notice was published setting forth that 

Resolution No. 10245 Levying and Assessing the Cost of Maintaining Boulevards in the General 

Boulevard Maintenance District No. 3570 would be brought before the Great Falls City 

Commission for public hearing on August 7, 2018. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY 

OF GREAT FALLS, MONTANA, that: 

 

Section 1 – Maintenance Costs Assessed 

The cost of maintaining boulevards in General Boulevard Maintenance District No. 3570, totaling 

$386,564, be levied and assessed upon the properties in said district for the fiscal year ending June 

30, 2019.   

 

Section 2 – Maintenance Assessment Method 

Each lot and parcel within the district be assessed in proportion to its square footage.  The 

procedure for determining the square footage to be assessed is the total square footage as set forth 

in Exhibit “A” of Resolution 6202 adopted by the Great Falls City Commission on July 22, 1968, 

and presently on file in the office of the City Clerk.   

 

 

 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 75 of 284                                     Attachment # 2



Section 3 – Assessment Due Date 

Assessments are payable in two payments and will become delinquent at 5:00 o'clock p.m. on 

November 30, 2018 and May 31, 2019. 

 

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Commission of the City of Great Falls, Montana, 

this 7th day of August, 2018. 

 

 

                                                     

Bob Kelly, Mayor                         

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

                                               

Lisa Kunz, City Clerk 

 

 

 

(Seal of the City) 

 

 

 

 

APPROVED FOR LEGAL CONTENT: 

 

 

 

                                                                          

Sara R. Sexe, City Attorney 

 

 

 
 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 76 of 284                                     Attachment # 2





Agenda # 20.
Commission Meeting Date: August 7, 2018

City of Great Falls
Commission Agenda Report

Item: Resolution 10246 to Levy and Assess Special Improvement Portage Meadows Maintenance
District No. 1195

From: Judy Burg, Taxes and Assessments

Initiated By: Annual Assessment Process

Presented By: Melissa Kinzler, Finance Director

Action Requested: City Commission Conduct Public Hearing and Adopt Resolution 10246

Public Hearing:
1.     Mayor conducts public hearing, calling three times each for proponents and opponents.
 
2.     Mayor closes public hearing and asks the will of the Commission.

Suggested Motion:
1.     Commissioner moves:
 
         "I move the City Commission (adopt/deny) Resolution 10246."
 
2.     Mayor requests a second to the motion, Commission discussion, and calls for the vote.

Staff Recommendation:
Staff recommends the City Commission adopt Resolution 10246. 

Background:
In February 1977, Resolution 6913 created Special Improvement Maintenance District No. 1195 for the
purpose of maintaining the Green Belt of the Portage Meadows Addition.  The assessment covers the
costs of materials, snow removal labor, water, mowing labor, fertilizer costs and labor, and aerification
labor, which was part of the original Planned Unit Development.
 
The budget development process begins in January of each year when the Natural Resources -
Boulevard Division receives its midyear financial reports.  The midyear reports, and subsequent reports,
are used to determine the current financial position of the department.  Information is gathered regarding
the actual and anticipated expenses, future projects, goals, and objectives of the department.
 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 78 of 284                                     



After calculating all factors pertinent to the operation of the Natural Resources - Boulevard Division, an
assessment amount for the next fiscal year is calculated, proposed, and presented to the City
Commissioners for approval.  An increase of 7% has been proposed for Fiscal Year 2019 to help with
increased operations and capital improvements to the irrigation system.  The last Portage Meadows
Maintenance District increase of 24% was approved in Fiscal Year 2015.
 
In order to legally provide for the necessary assessment support, State laws require City Commission
hearings and passage of authorizing resolutions.  Sections 7-12-4102, 7-12-4176 and 7-12-4179 M.C.A.
authorize the City Commission to create and assess the costs of work, improvements, and maintenance to
the owners of property within the boundaries of such district.
 
As part of the annual budget development and adoption procedures, the Special Improvement Portage
Meadows Maintenance District Assessment Resolution must be submitted for City Commission action. 
A public notice and hearing is required prior to final passage of the assessment resolution.

Fiscal Impact:
Adoption of Resolution 10246 will allow the City to finance the cost of repairs and maintenance
required each year in the Special Improvement Portage Meadows Maintenance District.
 
ASSESSMENT ANTICIPATED
The anticipated assessment amount for Portage Meadows Boulevard Maintenance for the next fiscal year
is the amount reflected in the Fiscal Year 2019 Budget.  This equates to an assessment factor of
$0.073832 per square foot, for a total of $62,145 and will result in an annual assessment of $332.32 for
an average lot of 4,501 square feet (4,501 sq. ft. x 0.073832 factor  $332.32.)  This is a yearly increase
of $21.74 for an average size lot of 4,501 square feet.
 

Alternatives:
The City Commission could choose to deny Resolution 10246 to Levy and Assess Portage Meadows
Boulevard Maintenance District; however, the City agreed to provide the services when the land was
donated to the City.

Concurrences:
Park and Recreation staff is responsible for the operation expenses of the Portage Meadows District
Fund.  Fiscal Services staff is responsible for assessing and collecting the revenues necessary to carry
out the operations.

ATTACHMENTS:

Resolution 10246
Map of Portage Meadows Mainenance District No. 1195

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 79 of 284                                     



 RESOLUTION  NO. 10246 
 
 
 

A RESOLUTION LEVYING AND ASSESSING THE COST OF 

MAINTAINING THE GREEN BELT PARK OF PORTAGE MEADOWS 

ADDITION IN THE CITY OF GREAT FALLS ON ALL REAL ESTATE 

IN SPECIAL IMPROVEMENT MAINTENANCE DISTRICT NO. 1195 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR BEGINNING JULY 1, 2018 AND ENDING 

JUNE 30, 2019 

 
 
 WHEREAS, the City Commission did create and amend Special Improvement 
Maintenance District No. 1195 by Resolutions 6913, 6980, and 8426 on February 15 and July 
17, 1977, and July 16, 1991, respectively; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the City intends to continue maintaining the Green Belt Park of Portage 
Meadows Addition within Special Improvement Maintenance District No. 1195; and 
 
 WHEREAS, on July 17, 2018, the City Commission adopted Resolution 10240, Annual 
Budget Resolution, in which the estimated costs for the assessment of such maintenance within 
Special Improvement Maintenance District No. 1195 was reflected as SIXTY-TWO 
THOUSAND ONE HUNDRED FORTY-FIVE DOLLARS ($62,145); and 
 

WHEREAS, in accordance with § 7-1-4127, MCA, notice was published setting forth 
that Resolution No. 10246 Levying and Assessing the Cost of Maintaining the Green Belt Park 
of Portage Meadows Addition in the City of Great Falls on all Real Estate in Special 
Improvement Maintenance District No. 1195 would be brought before the Great Falls City 
Commission for public hearing on August 7, 2018. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY 

OF GREAT FALLS, MONTANA, that: 
 
Section 1 – Maintenance Costs Assessed 
The cost of care and maintenance in Special Improvement Maintenance District No. 1195, 
totaling $62,145, be levied and assessed upon the properties in said district for the fiscal year 
ending June 30, 2019.   
 
Section 2 – Maintenance Assessment Method 
There are 186 properties contained within the boundaries of Portage Meadows Special 
Improvement Maintenance District No. 1195.  The costs per property and the property list for 
Portage Meadows Special Improvement Maintenance District No. 1195 are set forth in the 
records of the City Clerk of the City of Great Falls.  Said property is generally identified as each 
lot or parcel of land within Portage Meadows Additions #1, #2, and #3, excluding Blocks 4, 5, 
and 6 of Portage Meadows #1 Addition.   
 
Assessments may be reviewed on an annual basis and the amount may be revised according to 
the following formula:  cost plus ten percent (10%) divided by the total square feet of all of the 
lots within said district times the square feet of each lot.  Costs shall be for expendable material, 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 80 of 284                                     Attachment # 1



snow removal labor, water, mowing labor, fertilizer costs and labor, aerification labor, and tree 
pruning costs.   
 
Section 3 – Assessment Due Date 
Assessments are payable in two payments and will become delinquent at 5:00 o'clock p.m. on 
November 30, 2018 and May 31, 2019. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Commission of the City of Great Falls, Montana, 
this 7th day of August, 2018. 
 
 
 
 

                                                         
Bob Kelly, Mayor                         

 
ATTEST: 
 
 
                                               
Lisa Kunz, City Clerk 
 
 
 
(Seal of the City) 
 
 
 
 
APPROVED FOR LEGAL CONTENT:  
 
 
 
                                                                       
Sara R. Sexe, City Attorney 
 
 
 
 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 81 of 284                                     Attachment # 1





Agenda # 21.
Commission Meeting Date: August 7, 2018

City of Great Falls
Commission Agenda Report

Item: Resolution 10252- Amending Building Permit Fees

From: Craig Raymond, Director, Planning and Community Development Department

Initiated By: Planning and Community Development Department

Presented By: Craig Raymond, Director, Planning and Community Development Department

Action Requested: City Commission (adopt/deny) Resolution 10252

Public Hearing:
1. Mayor Conducts public hearing, calling three times each for proponents and opponents.
 
2. Mayor closes public hearing and asks the will of the Commission.

Suggested Motion:
1.   Commissioner moves:
 

"I move that the City Commission (adopt/deny) Resolution 10252 to amend building permit fees per
Exhibit A- Permit Fee Schedule."
 

2.  Mayor requests a second to the motion, Commission discussion, and calls for the vote.

Staff Recommendation:
Staff recommends that the City Commission adopt Resolution 10252. 

Summary:
As a result of improved economic conditions in Montana generally and Great Falls specifically, permit
fee revenue has increased dramatically since 2011. Resolution 10252 reduces current building permit
fees by 5% to balance permit fee revenue, fund balances and department budget needs. A notice of public
hearing was published in the Great Falls Tribune on July 29th and August 5th, 2018.

Background:
In July 2011, the City Commission adopted Resolution 9933 increasing permit fees for building,
electrical, mechanical, plumbing and other permit fees related to the Building Safety Division
operations. In April 2014, the City Commission adopted Resolution 10064 further increasing related
fees, as well as plan review fees. Administrative Rules of Montana (ARM) 24.301.203(5) limits the

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 83 of 284                                     



Building Safety Reserve Fund to a maximum that which is necessary to support department operations
for a period of twelve months. Currently, the fund balance for the Building Safety Division is
approaching this maximum limit which necessitates the City Commission take action in order to keep the
City in compliance with this rule. Staff recommends that the City Commission adopt Resolution 10252
decreasing all permit fees by 5%. Staff will monitor whether further reductions are necessary in the
future depending on construction and permitting activity, permit revenue and departmental budget needs.

Fiscal Impact:
Reducing permit fees is anticipated to have a corresponding decrease in permit revenue however it is not
known the final impact, due to unknown construction and permit activity levels for the coming fiscal year.
 

July 2016 - June 2017 - 3655 permits totaling $1,284,117.06
July 2017 - June 2018 - 3432 permits totaling $1,327,194.84

 

Alternatives:
The City Commission could deny Resolution 10252 which may put the City in jeopardy of sanctions
from the State of Montana as a result of the annual agreed upon procedures audit.

Concurrences:
The City of Great Falls Finance Department as well as the City Manager's Office has been involved
throughout the budget process and concurs with the adoption of Resolution 10252

ATTACHMENTS:

Resolution 10252
Exhibit A - Permit Fee Schedule

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 84 of 284                                     



 

 

RESOLUTION NO.  10252 

 

 

A RESOLUTION BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF GREAT 

FALLS, MONTANA, TO ESTABLISH RATES IN ACCORDANCE WITH 

TITLE 15 OF THE OFFICIAL CODE OF THE CITY OF GREAT FALLS 

(OCCGF), RELATING TO PERMIT FEES AND PLAN REVIEW FEES 

FOR BUILDING, PLUMBING, MECHANICAL, ELECTRICAL AND SIGN 

PERMITS IN THE CITY 

 

 

 WHEREAS, the City Commission adopted Resolution 10064 on April 1, 2014, 

establishing rates in accordance with Title 15 of the Official Code of the City of Great Falls relating 

to permit fees for building, plumbing, mechanical, electrical and sign permits in the City of Great 

Falls; and 

  

 WHEREAS, the City of Great Falls reviews plans and processes approximately 3,000 

permits annually; and 

 

 WHEREAS, having considered the cost of service associated with promoting safe 

buildings for the citizens of Great Falls, it is necessary to adjust fees accordingly; and 

 

 WHEREAS, in accordance with ARM 24.301.203(5) the Building Safety Division reserve 

fund is limited to that which will support Department operations for a twelve month period; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the reserve fund of the Great Falls Building Safety Division is approaching 

its mandated cap. 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE 

CITY OF GREAT FALLS, MONTANA: 

 

 1. That Resolution No. 10064 is hereby repealed. 

 

 2. That the Permit Fee schedule attached hereto as Exhibit “A” is hereby approved.   

 

 3. That this Resolution shall become effective upon adoption. 

 

 4. Plan review fees shall remain as established by this resolution unless specifically 

amended by the City Commission.  

 

 

 PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Commission of the City of Great Falls, Montana, 

August 7, 2018. 

 

 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 85 of 284                                     Attachment # 1



      

Bob Kelly, Mayor   

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

                                                         

Lisa Kunz, City Clerk 

 

 

 

 

(CITY SEAL) 

                                                      

 

 

 

APPROVED FOR LEGAL CONTENT: 

 

 

                                                           

Sara Sexe, City Attorney 

 

 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 86 of 284                                     Attachment # 1



EXHIBIT "A" 

Building Permit Fees - Effective  August 7, 2018     

Value Permit Value Permit   

$1  $1,000  $62.61  $50,001  $51,000  $718.07  $100,001 TO $500,000: 

$1,001  $2,000  $74.90  $51,001  $52,000  $725.67  $1,091.02 FOR THE FIRST $100,000 

$2,001  $3,000  $90.12  $52,001  $53,000  $733.29  PLUS $6.39 FOR EACH 

$3,001  $4,000  $105.34  $53,001  $54,000  $740.91  ADDITIONAL $1,000 OR 

$4,001  $5,000  $120.56  $54,001  $55,000  $748.51  PORTION THEREOF 

$5,001  $6,000  $135.79  $55,001  $56,000  $756.12    

$6,001  $7,000  $151.01  $56,001  $57,000  $763.72    

$7,001  $8,000  $166.23  $57,001  $58,000  $771.34  $500,001 TO $1,000,000: 

$8,001  $9,000  $181.45  $58,001  $59,000  $778.96  $3,646.14 FOR THE FIRST $500,000 

$9,001  $10,000  $196.68  $59,001  $60,000  $786.57  PLUS $5.04 FOR EACH 

$10,001  $11,000  $211.90  $60,001  $61,000  $794.18 ADDITIONAL $1,000 OR 

$11,001  $12,000  $227.13  $61,001  $62,000  $801.79  PORTION THEREOF 

$12,001  $13,000  $242.35  $62,001  $63,000  $ 809.40   

$13,001  $14,000  $257.57  $63,001  $64,000  $817.02    

$14,001  $15,000  $272.80  $64,001  $65,000  $824.63  $1,000,000 AND UP: 

$15,001  $16,000  $288.02  $65,001  $66,000  $832.24  $6,161.34 FOR THE FIRST $1,000,000 

$16,001  $17,000  $303.24  $66,001  $67,000  $839.85  PLUS $3.81 FOR EACH 

$17,001  $18,000  $318.46  $67,001  $68,000  $847.46  ADDITIONAL $1,000 OR 

$18,001  $19,000  $333.68  $68,001  $69,000  $855.08  PORTION THEREOF 

$19,001  $20,000  $348.91  $69,001  $70,000  $862.68    

$20,001  $21,000  $364.13  $70,001  $71,001  $870.30  RESIDENTIAL PLAN REVIEW = 

$21,001  $22,000  $379.35  $71,001  $72,000  $877.90  50% OF PERMIT FEE 

$22,001  $23,000  $394.57  $72,001  $73,000  $885.51    

$23,001  $24,000  $409.80  $73,001  $74,000  $893.12    

$24,001  $25,000  $425.03  $74,001  $75,000  $900.74  COMMERCIAL PLAN REVIEW = 

$25,001  $26,000  $436.45  $75,001  $76,000  $908.36  65% OF PERMIT FEE 

$26,001  $27,000  $447.85  $76,001  $77,000  $915.96    

$27,001  $28,000  $459.28  $77,001  $78,000  $923.58    

$28,001  $29,000  $470.69  $78,001  $79,000  $ 931.19   

$29,001  $30,000  $482.11  $79,001  $80,000  $938.80    

$30,001  $31,000  $493.53  $80,001  $81,000  $946.41    

$31,001  $32,000  $504.94  $81,001  $82,000  $954.02    

$32,001  $33,000  $516.36  $82,001  $83,000  $961.63    

$33,001  $34,000  $527.77  $83,001  $84,000  $969.25    

$34,001  $35,000  $539.20  $84,001  $85,000  $976.85    

$35,001  $36,000  $550.62  $85,001  $86,000  $984.47    

$36,001  $37,000  $562.02  $86,001  $87,000  $992.07    

$37,001  $38,000  $573.45  $87,001  $88,000  $999.69    

$38,001  $39,000  $584.86  $88,001  $89,000  $1,007.30   

$39,001  $40,000  $596.28  $89,001  $90,000  $1,014.91   

$40,001  $41,000  $607.71  $90,001  $91,000  $1,022.53    

$41,001  $42,000  $619.12  $91,001  $92,000  $1,030.13    

$42,001  $43,000  $630.57  $92,001  $93,000  $1,037.75    

$43,001  $44,000  $641.95  $93,001  $94,000  $1,045.36    

$44,001  $45,000  $653.37  $94,001  $95,000  $1,052.97    

$45,001  $46,000  $664.79  $95,001  $96,000  $1,060.58    

$46,001  $47,000  $676.19  $96,001  $97,000  $1,068.19    

$47,001  $48,000  $687.62  $97,001  $98,000  $1,075.80    

$48,001  $49,000  $699.03  $98,001  $99,000  $1,083.42    

$49,001  $50,000  $710.45  $99,001  $100,000  $1,091.02    

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 87 of 284                                     Attachment # 2



MECHANICAL PERMIT FEES                              EFFECTIVE AUGUST 7, 2018 

Permit Issuance  

1.  For the issuance of each mechanical permit……………………………………………………........................... $34.39             

Unit Fee Schedule 

(Note:  The following do not include permit-issuing fee.) 

1.  Furnaces 

     For the installation or relocation of each forced-air of gravity-type furnace or burner, including ducts 

     And vents attached to such appliance, up to and including 100,000 Btu/h (29.3kW)……………………………  19.04 

     For the installation or relocation of each forced-air or gravity-type furnace or burner, including 

     Ducts and vents attached to such appliance over 100,000 Btu/h (29.3 kW)……………………………………..     22.72 

     For the installation or relocation of each floor furnace, including vent……………………………......................    19.04 

     For the installation or relocation of each suspended heater, recessed wall heater or floor-mounted 

     unit heater ……………………………………………………………………………………………………….   19.04 

2.  Gas Piping Systems 

     For each outlet………………………………………………………………………………………...................     7.00 

3.  Mobile/Manufactured Home hookup…………………………………………………………………………  19.04 

4.  Appliance Vents  

     For the installation, relocation, or replacement of each appliance vent installed and not included 

     in an appliance permit…………………………………………………………………………………………….     10.07 

5.  Repairs of Additions 

     For the repair of, alteration of, or addition to each heating appliance, refrigeration unit, cooling unit, 

     absorption unit, or each heating, cooling, absorption or evaporative cooling system, including 

     installation of controls regulated by the Mechanical Code………………………………………………………..     17.68 

6.  Boilers, Compressors and Absorption Systems 

     For the installation or relocation of each boiler or compressor to and including three horsepower 

     (10.6kW), or each absorption system to and including 100,000 Btu/h (29.3kW)………………………………...    19.04 

     For the installation or relocation of each boiler or compressor over three horsepower (10.6 kW) 

     To and including 15 horsepower (52.7kW), or each absorption system over 100,000 Btu/h 

     (29.3kW) to and including 500,000 Btu/h (146.6kW)……………………………………………………………    34.15 

     For the installation or relocation of relocation of each boiler or compressor over 15 horsepower 

     (52.7kW) to and including 1,000,000 Btu/h (293.1kW)…………………………………………….....................  46.78 

     For the installation or relocation of each boiler or compressor over 30 horsepower (105.5 kW) 

     To and including 50 horsepower (176 kW), or each absorption system over 1,000,000 Btu/h 

     (293.1 kW) to and including 1,750,000 Btu/h (512.9kW)…………………………………………......................     68.26 

     For the installation or relocation of each boiler or compressor over 50 horsepower (176 kW), or 

     each absorption system over 1,750,000 Btu/h (512.9kW)…………………………………………......................          113.81 

7.  Air Handlers 

     For each air-handling unit to and including 10,000 cubic feet per minute (cfm)  (4719L/s),  

     including ducts attached thereto…………………………………………………………………………………..    13.87 

     Note:  This fee shall not apply to an air-handling unit which is a portion of a factory-assembled  

     appliance,  cooling unit, evaporative cooler or absorption unit for which a permit is required 

     elsewhere in the Mechanical Code. 

     For each air-handling unit over 10,000 cfm. (4719L/s)…………………………………………………………..       22.72 

8. Evaporative  Coolers 

     For each evaporative cooler other than portable type……………………………………………………………..     13.87 

9.  Ventilation and Exhaust 

     For each ventilation fan connected to a single duct……………………………………………………………….    10.07 

     For each ventilation system which is not a portion of any heating or air-conditioning system 

     authorized by a permit…………………………………………………………………………………………….    13.87 

     For the installation of each Type I commercial kitchen hood……………………………………………………..   62.61 

     For the installation of each Type II commercial kitchen hood…………………………………………………….       13.87 

     10.  Incinerators  

     For the installation or relocation of each domestic-type incinerator……………………………………………….    22.72 

     For the installation or relocation of each commercial or industrial-type incinerator……………………………….     91.10 

 11.  Miscellaneous 

        For each appliance or piece of equipment regulated by the Mechanical Code but not classed in other  

        Appliance categories, or for which no other fee is listed…………………………………………………………..    13.87 

  Other Inspection and Fees: 

   1.  Inspections outside of normal business hours, per hour (minimum charge—two hours)……………..Actual cost of jurisdiction                                 

   2.  ** Re inspection fee may be assessed for each inspection of re-inspection when such portion of 

              work for which inspection is called is not complete or when corrections called for are not made. 

              Minimum charge – one-half  hour……………………………………………………………………………..             62.62/hr 

   3.  Inspections for which no fee is specifically indicated, per hour (minimum charge—one-half hour)………………            62.62/hr 

   4.  Additional plan review required by changes, additions, or revisions to plans for which an  

        initial review has been completed (minimum charge—one-half hour)……………………………………………..            62.62/hr 

 

 

    **This provision is not to be interpreted as requiring re-inspection fees the first time a job is rejected for failure to comply with 

the    requirements of this code, but as controlling the practice of calling for inspections before the job is ready for such inspection or 

re-inspection. 

 

                                                                                                                  City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 88 of 284                                     Attachment # 2



 

MEDICAL GAS PERMIT FEES 

EFFECTIVE August 7, 2018 

 

For each medical gas piping system serving one to five inlet(s)/outlet(s) 

for a specific gas: 

Oxygen………………………1-5 outlet………………...$63.24   _______     $  

Nitrous Oxide…………….1-5 outlet……………..….$63.24   _______     $  

Nitrogen…………………….1-5 outlet……………..….$63.24   _______     $  

Medical Air…………………1-5 outlet……....…..…..$63.24   _______     $  

Vacuum………………………1-5 inlet…………………..$63.24   _______     $  

 

For each additional medical gas inlet(s)/outlet(s).......$  6.39   _______      $  

 

Permit issuance fee…………………………………………………………………….$           34.39   

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 89 of 284                                     Attachment # 2



PLUMBING PERMIT FEES                  EFFECTIVE AUGUST 7, 2018 

 

Permit Issuance 

1.  For the issuance of each plumbing permit………………………………………………………………………………         $34.39 

 

Unit Fee Schedule 

 

(Note:  The following do not include permit-issuing fee.) 

1.  Fixtures and Vents 

     For each plumbing fixture or trap or set of fixtures on one trap ………………………………………………………...           12.65 

     For repair of alteration of drainage or vent piping, each fixture…………………………………………………………             7.61 

2.  Water Service 

     For repair, replacement or new (1only)………………………………………………………………………………….           27.87 

     Utility stubs---2 or more water services ----12.65 ea. plus 34.39 per trip………………………………………………...     

     If included in plumbing/gas permit …………………………………………………………………………...................          12.65 

     For each industrial waste pretreatment interceptor including its trap and vent, excepting 

     kitchen-type grease interceptors functioning as fixture traps………………………….....................................................          25.29 

     Rainwater systems—per drain (inside building)…………………………………………………………………………          12.65 

3.  Water Piping and Water Heaters 

     For installation, alteration, or repair of water piping or water-treating equipment 

     or both, each………………………………………………………………………………………………………………           7.61  

     For each water heater. ……………………………………………………………………………………………………         16.46 

 4. Lawn Sprinklers, Vacuum Breakers and Backflow Protection Devices 

     For each lawn sprinkler system on any one meter, including backflow protection devices therefore……………………  19.04 

     For atmospheric-type vacuum breakers or backflow protection devices not included in Item 1: 

          1 to 5 devices…………………………………………………………………………………………………………..  16.46 

          Over 5 devices, each…………………………………………………………………………………………………...    4.42 

     For each backflow protective device other than atmospheric-type vacuum breakers: 

          2 inches (50.8mm) and smaller………………………………………………………………………………………...  15.23 

          Over 2 inches…………………………………………………………………………………………………………..  30.35 

5.  Swimming Pools 

     For each swimming pool or spa: 

          Public pool…………………………………………………………………………………………………………….       112.57   

          Public spa………………………………………………………………………………………………………………        75.86  

          Private pool…………………………………………………………………………………………………………….        75.86 

          Private spa……………………………………………………………………………………………………………...        37.94 

6.   Miscellaneous 

      For each appliance or piece of equipment regulated by the Plumbing Code but not classed in other appliance 

      categories, or which no other fee is listed…………………………………………………………………………………       12.65 

 

Other Inspections and Fees: 

1.  Inspections outside of normal business hours, per hour (minimum charge—two hours) ……………. Actual cost to jurisdiction 

2.  ** Re-inspection fees may be assessed for each inspection or re-inspection when such portion of work for which  

           inspection is called is not complete or when corrections called for are not made.  Minimum charge – ½  hour……      62.62/hr  

3.  Inspections for which no fee is specifically indicated, per hour (minimum charge—1/2 hour)………………………          62.62/hr 

4.  Additional plan review required by changes, additions, or revisions to plans for which an initial review has been 

     completed  ( minimum charge—1/2 hour)…………………………………………………………………………….          62.62/hr 

 

 

 

      **This provision is not to be interpreted as requiring re-inspection fee the first 

           time a job is rejected for failure to comply with the requirements of this code, 

           but as controlling the practice of calling for inspections before the job is ready 

           for such inspection or re-inspection. 

            

                                                                                                                                                                                          

 

 

                    

 

  

 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 90 of 284                                     Attachment # 2



 

ELECTRIC PERMIT FEES        EFFECTIVE AUGUST 7, 2018 
 

Table No. 3-B 

 For issuing each permit………………………………………………………………………………….…………………………….....…..$ 34.39 

  

Temporary Power Service:  For temporary service pole or pedestal including all pole or pedestal-mounted receptacle outlets and                                                                 

appurtenances, each……………………………………………………………………………………………………...…..…………….....$ 34.39 

 

System Fee Schedule 

 (Note:  the following do not include permit issuing fee). 

 

New Residential Buildings 

The following fees shall include all wiring and electrical equipment in or on each building, or other electrical equipment on the same premises 

constructed at the same time. 

  

1.            *Residential:  new construction and extensive remodeling based on square foot area.  Included shall be all finished and unfinished rooms,  

               including basements and residential garages.  Multifamily dwellings or apartments, up to and including four units within a single structure,   

               come under this section and each unit shall be counted as an individual residence.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              

 

 a. 0 – 750 sq. ft…………………………………………………………………………………………..…………………….….....$ 51.81 

  751 – 4,000 sq. ft…………………………………………………………………………………51.81 plus $.10 sq. ft. over 750 sq ft. 

  over 4,000 sq. ft…………………………………………….…………………………....$273.17 plus $.08 per sq. ft. over 4000 sq. ft. 

 

2. Mobile or Manufactured Homes:  each connection or reconnection……………………………………......………………...……..……....$ 27.87  

 

  

3. Water pumps:  any type 

 a. up to 25 h.p………………………………………………………..………..……………………………………………………...$ 30.32  

 b. over 25 h.p……………………………………………………………………….…..........…...$ 29.46 plus $ .10  per h.p. over 25 h.p. 

 

4. Private Swimming Pools & Hot Tubs:  for new private, residential, in-ground, swimming pools & hot tubs for single-family, multi-family 

occupancies including a complete system of necessary branch circuit wiring, bonding, grounding, underwater lighting, water pumping and 

other similar electrical equipment directly related to the operation of a swimming pool or hot tub,  

each………………………………………………………...………………………………………………………...……………………… $ 27.87   

   

 

5. Carnivals, Fairs, Outdoor Concerts and Similar Amusement Establishments and Other Public Assemblies of a Temporary                                                                                                                            

Nature:  Carnivals, circuses, or other traveling shows or exhibitions utilizing transportable type rides, booths, displays and attractions. 

 

The electrical inspection fee for each temporary installation shall be $65.81 for the entirety of the temporary installation, provided that such 

inspection can be completed within one hour.  If additional inspection time is required, it will be charged at the rate of $32.92 for each 

additional 30 minutes or fractional parts thereof. 

 

 

6. All Other:  fees listed in this section shall apply to any and all electrical installations not specifically mentioned elsewhere in this rule.  The 

wiring cost shall be the cost to the owner of all labor charges and all wiring materials and equipment installed as part of the wiring system.  For 

uniformity of fee, when labor is performed by the owner, such labor cost shall be based at  actual cost.  The value of factory installed wiring, 

switches, and controls on equipment shall be included in wiring costs.  Value of motors and appliances need not be included.  Multifamily 

dwellings or apartments with five or more dwellings come under this schedule. 

Mobile Home Parks – distribution wiring including pedestal or service is under this schedule.  This does not include or permit the connection of 

the mobile home.  Recreational Vehicle Parks – service conductors distribution and lot supply to individual units come under this schedule plus 

$6.99 per lot. 

Total Job Cost  Inspection Fee 

$     0 - $ 1,000  $ 62.01 

 $ 1,001 - $5,000  $136.52 

 $ 5,001 - $10,000  $260.51 

 $10,001 - $50,000  $341.42 for first $10,000 plus ½ of 1% of balance 

 More than $50,000 $617.03 for first $50,000 plus ¼ of 1% of balance 

 

7. Residential Appliances:  For fixed residential appliances or receptacle outlets for same, including wall-mounted electric ovens; counter-

mounted cooking tops; electric ranges,  self-contained room, console, or through-wall air conditions; space heaters; food waste grinders; 

dishwashers; washing machines; water heaters; clothes dryers; or other motor-operated appliances not exceeding one horsepower (HP) in 

rating, each………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………..…………..$21.49 

  

 Note:  for other types of air conditioners and other motor driven appliances having larger electrical ratings, see Power Apparatus. 

 

 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 91 of 284                                     Attachment # 2



8. Nonresidential Appliances:  For residential appliances and self-contained factory-wired, nonresidential  appliances not exceeding one 

horsepower (HP), kilowatt (KW), or kilovolt-ampere (KVA), in rating including medical and dental devices; food, beverage, and ice cream 

cabinets; illuminated show cases; drinking fountains; vending machines; laundry machines; or other similar  types of equipment, 

each………………………………………………….………………………………………………………………………………….……..$21.49

  

 Note:  for other types of air conditioners and other motor-driven appliances have larger electrical ratings, see Power Apparatus. 

 

9. Power Apparatus:  For motors, generators, transformers, rectifiers, synchronous converters, capacitors, industrial heating, air conditioners and 

heat pumps, cooking or baking equipment and other apparatus, as follows: 

 

 Rating in horsepower (HP), kilowatts (KW), kilovolt-amperes (KVA), or kilovolt-amperes reactive (KVAR): 

 

 Up to and including    10, each…………………………………………………………………………………………………………….….$21.49 

 Over 10 and not over  50, each…………………………………………………………………………………………………………………30.32 

 Over 50 and not over 100, each……………………………………………………………………………………………………………….. 62.01 

 Over 100, each………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….92.88 

 

 Note: a. For equipment or appliances having more than one motor, transformer, heater, etc., the sum of the combined ratings may be used. 

 

 b. These fees include all switches, circuit breakers, contractors, thermostats, relays and other directly related control equipment. 

 

10. Services:  For services of six hundred volts or less and not over two hundred amperes in rating, 

each…………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………$39.17 

 For services of six hundred volts or less and over two hundred amperes to one thousand amperes in rating, 

each………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………....$75.86 

 For services over six hundred volts or over one thousand amperes in rating,   

 each…….………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….$152.97 

 

 Note:  This fee is not applicable when a fee is paid for one or more services, outlets, fixtures, appliances, power apparatus, bus ways, 

signs or other equipment. 

 

11. Option to Permitting Commercial Work under $300.00 Per Job Cost.  As an option to individual permits for work $300.00 or under, 

total electrical job cost, a licensed electrical contractor may purchase an annual permit to cover all jobs of this description for the 

calendar year.  The cost of this permit shall be ……………………..……………………………………………………………$409.67 

 

Other Inspections and Fees: 

 

12. Inspections outside of normal business hours 

 (minimum charge – two hours) …………………………………………………………...……………Actual Cost to the Jurisdiction 

 

13. **Reinspections:  A reinspection fee may be assessed for each inspection or reinspection when such portion of work for which 

inspection is called is not complete or when corrections called for are not made (minimum charge – one half hour)………...$62.62/hr 

 

14 Inspections for which no fee is specifically indicated…...………….(minimum charge – one half hour)…..……….……...…$62.62hr 

 

15. Additional plan review required by changes, additions or revisions to approve plans (minimum charge - one half  

hour)………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………..…...$62.62/hr 

 

 

 *   Includes a maximum of three (3) inspections. 

 

 ** This provision is not to be interpreted as requiring reinspection fees the first time a job is rejected for failure to comply with the 

requirements of this code, but as controlling the practice of calling for inspections before the job is ready for such inspection or 

reinspection. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

              

        

 

 
 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 92 of 284                                     Attachment # 2



Title 17 - LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE 

Chapter 60 SIGN CODE 

 Great Falls , Montana, Code of Ordinances Page 1 

SIGN FEES                

 

 

 

Sign Electrician/Journeymen Certificate (annual)……………………………………………..………...$ 15.00 

 

Sign Electrician Certificate - Class A License………………………………………………………………..$150.00 

 

Sign Examination Application Fee………………………………………………………………………..……..$ 50.00 

 

Sign Permit Fees   0 – 24 Sq. Ft………………………………………………………………….………………..$ 38.78 

                25 Sq. Ft. or more is $38.78 plus………………………………………………….……………….$ 1.62 sq ft 

Reface Sign Permit/Inspection: existing permitted sign flat fee.....................................$ 65.90 

 

Sign Electrical Inspection Fee .…………………………………………………………………………………..$ 38.78 

 

Bench Signs/Transit Shelter (annual)……………………………………………………………….……...…..$ 77.55 

 

Bench Signs – One Time Design Review Fee………………………………………………………….……..$ 32.31 

 

A-Type Sandwich Board Signs (annual)………………………………………………………………….……..$ 64.62 

 

On-Premise Temporary Sign – 60 day permit………………………………………………..…….……….$ 32.31 

                                                      Annual permit……………………………………………………….……..$129.24 

 

Central Avenue Banner/BNSF Underpasses – 30 Day Maximum……..……………………..…..$ 64.62 

 

 

 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 93 of 284                                     Attachment # 2



    HOUSE MOVING   (8/7/18) 

 

 

Can be issued only to licensed house mover. 

 

Application signed by appropriate utilities and departments. 

 

Fee: 

Structures less than 14’ wide less than 22’ length less than 14’ high - $33.35 

Structures 14’ to 26’ wide 22’ to 35’ length 14’ to 20’ high - $66.57 

Structures 26’ wide & over 36’ length & over 20’ high - $133.11 

 

If any one measurement of the building exceeds maximum given in any one fee schedule, the fee shall 

be determined by the next larger schedule. 

 

If structure is relocated within city limits, building permit must be obtained for the foundation. 

 

If structure is to be moved out of City limits, a demolition permit is required for removal of old 

foundation.  Inspections are required and utilities must be shut off at original site. 

 

Copy to contractor  

Copy in Today’s slot. 

Copy in property file. 

 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 94 of 284                                     Attachment # 2



Agenda # 22.
Commission Meeting Date: August 7, 2018

City of Great Falls
Commission Agenda Report

Item: Public Hearing - Resolution 10253 to annex Sky-line Addition Lots 1A, 2A, 3-5. and 6A; Tract 2
of Certificate of Survey #5150; and the adjoining right-of-way of Skyline Dr NW, Ordinance 3191 to
establish R-2 Single-family Medium Density zoning for the subject properties located in the SW1/4
NW1/4 Section 35, Township 21 North, Range 3 East, PMM, Cascade County, Montana.

From: Erin Borland, Planner II, Planning and Community Development

Initiated By: The property owners of 304, 308, 312, 314, 404, and 408 Skyline Drive NW and Dave
Juelfs

Presented By: Craig Raymond, Director, Planning and Community Development

Action Requested: City Commission (adopt/deny) Resolution 10253, (adopt/deny) Ordinance 3191,
approve the Improvement Agreements, and the Findings of Fact.

Public Hearing:
1. Mayor conducts public hearing, calling three times each for proponents and opponents.
 
2. Mayor closes public hearing and asks the will of the Commission.

Suggested Motion:
Commissioner moves:

 
I. "I move that the City Commission (adopt/deny) Resolution 10253 to annex Sky-line Addition
Lots 1A, 2A, 3-5 and 6A; Tract 2 of Certificate of Survey #5150; and the adjoining right-of-way of
Skyline Drive NW, (approve/deny) the Improvement Agreements pertaining to the subject
properties and the accompanying Finding of Fact.
 

Mayor requests a second to the motion, Commission discussion and calls for the vote.
 
and;
 

II. "I move that the City Commission (adopt/deny) Ordinance 3191 and the accompanying Finding
of Fact."
 

Mayor requests a second to the motion, Commission discussion and calls for the vote

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 95 of 284                                     



Staff Recommendation:
Staff recommends approval of the proposed annexation and the establishment of the R-2 Single-family
medium density zoning for the subject properties, subject to the stated conditions.
 
Conditions of Approval for Annexation:
 
1. General Code Compliance. Development of the Subject Properties shall be consistent with the
conditions in this report, and all codes and ordinances of the City of Great Falls, the State of Montana,
and all other applicable regulatory agencies.
 
2. Annexation Improvement Agreement.  Each applicant shall execute and abide by the terms and
conditions of their Annexation Improvement Agreement for the Subject Properties. Said Annexation
Improvement Agreements must be signed by the applicant and will be recorded by the City. All
applicable fees shall be paid.
 
At the conclusion of a public hea ing held on June 12  2018, the Zoning Comm ssion recommended the
City Commission approve the establishment of R-2 Single-family medium density zoning for the subject
properties.
 

Summary:
There are currently six residential properties located on the south side of Skyline Drive NW that are
legally described as Sky-line Addition Lots 1A, 2A, 3-5, and 6A.  These six lots have been connected to
a 2" water line that provided the properties with City water even though the properties are located in the
County. This service line had multiple failures in the past and was made of a material that is no longer
used by the City of Great Falls. The line was allowed to be repaired one last time in 2013. At that time,
the property owners were informed that the City would not repair the noncomplying line in the future. 
 
At the beginning of 2017, the Public Works Department noticed that the water line was leaking
significantly, and the City reached out to the property owners to start the conversation about annexation
and installation of separate service lines. The City met with the owners to explain the process and the
costs involved with the improvements. Staff informed the property owners that it would be more feasible
financially for all the property owners to petition to annex at the same time. At that time, a seventh
property owner to the north of Skyline Drive NW was informed of the annexation and decided to petition
to annex a vacant parcel of land in order to build a new single-family home.
 
Public Notice for the City Commission Public Hearing was published in the Great Falls Tribune
on July 22, 2018. To date, Staff has received numerous phone calls requesting general information
regarding the annexation/zoning petition.

Background:
Annexation Request:
The subject properties proposed for annexation are legally described as Sky-line Addition Lots 1A, 2A
3-5 and 6A; Tract 2 of Certificate of Survey #5150, and the adjoining right-of-way of Skyline Drive
NW.  For reference, the amended plats of Sky-Line Addition and the Certificate of Survey have been
attached.  As stated previously, the property owners on the south side of the street have petitioned to
annex into the City in order to receive water service to their existing homes, while the owner north of the
street requires annexation because of his desire for new water and sewer service accompanying the
construction of a new home.

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 96 of 284                                     



 
The basis for decision on annexation is listed in Official Code of the City of Great Falls §17.16.7.050 of
the Land Development Code. The recommendation of the Planning Advisory Board and the decision of
City Commission shall at a minimum consider the criteria which are attached as Findings of Fact -
Annexation.
 
Establishment of Zoning:
The subject properties of the annexation all have single-family residences that are proposed to have R-2
Single-family medium density zoning. Although the lots are larger than normal, this zoning category was
selected because it best fits existing residential areas of the City located to the east and south of
the annexation area. 
 
The basis for decision on zoning map amendments is listed in OCCGF §17.16.40.030. The
recommendation of the Zoning Commission and the decision of City Commission shall at a minimum
consider the criteria which are attached as Findings of Fact  Zoning Map Amendment.
 
Improvements:
Roadways - At the proposed annexation location, Skyline Drive NW is currently in the County and not
built to City standards.  If the petition to annex the seven properties and the adjoining right-of-way is
approved, the property owners are required to pay the fee specified in the attached Annexation
Improvement Agreements in order to bring the road up to current City Standards. For the south side
of the street, improvements to be constructed by the City will include a boulevard style sidewalk, a new
driveway connection, fire hydrants, and relocating of mailboxes.  Because the property to the north is a
vacant parcel and the property owner is proposing new development, the fee associated with the
roadway improvements will only cover the construction of the roadway.  All other improvements,
including the sidewalk and driveway connection, are the responsibility of the property owner at the time
of construction of the single-family home.
 
Water Service - The six properties to the south of Skyline Drive NW have now implemented
connections to the existing water main located in Skyline Drive, per a previous written agreement with
the City of Great Falls Public Works Department that was executed in August 2017.  The property to the
north will be required to connect to the existing water main located in Skyline Drive NW as part of the
development of the property.
 
Sewer Service - Due to the unique situation of this annexation of the six properties to the south of
Skyline Drive NW, the City will allow the existing drainfield or septic tanks that serve the properties to
remain until they fail. At the time of failure, the property owners are required to abandon the drainfield
or septic tank per the abandonment procedure of the Cascade City-County Health Department and
comply with sanitary treatment requirements of the City.  The property owners will connect to the
existing 8-inch diameter sewer main on City property to the South of the Subject Property.  The owner of
lot 2A has already voluntarily connected to the sewer service per agreement with the City of Great Falls
Public Works Department. The property to the north is required to extend a new sewer main within the
Skyline Drive right-of-way consistent with City standards. Said sewer main shall be extended to the
western property line and constructed in accordance with City standards.
 
Neighborhood Council Input:
The subject properties are located adjacent to Neighborhood Council #3.  Information was sent out to
the Council's representatives on May 25, 2018. To date there has only been one inquiry regarding the
request.

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 97 of 284                                     



Fiscal Impact:
Services will be provided by the City, and the cost of infrastructure improvements will be borne by the
property owners per the agreed upon terms of the Annexation Improvement Agreements.  The annexation
will extend the City limits to include seven more properties, which will increase the City's tax base and
increase revenue. More specifically, the owners are contributing to City upgrades of Skyline Drive and
will be responsible for the cost of future sewer connections.
 

Alternatives:
If there are justifiable reasons to do so, the City Commission could deny the requested action to the
extent allowed in City Code and State Statute. If the City Commission choses to do deny the request, it
must set forth separate findings of fact in support of such denial. 
 
If there is a denial, the affected property owners will be required to disconnect from the City water main,
as set forth in the August 2017 Letter Agreement.

Concurrences:
Representatives from the City’s Public Works and Engineering Departments have been extensively
involved throughout the review and approval process for this project. Both departments concur with the
proposed annexation as well as how infrastructure requirements have been addressed. 

ATTACHMENTS:

Resolution 10253
Resolution 10253 - Exhibit A
Findings of Fact - Annexation
Ordinance 3191
Findings of Fact - Zoning Map Amendment
Aerial Map
Zoning Map
Certificate of Survey 5150
Sky-Line Addition Plat
Sky-Line Addition, Block 1, Lot 1&2
Improvement Agreement - Lot 1A
Improvement Agreement - Lot 2A
Improvement Agreement - Lot 3
Improvement Agreement - Lot 4
Improvement Agreement - Lot 5
Improvement Agreement - Lot 6A
Improvement Agreement - Tract 2

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 98 of 284                                     



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

RESOLUTION 10253 

 

A RESOLUTION BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY 

OF GREAT FALLS, MONTANA, TO EXTEND THE 

BOUNDARIES OF THE CITY OF GREAT FALLS TO 

INCLUDE SKY-LINE ADDITION LOTS 1A, 2A, 3-5, AND 6A; 

TRACT 2 OF CERTIFICATE OF SURVEY #5150, AND THE 

ADJOINING RIGHT-OF-WAY OF SKYLINE DRIVE NW, 

LOCATED IN THE SW1/4 NW1/4 SECTION 35, TOWNSHIP 21 

NORTH, RANGE 3 EAST, PMM, CASCADE COUNTY, 

MONTANA, IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE PROVISION OF 

SECTION 7-2-4601, MONTANA CODE ANNOTATED. 

 

* * * * * * * * * * 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Great Falls is a city incorporated under the laws of the 

State of Montana, and having a population of more than ten thousand (10,000) is a city of 

the first class; and 

 

WHEREAS, there is contiguous to said City, but without the boundaries thereof, 

a certain tract of land situated in the County of Cascade, State of Montana, and described 

as follows: 

 

 Sky-line Addition Lots 1A, 2A, 3-5 and 6A; Tract 2 of Certificate of Survey 

#5150; and the adjoining right-of-way of Skyline Drive NW located in the 

SW1/4 NW1/4 Section 35, Township 21 North, Range 3 East, PMM, Cascade 

County, Montana;  

 

all as shown on the map attached hereto marked Attachment “A”, and by this reference 

made a part hereof; and 

 

 WHEREAS, Section 7-2-4601, Montana Code Annotated, provides that 

whenever the owners of real property contiguous to any incorporated city of the first class 

petition to have said property made a part of the municipal corporation, such lands may 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 99 of 284                                     Attachment # 1



be embraced within the corporate limits thereof and the boundaries of such city of the 

first class extended so as to include the same; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the owners of the hereinabove described properties have submitted 

a petition to have the subject property annexed to the City of Great Falls; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City Commission finds that it is to the best interest of the City of 

Great Falls and its inhabitants to proceed with the incorporation of said territory into the 

City of Great Falls; and 

 

 WHEREAS, all of the proceedings herein have been conducted in strict 

compliance with and in conformity to the laws of the Montana Code Annotated, Title 7, 

Chapter 2, Part 46, Annexation by Petition, and all conditions, acts, and actions required 

to be performed precedent to and in the passage and adoption of this resolution have been 

properly and legally done, and performed. 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COMMISSION 

OF THE CITY OF GREAT FALLS, MONTANA: 

 

 That the boundaries of the City of Great Falls, Montana, be, and the same are 

hereby extended so as to embrace and include within the corporate limits of said city, all 

of the land hereinabove described, included as: “Sky-line Addition Lots 1A, 2A, 3-5 and 

6A; Tract 2 of Certificate of Survey #5150; and the adjoining right-of-way of Skyline 

Drive NW located in the SW1/4 NW1/4 Section 35, Township 21 North, Range 3 East, 

PMM, Cascade County, Montana,” as shown on attached Attachment “A.” 

 

 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE 

CITY OF GREAT FALLS, MONTANA: 

 

 That the Cascade County Clerk and Recorder is hereby authorized and directed to 

change the appropriate boundaries of the City of Great Falls, Montana, to include said 

tract of land; and 

 

 That this Resolution shall become effective from and after the date of the filing of 

said document in the office of the Cascade County Clerk and Recorder. 

 

 PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Commission of the City of Great Falls, 

Montana, on this 7th day of August, 2018. 

 

 

     Bob Kelly, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

 

__________________________ 

  Darcy Dea, Deputy City Clerk 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 100 of 284                                     Attachment # 1



 

 

 

 (SEAL OF CITY) 

 

 

APPROVED FOR LEGAL CONTENT: 

 

 

  Sara R. Sexe, City Attorney 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 101 of 284                                     Attachment # 1



City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 102 of 284                                     Attachment # 2



1 

 

FINDINGS OF FACT – ANNEXATION 

 

Sky-line Addition Lots 1A, 2A 3-5 and 6A; Tract 2 of Certificate of Survey #5150; and, the 

adjoining right-of-way of Skyline Dr NW located in the SW1/4 NW1/4 Section 35, T21N, R3E 

PMM, Cascade County, Montana. 

 

PRIMARY REVIEW CRITERIA: 

The basis for decision on annexation is listed in Official Code of the City of Great Falls 

§17.16.7.050 of the Land Development Code. The recommendation of the Planning Advisory 

Board and the decision of City Commission shall at a minimum consider the following criteria: 

 

1. The subject property is contiguous to the existing City limits.  

The subject properties are contiguous to the existing City limits, with previously annexed 

property being present to the south and east of the proposed annexation area. 

 

2. The proposed annexation is consistent with the City's growth policy.  

The proposed annexation is consistent with the overall intent and purpose of the 2013 City 

Growth Policy Update. Additionally the annexation specifically supports the following policies: 
 

Soc1.4.12 When annexing land for residential development, consider the timing, phasing and 

connectivity of housing and infrastructure development. 

 

Phy4.2.5      Promote orderly development and the rational extension of infrastructure and City services. 

 

Phy4.3.2     Plan for the provision of appropriate infrastructure improvements, where needed, to 

support development. 

 

3. The proposed annexation is consistent with applicable neighborhood plans, if any.  

Great Falls is separated into nine Neighborhood Councils.  There are no adopted Neighborhood 

Plans for any of the Councils within the City.  The subject properties are located in 

Neighborhood Council #3.  Information was sent out to the Council's representatives on May 

25, 2018. No comments have been received. 

 

4. The proposed annexation is consistent with other planning documents adopted by the 

City Commission, including a river corridor plan, transportation plan, and sub-area plans. 

The subject property does not lie within any adopted plan or sub-area planning areas. The 

proposed improvements for Skyline Drive are consistent with City transportation planning 

documents. 

  

5. The City has, or will have, the capacity to provide public services to the subject property. 

The subject properties to the south of Skyline Dr NW have connected to the existing water main 

located in Skyline Drive NW per a previous August 2017 written agreement with the City of 

Great Falls Public Works Department.  These properties currently operate with an existing 

drainfield or septic tank.  At the request of the residents, the City will allow the existing 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 103 of 284                                     Attachment # 3



2 

 

drainfield or septic tanks to remain until they fail.  At such time, they will be required to 

connect to the existing sewer main to the south of the property. The property to the north of 

Skyline Dr NW will connect to the existing water main and will be required to extend the sewer 

main in Skyline Dr NW.  The City Public Works Department has verified that the capacity is 

adequate to provide these services. 

  

6. The subject property has been or will be improved to City standards.  

The adjoining right-of-way of Skyline Dr NW is proposed to be annexed with this petition.  The  

City is requiring the road to be upgraded to City standards, and the subject properties will pay a 

contribution to this improvement project as outlined in the property owner Annexation 

Improvement Agreement. The City will contract for the road project and absorb costs as well. 

The individual properties don’t all comply with City zoning standards, but previous 

development activities were regulated under Cascade County zoning jurisdiction. 

 

7. The owner(s) of the subject property will bear all of the cost of improving the property to 

City standards and or/ the owner(s) has signed an agreement waiving the right of protest 

to the creation of a special improvement district created to pay, in whole or in part, any 

necessary improvement.  

An Improvement Agreement for each property has been drafted outlining the responsibilities 

and proportionate shares of costs for various improvements.  Several Agreements have been 

attached to the report. These Agreements all address special improvement districts. 

 

8. The subject property has been or will be surveyed and officially recorded with the County 

Clerk and Recorder.  

The subject properties have been surveyed and recorded prior to this petition.  The Certificate 

of Survey and the various amended plats of Sky-line Addition are on file with the County Clerk 

and Recorder. 

 

9. The City will provide both water and sewer service to each of the uses in the subject 

property that may require potable water and waste water treatment and disposal.  

Public improvements for City water and City sewer services have been addressed in the 

attached Improvement Agreements. 

 

10. The subject property is not located in an area the City Commission has designated as 

unsuitable for annexation.  

The subject property is not located in an area the City Commission has designated as unsuitable 

for annexation. 

 

11. The subject property is not located in another city or town. (See: 7-2-4608 (1), MCA)  

The subject property is not located in another city or town.   

 

 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 104 of 284                                     Attachment # 3



3 

 

12. The subject property is not used in whole or in part for agriculture, mining, smelting, 

refining, transportation, or any other industrial or manufacturing purpose or any purpose 

incidental thereto. (See: 7-2-4608 (2), MCA) 

The subject property is not used for the uses listed above. The properties to the south of 

Skyline Dr NW are existing residences, and the property to the north is vacant land that is 

proposed for a new single-family residence. 

 

 

 

 

 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 105 of 284                                     Attachment # 3



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ORDINANCE 3191 

 

AN ORDINANCE BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF GREAT 

FALLS ASSIGNING A ZONING CLASSIFICATION OF R-2 SINGLE-

FAMILY MEDIUM DENSITY DISTRICT TO THE PROPERTIES LEGALLY 

DESCRIBED AS: SKY-LINE ADDITION LOTS 1A, 2A, 3-5 AND 6A; TRACT 

2 OF CERTIFICATE OF SURVEY #5150; AND THE ADJOINING RIGHT-OF-

WAY OF SKYLINE DR NW LOCATED IN THE SW1/4 NW1/4 OF SECTION 

35, TOWNSHIP 21 NORTH, RANGE 4 EAST, P.M.M. MT, CASCADE 

COUNTY, MONTANA 

 

* * * * * * * * * *  
  

 WHEREAS, Bishop Living Trust, Robert and Barbara Butcher, Bill and Heide Steele, 

Dave Juelfs, Brian and Pauline Burks, David and Sherrie Stanton, and Lyle Stanton are the 

owners of record and have petitioned the City of Great Falls to annex the subject properties, 

consisting of ±6.944 acres, as legally described above; and, 

 

WHEREAS, Bishop Living Trust, Robert and Barbara Butcher, Bill and Heide Steele, 

Dave Juelfs, Brian and Pauline Burks, David and Sherrie Stanton, and Lyle Stanton have 

petitioned said properties to be assigned a City zoning classification of R-2 Single-family 

medium density district, upon annexation to City; and, 

 

 WHEREAS, notice of assigning said zoning classification to the subject property was 

published in the Great Falls Tribune advising that a public hearing on this zoning designation 

would be held on the 7th day of August, 2018, before final passage of said Ordinance herein; 

and, 

 

 WHEREAS, following said public hearing, it was found and decided that said zoning 

designation be made; and, 

 

WHEREAS, the zoning map amendment on said property meets the Basis of Decision 

requirements in the Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Section 17.16.40.030; and, 
  

WHEREAS, the Great Falls Zoning Commission conducted a public hearing on June 12, 

2018, to consider said zoning and at the conclusion of said hearing passed a motion 

recommending the City Commission zone the property legally described as Sky-line Addition 

Lots 1A, 2A, 3-5 and 6A; Tract 2 of Certificate of Survey #5150; and, the adjoining right-of-way 

of Skyline Dr NW;  located in the SW1/4 NW1/4 of Section 35 Township 21 North, Range 3 

East, P.M. MT, Cascade County, Montana to R-2 Single-family medium density district. 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 106 of 284                                     Attachment # 4



NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF GREAT 

FALLS, MONTANA: 

 

 Section 1. It is determined that the herein requested zoning assignment will meet the 

criteria and guidelines cited in Section 76-2-304 Montana Code Annotated, and Section 

17.16.40.030 of the Land Development Code of the City of Great Falls.  

 

 Section 2. That the property legally described as: Sky-line Addition Lots 1A, 2A, 3-5 and 

6A; Tract 2 of Certificate of Survey #5150; and, the adjoining right-of-way of Skyline Dr NW;  

located in the SW1/4 NW1/4 of Section 35 Township 21 North, Range 3 East, P.M. MT, 

Cascade County, Montana, be designated as R-2 Single-family medium density district. 

 

 Section 3. This ordinance shall be in full force and effect thirty (30) days after its  

passage and adoption by the City Commission. 

 

 ACCEPTED by the City Commission of the City of Great Falls, Montana on first reading 

July 3, 2018. 

  

 ADOPTED by the City Commission of the City of Great Falls, Montana on second 

reading August 7, 2018. 

 

 

 Bob Kelly, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

Darcy Dea, Deputy City Clerk 

 

 

(SEAL OF CITY) 

 

 

APPROVED FOR LEGAL CONTENT: 

 

 

 

Sara Sexe, City Attorney 

 

 

State of Montana ) 

County of Cascade : ss 

City of Great Falls ) 

 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 107 of 284                                     Attachment # 4



 I, Darcy Dea, Deputy City Clerk of the City of Great Falls, Montana, do certify that I did 

post as required by law and as prescribed and directed by the Commission, Ordinance 3191 on 

the Great Falls Civic Center posting board and the Great Falls City website. 

 

 

   

 Darcy Dea, Deputy City Clerk 

(CITY SEAL) 

 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 108 of 284                                     Attachment # 4



1 

 

FINDINGS OF FACT – ZONING MAP AMENDMENT 

 

Sky-line Addition Lots 1A, 2A 3-5 and 6A; Tract 2 of Certificate of Survey #5150; and, the 

adjoining right-of-way of Skyline Dr NW located in the SW1/4 NW1/4 Section 35, T21N, R3E 

PMM, Cascade County, Montana. 

 

PRIMARY REVIEW CRITERIA: 

The basis for decision on zoning map amendments is listed in Official Code of the City of Great 

Falls §17.16.40.030 of the Land Development Code. The recommendation of the Zoning 

Commission and the decision of City Commission shall at a minimum consider the following 

criteria: 

 

1.  The amendment is consistent with and furthers the intent of the City's growth policy. 

The proposed zoning assignment of R-2 Single-family medium density is consistent with the 

overall intent and purpose of the 2013 City Growth Policy Update. Additionally the policies that 

this establishment of zoning is consistent with include: 

 

Social - Housing 

Soc1.4.12 When annexing land for residential development, consider the timing, phasing and 

connectivity of housing and infrastructure development. 

 

Physical - Land Use 

Phy4.2.5      Promote orderly development and the rational extension of infrastructure and City services. 

 

Phy4.3.2     Plan for the provision of appropriate infrastructure improvements, where needed, to 

support development. 

 

The Growth Policy identifies that Great Falls embodies balanced, compatible growth; the 

approval of the annexation with the establishment of R-2 zoning will create balanced growth 

that is compatible with the adjacent properties as well as carry out the vision of the adjacent 

zoning districts surrounding the property. 

 

2. The amendment is consistent with and furthers adopted neighborhood plans, if any. 

Great Falls is separated into nine Neighborhood Councils.  There are no adopted Neighborhood 

Plans for any of the Councils within the City.  The subject property is located in Neighborhood 

Council #3.  Information was sent out to the Council's representatives on May 25, 2018. No 

concerns about the R-2 zoning assignment have expressed. 

 

3. The amendment is consistent with other planning documents adopted by the City 

Commission, including the river corridor plan, transportation plan and sub-area plans. 

The subject property does not lie within any adopted planning or sub-area planning areas. 

 

4.  The code with the amendment is internally consistent. 

The proposed establishment of zoning not in conflict with any portion of the existing City Code 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 109 of 284                                     Attachment # 5



2 

 

and will be consistent with the adjacent existing zoning.  The existing single-family homes as 

well as the proposed single-family home will fit in with the context of the neighborhood based 

on the surrounding single family homes adjacent to the property. The proposal will not be 

injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the immediate vicinity, nor 

substantially diminish and impair property values in the neighborhood. 

 

5. The amendment is the least restrictive approach to address issues of public health, safety, 

and welfare. 

There are no existing public health, safety, or welfare issues that have been identified for these 

properties. The long-standing water service issue has been addressed with connections to the 

water main. Sewer service will be phased in as existing drainfields no longer become viable.  

The zoning assignment has no impact on these issues.  

 

6.  The City has or will have the financial and staffing capability to administer and enforce the 

amendment. 

The City has the financial and staffing capability to enforce the amendment if it is approved. A 

small number of lots are largely built-out are affected by the new zoning designation. 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 110 of 284                                     Attachment # 5









City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 114 of 284                                     Attachment # 9





1 
 

 

 

ANNEXATION IMPROVEMENT AGREEMENT 

SKYLINE ADDITION, BLOCK 1, LOT 1A  
LOCATED IN THE SW ¼ NW ¼ OF SECTION 35, TOWNSHIP 21 N, 

RANGE 3 E, P.M.M., CASCADE COUNTY, MONTANA 
 

The following is a binding Agreement dated this ______ day of ____________, 2018, 
between the William G. & Heide B Steele, of 408 Skyline Drive NW, Great Falls, MT 59404, 
hereinafter referred to as “Owner,” and the City of Great Falls, Montana, a municipal 
corporation of the State of Montana, hereinafter referred to as “City”, regarding the 
requirements for annexation of a tract of land described as Skyline Addition, Block 1, Lot 1A 
located in the SW ¼ NW ¼ of Section 35, Township 21 North, Range 3 East, P.M.M. Cascade, 
County, Montana, hereinafter referred to as “Subject Property”. Owner of the 
aforementioned Subject Property agrees to and is bound by the provisions of this 
Agreement, and by signing this Agreement therefore agrees to terms herein applicable to 
the Subject Property.   
 

1. Supporting Documents.  
A.  Legal documents, including but not limited to any easements, articles of incorporation, 

bylaws, covenants, and declarations establishing the responsibilities of Owner recorded 
in the Clerk and Recorder’s Office of Cascade County, Montana. 

 
2. City Fees and Charges.  

A. Owner shall pay the following fees as provided by City policy and resolution: 
a. Storm Drain Fee ($250/acre x 0.8 acres)    $200.00 
b. Recording fees for Annexation Agreement and Resolution 

($11 per page x 3 pages)      $33.00 

  _________________________________________________________________ 
  

  Total Fees paid by applicant to City:    $233.00 

Fees paid by applicant are in addition to the $500 application fee for Annexation and $2,000 
for Zoning Map Amendment, which have been split between the seven property owners 
and have been paid prior to this Annexation Agreement. 

B.  The total fees summarized in Section A above shall be paid to the City no later than 
thirty (30) calendar days after City Commission action to annex the Subject Property into 
the City. 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 116 of 284                                     Attachment # 11



2 
 

C. The absence of any fee from this Agreement which is lawfully charged by the City in 
connection with construction activity associated with Subject Property shall not 
constitute a waiver by the City. 

 
3.  Public Improvements  

A. Street Improvements 

1. The Owner hereby agrees to pay a lump sum contribution of $18,000.00 

towards the reconstruction of Skyline Drive to City standards to be 

undertaken by the City of Great Falls Public Works Department.  The 

reconstruction will include street widening and paving, curb and gutter, 

mailbox relocation, driveway connection within the public right-of-way, 

sidewalk, and fire hydrant installation.   

2. The amount due in Section 3.A.1 above shall be paid within 30 days of the 

award of the bid by the City of Great Falls for the reconstruction of Skyline 

Drive. 

B. Water Improvements 

1. To serve the Subject Property, the Owner has connected to the existing 

water main located in Skyline Drive, per a previous written agreement with 

the City of Great Falls Public Works Department that was received August 

2017, and Owner owes no reimbursement for the main. 

C. Sewer Improvements 

1. At the time of the failure of the existing drainfield or septic tank, the Owner 

is required to abandon the drainfield or septic tank per the Cascade County 

Health Department and City of Great Falls requirements. Per the Amended 

Plat of Lots 1 and 2, of the Skyline Addition the existing drainfield is located 

in a temporary easement on Lot 2A. 

2. The Owner hereby agrees, when the existing drainfield or septic tank fails, to 

connect to the existing 8-inch diameter sewer main on City property to the 

South of the Subject Property which will require an easement from the City. 

This connection will require no fee reimbursement to the City. The sewer 

connection fee and inspection fee in effect at the time the connection is 

made shall be paid by the Owner. The easement will meet all City 

requirements. Per the Amended Plat of Lots 1 and 2, of the Skyline Addition, 

the drainfield serving Lot 1A is located within a drainfield easement on Lot 

2A. 

3. Should the Subject Property connect to a sewer main within the Skyline Drive 

right-of-way, the owner shall be responsible for extending the main and shall 

pay any applicable reimbursement fees. 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 117 of 284                                     Attachment # 11



3 
 

4. At any time after the recording of this Agreement, the Owner is allowed to 

connect to City sewer and abandon their existing drainfield or septic tank. 

4.  Site Conditions. 
The Owner warrants that it has conducted site investigations sufficient to be aware of all 
natural conditions, including, but not limited to, flooding, slopes, and soils characteristics, 
that may affect the installation of improvements upon the Subject Property and its 
development for the approved use. The Owner further warrants that all plans submitted 
pursuant to this Agreement and all applications for building permits upon the Subject 
Property will properly account for all such conditions. The Owner holds the City harmless for 
natural conditions and for any faults in their own assessment of those conditions. 

 
5. Maintenance Districts.  

Owner hereby agrees to waive its right to protest and appeal the lawful creation by City of 
maintenance districts for any proper purpose including but not limited to fire hydrant, 
lighting and street maintenance, and shall pay the proportionate share of the costs 
associated with said maintenance districts as they may be applied to the Subject Parcel.  
This includes existing districts which may be extended or expanded to include the Subject 
Parcel. 

 
6.  Public Roadway Lighting. 

Owner hereby agrees to continue to participate in the lighting district for public roadway 
lighting facilities that service the Subject Property. A lighting district to serve the properties 
on Skyline Dr NW will be established. 

 
7. Warranty, Ownership and Inspection of Public Improvements.  

Installation of any public improvement required for the Subject Property shall be subject to 
the City’s inspection policy in place at the time of installation.  

 
8. City Acceptance and Zoning.  

In consideration of the terms of this Agreement, the City hereby accepts a tract of land 
described as Skyline Addition, Block 1, Lot 1A located in the SW ¼ NW ¼ of Section 35, 
Township 21 North, Range 3 East, P.M.M. Cascade, County, Montana for incorporation by 
annexation into the corporate limits of the City of Great Falls, Montana, with an assigned 
zoning classification of R-2 Single-family Medium Density. 

 
9. Indemnification.   
 The Owner shall indemnify, hold harmless and defend the City of Great Falls, its officers, 

agents, servants and employees and assigns from and against all claims, debts, liabilities, 
fines, penalties, obligations and costs including reasonable attorney fees, that arise from, 
result from or relate to obligations relating to that owner’s property described herein. Upon 
the transfer of ownership of property, the prior owner’s (whether it is the Owner that 
signed this agreement or a subsequent owner) indemnity obligation herein for the 
transferred property is released as to that owner and the indemnity obligation runs to the 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 118 of 284                                     Attachment # 11



4 
 

new owner of the property.  Only the owner of the parcel of property at the time the City 
incurs the claim, debt, liability, fine, penalty, obligation or cost is obligated to indemnify, 
and no owner of property is obligated to indemnify for adverse conditions on property 
owned by someone else.  This indemnification by the owner of the property shall apply 
unless such damage or injury results from the gross negligence or willful misconduct of the 
City. 

 
10. Binding Effect.  

The provisions, covenants, and terms of this Agreement shall run with the land and bind the 
present owners, their devisees, heirs, successors, and assigns; and any and all parties 
claiming by, through, or under them, shall be taken to agree and covenant with each of the 
parties to the Agreement, their devisees, heirs, successors and assigns, to conform to the 
provisions, covenants and terms of this Agreement.  

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have set their hands and seal the day, month and 
year first hereinabove written. 

 

THE CITY OF GREAT FALLS, MONTANA 

A Municipal Corporation of the State of Montana 

________________________________________ 

Gregory T. Doyon, City Manager 

 

ATTEST: 

 

______________________________ 

Lisa Kunz, City Clerk 

 

 

(Seal of City) 

 

APPROVED FOR LEGAL CONTENT*: 

 

 

_____________________________ 

Sara R. Sexe, City Attorney 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 119 of 284                                     Attachment # 11



5 
 

*By law, the City Attorney may only advise or approve contract or legal document language on 

behalf of the City of Great Falls, and not on behalf of other parties.  Review and approval of this 

document was conducted solely from the legal perspective, and for the benefit, of the City of 

Great Falls. Other parties should not rely on this approval and should seek review and approval 

by their own respective counsel. 

  OWNERS 

                                              

________________________________ 

William G. Steele 

                                              

________________________________ 

Heide B. Steele 

 

 

State of ___________  ) 

      :ss. 

County of ___________ ) 

 

On this _________ day of ____________, in the year ____________, before me, the undersigned, a 

Notary Public for the State of ______________, personally appeared ____________________, known to 

me to the persons whose names are subscribed to the instrument within and acknowledged to me that 

they executed the same. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my Notarial Seal the day and year first 

above written. 

 

________________________________________ 

  Notary Public for the State of ____________ 

        

 (NOTARIAL SEAL) 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 120 of 284                                     Attachment # 11



1 
 

 

 

ANNEXATION IMPROVEMENT AGREEMENT 

SKYLINE ADDITION, BLOCK 1, LOT 2A  
LOCATED IN THE SW ¼ NW ¼ OF SECTION 35, TOWNSHIP 21 N, 

RANGE 3 E, P.M.M., CASCADE COUNTY, MONTANA 
 

The following is a binding Agreement dated this ______ day of ____________, 2018, 
between the Robert A. & Barbara A Butcher, of 404 Skyline Drive NW, Great Falls, MT 
59404, hereinafter referred to as “Owner,” and the City of Great Falls, Montana, a municipal 
corporation of the State of Montana, hereinafter referred to as “City”, regarding the 
requirements for annexation of a tract of land described as Skyline Addition, Block 1, Lot 2A 
located in the SW ¼ NW ¼ of Section 35, Township 21 North, Range 3 East, P.M.M. Cascade, 
County, Montana, hereinafter referred to as “Subject Property”. Owner of the 
aforementioned Subject Property agrees to and is bound by the provisions of this 
Agreement, and by signing this Agreement therefore agrees to terms herein applicable to 
the Subject Property.   
 

1. Supporting Documents.  
A.  Legal documents, including but not limited to any easements, articles of incorporation, 

bylaws, covenants, and declarations establishing the responsibilities of Owner recorded 
in the Clerk and Recorder’s Office of Cascade County, Montana. 

 
2. City Fees and Charges.  

A. Owner shall pay the following fees as provided by City policy and resolution: 
a. Storm Drain Fee ($250/acre x 1.8 acres)    $450.00 
b. Recording fees for Annexation Agreement and Resolution 

($11 per page x 3 pages)      $33.00 

  _________________________________________________________________ 
  

  Total Fees paid by applicant to City:    $483.00 

Fees paid by applicant are in addition to the $500 application fee for Annexation and $2,000 
for Zoning Map Amendment, which have been split between the seven property owners 
and have been paid prior to this Annexation Agreement. 

B.  The total fees summarized in Section A above shall be paid to the City no later than 
thirty (30) calendar days after City Commission action to annex the Subject Property into 
the City. 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 121 of 284                                     Attachment # 12



2 
 

C. The absence of any fee from this Agreement which is lawfully charged by the City in 
connection with construction activity associated with Subject Property shall not 
constitute a waiver by the City. 

 
3.  Public Improvements  

A. Street Improvements 

1. The Owner hereby agrees to pay a lump sum contribution of $20,670.00 

towards the reconstruction of Skyline Drive to City standards to be 

undertaken by the City of Great Falls Public Works Department.  The 

reconstruction will include street widening and paving, curb and gutter, 

mailbox relocation, driveway connection within the public right-of-way, 

sidewalk, and fire hydrant installation.   

2. The amount due in Section 3.A.1 above shall be paid within 30 days of the 

award of the bid by the City of Great Falls for the reconstruction of Skyline 

Drive. 

B. Water Improvements 

1. To serve the Subject Property, the Owner has connected to the existing City 

of Great Falls water main located to the South on City, per a previous written 

agreement with the City of Great Falls Public Works Department that was 

received August 2017, and Owner owes no reimbursement for the main. 

C. Sewer Improvements 

1. The Owner, prior to this agreement with approval of the City, has connected 

to the existing 8-inch diameter sewer main on City property to the South of 

the Subject Property which will require an easement from the City. This 

connection will require no reimbursement to the City. The easement will 

meet all City requirements.  

2. The Owner is to verify that the abandonment the drainfield or septic tank 

was done per the Cascade County Health Department and City of Great Falls 

requirements. 

4.  Site Conditions. 
The Owner warrants that it has conducted site investigations sufficient to be aware of all 
natural conditions, including, but not limited to, flooding, slopes, and soils characteristics, 
that may affect the installation of improvements upon the Subject Property and its 
development for the approved use. The Owner further warrants that all plans submitted 
pursuant to this Agreement and all applications for building permits upon the Subject 
Property will properly account for all such conditions. The Owner holds the City harmless for 
natural conditions and for any faults in their own assessment of those conditions. 

 
 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 122 of 284                                     Attachment # 12



3 
 

5. Maintenance Districts.  
Owner hereby agrees to waive its right to protest and appeal the lawful creation by City of 
maintenance districts for any proper purpose including but not limited to fire hydrant, 
lighting and street maintenance, and shall pay the proportionate share of the costs 
associated with said maintenance districts as they may be applied to the Subject Parcel.  
This includes existing districts which may be extended or expanded to include the Subject 
Parcel. 

 
6.  Public Roadway Lighting. 

Owner hereby agrees to continue to participate in the lighting district for public roadway 
lighting facilities that service the Subject Property. A lighting district to serve the properties 
on Skyline Dr NW will be established. 

 
7. Warranty, Ownership and Inspection of Public Improvements.  

Installation of any public improvement required for the Subject Property shall be subject to 
the City’s inspection policy in place at the time of installation.  

 
8. City Acceptance and Zoning.  

In consideration of the terms of this Agreement, the City hereby accepts a tract of land 
described as Skyline Addition, Block 1, Lot 2A located in the SW ¼ NW ¼ of Section 35, 
Township 21 North, Range 3 East, P.M.M. Cascade, County, Montana for incorporation by 
annexation into the corporate limits of the City of Great Falls, Montana, with an assigned 
zoning classification of R-2 Single-family Medium Density. 

 
9. Indemnification.   
 The Owner shall indemnify, hold harmless and defend the City of Great Falls, its officers, 

agents, servants and employees and assigns from and against all claims, debts, liabilities, 
fines, penalties, obligations and costs including reasonable attorney fees, that arise from, 
result from or relate to obligations relating to that owner’s property described herein. Upon 
the transfer of ownership of property, the prior owner’s (whether it is the Owner that 
signed this agreement or a subsequent owner) indemnity obligation herein for the 
transferred property is released as to that owner and the indemnity obligation runs to the 
new owner of the property.  Only the owner of the parcel of property at the time the City 
incurs the claim, debt, liability, fine, penalty, obligation or cost is obligated to indemnify, 
and no owner of property is obligated to indemnify for adverse conditions on property 
owned by someone else.  This indemnification by the owner of the property shall apply 
unless such damage or injury results from the gross negligence or willful misconduct of the 
City. 

 
10. Binding Effect.  

The provisions, covenants, and terms of this Agreement shall run with the land and bind the 
present owners, their devisees, heirs, successors, and assigns; and any and all parties 
claiming by, through, or under them, shall be taken to agree and covenant with each of the 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 123 of 284                                     Attachment # 12



4 
 

parties to the Agreement, their devisees, heirs, successors and assigns, to conform to the 
provisions, covenants and terms of this Agreement.  

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have set their hands and seal the day, month and 
year first hereinabove written. 

 

THE CITY OF GREAT FALLS, MONTANA 

A Municipal Corporation of the State of Montana 

________________________________________ 

Gregory T. Doyon, City Manager 

 

ATTEST: 

 

______________________________ 

Lisa Kunz, City Clerk 

 

 

(Seal of City) 

 

APPROVED FOR LEGAL CONTENT*: 

 

 

_____________________________ 

Sara R. Sexe, City Attorney 

*By law, the City Attorney may only advise or approve contract or legal document language on 

behalf of the City of Great Falls, and not on behalf of other parties.  Review and approval of this 

document was conducted solely from the legal perspective, and for the benefit, of the City of 

Great Falls. Other parties should not rely on this approval and should seek review and approval 

by their own respective counsel. 

   

 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 124 of 284                                     Attachment # 12



5 
 

  OWNER 

                                              

________________________________ 

Robert A. Butcher 

                                              

________________________________ 

Barbara A. Butcher 

 

 

State of ___________  ) 

      :ss. 

County of ___________ ) 

 

On this _________ day of ____________, in the year ____________, before me, the undersigned, a 

Notary Public for the State of ______________, personally appeared ____________________, known to 

me to the persons whose names are subscribed to the instrument within and acknowledged to me that 

they executed the same. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my Notarial Seal the day and year first 

above written. 

 

________________________________________ 

  Notary Public for the State of ____________ 

        

 (NOTARIAL SEAL) 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 125 of 284                                     Attachment # 12



 

1 
 

 

 

ANNEXATION IMPROVEMENT AGREEMENT 

SKYLINE ADDITION, BLOCK 1, LOT 3  
LOCATED IN THE SW ¼ NW ¼ OF SECTION 35, TOWNSHIP 21 N, 

RANGE 3 E, P.M.M., CASCADE COUNTY, MONTANA 
 

The following is a binding Agreement dated this ______ day of ____________, 2018, 
between the Bishop Family Living Trust, of 314 Skyline Drive NW, Great Falls, MT 59404, 
hereinafter referred to as “Owner,” and the City of Great Falls, Montana, a municipal 
corporation of the State of Montana, hereinafter referred to as “City”, regarding the 
requirements for annexation of a tract of land described as Skyline Addition, Block 1, Lot 3 
located in the SW ¼ NW ¼ of Section 35, Township 21 North, Range 3 East, P.M.M. Cascade, 
County, Montana, hereinafter referred to as “Subject Property”. Owner of the 
aforementioned Subject Property agrees to and is bound by the provisions of this 
Agreement, and by signing this Agreement therefore agrees to terms herein applicable to 
the Subject Property.   
 

1. Supporting Documents.  
A.  Legal documents, including but not limited to any easements, articles of incorporation, 

bylaws, covenants, and declarations establishing the responsibilities of Owner recorded 
in the Clerk and Recorder’s Office of Cascade County, Montana. 

 
2. City Fees and Charges.  

A. Owner shall pay the following fees as provided by City policy and resolution: 
a. Storm Drain Fee ($250/acre x 1.0 acres)    $250.00 
b. Recording fees for Annexation Agreement and Resolution 

($11 per page x 3 pages)      $33.00 

  _________________________________________________________________ 
  

  Total Fees paid by applicant to City:    $283.00 

Fees paid by applicant are in addition to the $500 application fee for Annexation and $2,000 
for Zoning Map Amendment, which have been split between the seven property owners 
and have been paid prior to this Annexation Agreement. 

B.  The total fees summarized in Section A above shall be paid to the City no later than 
thirty (30) calendar days after City Commission action to annex the Subject Property into 
the City. 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 126 of 284                                     Attachment # 13



 

2 
 

C. The absence of any fee from this Agreement which is lawfully charged by the City in 
connection with construction activity associated with Subject Property shall not 
constitute a waiver by the City. 

 
3.  Public Improvements  

A. Street Improvements 

1. The Owner hereby agrees to pay a lump sum contribution of $15,000.00 

towards the reconstruction of Skyline Drive to City standards to be 

undertaken by the City of Great Falls Public Works Department.  The 

reconstruction will include street widening and paving, curb and gutter, 

mailbox relocation, driveway connection within the public right-of-way, 

sidewalk, and fire hydrant installation.   

2. The amount due in Section 3.A.1 above shall be paid within 30 days of the 

award of the bid by the City of Great Falls for the reconstruction of Skyline 

Drive. 

B. Water Improvements 

1. To serve the Subject Property, the Owner has connected to the existing 

water main located in Skyline Drive, per a previous written agreement with 

the City of Great Falls Public Works Department that was received August 

2017, and Owner owes no reimbursement for the main. 

C. Sewer Improvements 

1. At the time of the failure of the existing drainfield or septic tank, the Owner 

is required to abandon the drainfield or septic tank per the Cascade County 

Health Department and City of Great Falls requirements. 

2. The Owner hereby agrees, when then existing drainfield or septic tank fails, 

to connect to the existing 8-inch diameter sewer main on City property to the 

South of the Subject Property which will require an easement from the 

adjoining property owner. This connection will require no reimbursement to 

the City.  The sewer connection fee and inspection fee adopted at the time 

the connection shall be paid by the Owner. The easement will meet all City 

requirements. 

3. Should the Subject Property connect to a sewer main within the Skyline Drive 

right-of-way, the owner shall be responsible for extending the main shall pay 

applicable reimbursements. 

4. At any time after the recording of this Agreement, the Owner is allowed to 

connect to City sewer and abandon their existing drainfield or septic tank. 

 
 
 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 127 of 284                                     Attachment # 13



 

3 
 

4.  Site Conditions. 
The Owner warrants that it has conducted site investigations sufficient to be aware of all 
natural conditions, including, but not limited to, flooding, slopes, and soils characteristics, 
that may affect the installation of improvements upon the Subject Property and its 
development for the approved use. The Owner further warrants that all plans submitted 
pursuant to this Agreement and all applications for building permits upon the Subject 
Property will properly account for all such conditions. The Owner holds the City harmless for 
natural conditions and for any faults in their own assessment of those conditions. 

 
5. Maintenance Districts.  

Owner hereby agrees to waive its right to protest and appeal the lawful creation by City of 
maintenance districts for any proper purpose including but not limited to fire hydrant, 
lighting and street maintenance, and shall pay the proportionate share of the costs 
associated with said maintenance districts as they may be applied to the Subject Parcel.  
This includes existing districts which may be extended or expanded to include the Subject 
Parcel. 

 
6.  Public Roadway Lighting. 

Owner hereby agrees to continue to participate in the lighting district for public roadway 
lighting facilities that service the Subject Property. A lighting district to serve the properties 
on Skyline Dr NW will be established. 

 
7. Warranty, Ownership and Inspection of Public Improvements.  

Installation of any public improvement required for the Subject Property shall be subject to 
the City’s inspection policy in place at the time of installation.  

 
8. City Acceptance and Zoning.  

In consideration of the terms of this Agreement, the City hereby accepts a tract of land 
described as Skyline Addition, Block 1, Lot 3 located in the SW ¼ NW ¼ of Section 35, 
Township 21 North, Range 3 East, P.M.M. Cascade, County, Montana for incorporation by 
annexation into the corporate limits of the City of Great Falls, Montana, with an assigned 
zoning classification of R-2 Single-family Medium Density. 

 
9. Indemnification.   
 The Owner shall indemnify, hold harmless and defend the City of Great Falls, its officers, 

agents, servants and employees and assigns from and against all claims, debts, liabilities, 
fines, penalties, obligations and costs including reasonable attorney fees, that arise from, 
result from or relate to obligations relating to that owner’s property described herein. Upon 
the transfer of ownership of property, the prior owner’s (whether it is the Owner that 
signed this agreement or a subsequent owner) indemnity obligation herein for the 
transferred property is released as to that owner and the indemnity obligation runs to the 
new owner of the property.  Only the owner of the parcel of property at the time the City 
incurs the claim, debt, liability, fine, penalty, obligation or cost is obligated to indemnify, 
and no owner of property is obligated to indemnify for adverse conditions on property 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 128 of 284                                     Attachment # 13



 

4 
 

owned by someone else.  This indemnification by the owner of the property shall apply 
unless such damage or injury results from the gross negligence or willful misconduct of the 
City. 

 
10. Binding Effect.  

The provisions, covenants, and terms of this Agreement shall run with the land and bind the 
present owners, their devisees, heirs, successors, and assigns; and any and all parties 
claiming by, through, or under them, shall be taken to agree and covenant with each of the 
parties to the Agreement, their devisees, heirs, successors and assigns, to conform to the 
provisions, covenants and terms of this Agreement.  

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have set their hands and seal the day, month and 
year first hereinabove written. 

 

THE CITY OF GREAT FALLS, MONTANA 

A Municipal Corporation of the State of Montana 

________________________________________ 

Gregory T. Doyon, City Manager 

 

ATTEST: 

 

______________________________ 

Lisa Kunz, City Clerk 

 

 

(Seal of City) 

 

APPROVED FOR LEGAL CONTENT*: 

 

 

_____________________________ 

Sara R. Sexe, City Attorney 

*By law, the City Attorney may only advise or approve contract or legal document language on 

behalf of the City of Great Falls, and not on behalf of other parties.  Review and approval of this 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 129 of 284                                     Attachment # 13



 

5 
 

document was conducted solely from the legal perspective, and for the benefit, of the City of 

Great Falls. Other parties should not rely on this approval and should seek review and approval 

by their own respective counsel. 

  OWNER 

                                              

________________________________ 

Bishop Family Living Trust 

                                              

 

State of ___________  ) 

      :ss. 

County of ___________ ) 

 

On this _________ day of ____________, in the year ____________, before me, the undersigned, a 

Notary Public for the State of ______________, personally appeared ____________________, known to 

me to the persons whose names are subscribed to the instrument within and acknowledged to me that 

they executed the same. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my Notarial Seal the day and year first 

above written. 

 

________________________________________ 

  Notary Public for the State of ____________ 

        

 (NOTARIAL SEAL) 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 130 of 284                                     Attachment # 13



 

1 
 

 

 

ANNEXATION IMPROVEMENT AGREEMENT 

SKYLINE ADDITION, BLOCK 1, LOT 4  
LOCATED IN THE SW ¼ NW ¼ OF SECTION 35, TOWNSHIP 21 N, 

RANGE 3 E, P.M.M., CASCADE COUNTY, MONTANA 
 

The following is a binding Agreement dated this ______ day of ____________, 2018, 
between Brian Burks and Pauline L. Burks, of 312 Skyline Drive NW, Great Falls, MT 59404, 
hereinafter referred to as “Owner,” and the City of Great Falls, Montana, a municipal 
corporation of the State of Montana, hereinafter referred to as “City”, regarding the 
requirements for annexation of a tract of land described as Skyline Addition, Block 1, Lot 4 
located in the SW ¼ NW ¼ of Section 35, Township 21 North, Range 3 East, P.M.M. Cascade, 
County, Montana, hereinafter referred to as “Subject Property”. Owner of the 
aforementioned Subject Property agrees to and is bound by the provisions of this 
Agreement, and by signing this Agreement therefore agrees to terms herein applicable to 
the Subject Property.   
 

1. Supporting Documents.  
A.  Legal documents, including but not limited to any easements, articles of incorporation, 

bylaws, covenants, and declarations establishing the responsibilities of Owner recorded 
in the Clerk and Recorder’s Office of Cascade County, Montana. 

 
2. City Fees and Charges.  

A. Owner shall pay the following fees as provided by City policy and resolution: 
a. Storm Drain Fee ($250/acre x 1.0 acres)    $250.00 
b. Recording fees for Annexation Agreement and Resolution 

($11 per page x 3 pages)      $33.00 

  _________________________________________________________________ 
  

  Total Fees paid by applicant to City:    $283.00 

Fees paid by applicant are in addition to the $500 application fee for Annexation and $2,000 
for Zoning Map Amendment, which have been split between the seven property owners 
and have been paid prior to this Annexation Agreement. 

B.  The total fees summarized in Section A above shall be paid to the City no later than 
thirty (30) calendar days after City Commission action to annex the Subject Property into 
the City. 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 131 of 284                                     Attachment # 14



 

2 
 

C. The absence of any fee from this Agreement which is lawfully charged by the City in 
connection with construction activity associated with Subject Property shall not 
constitute a waiver by the City. 

 
3.  Public Improvements  

A. Street Improvements 

1. The Owner hereby agrees to pay a lump sum contribution of $15,000.00 

towards the reconstruction of Skyline Drive to City standards to be 

undertaken by the City of Great Falls Public Works Department.  The 

reconstruction will include street widening and paving, curb and gutter, 

mailbox relocation, driveway connection within the public right-of-way, 

sidewalk, and fire hydrant installation.   

2. The amount due in Section 3.A.1 above shall be paid within 30 days of the 

award of the bid by the City of Great Falls for the reconstruction of Skyline 

Drive. 

B. Water Improvements 

1. To serve the Subject Property, the Owner has connected to the existing 

water main located in Skyline Drive, per a previous written agreement with 

the City of Great Falls Public Works Department that was received August 

2017, and Owner owes no reimbursement for the main. 

C. Sewer Improvements 

1. At the time of the failure of the existing drainfield or septic tank, the Owner 

is required to abandon the drainfield or septic tank per the Cascade County 

Health Department and City of Great Falls requirements. 

2. The Owner hereby agrees, when then existing drainfield or septic tank fails, 

to connect to the existing 8-inch diameter sewer main on City property to the 

South of the Subject Property which will require an easement from the 

adjoining property owner. This connection will require no reimbursement to 

the City.  The sewer connection fee and inspection fee adopted at the time 

the connection shall be paid by the Owner. The easement will meet all City 

requirements. 

3. Should the Subject Property connect to a sewer main within the Skyline Drive 

right-of-way, the owner shall be responsible for extending the main shall pay 

applicable reimbursements. 

4. At any time after the recording of this Agreement, the Owner is allowed to 

connect to City sewer and abandon their existing drainfield or septic tank. 

 
 
 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 132 of 284                                     Attachment # 14



 

3 
 

4.  Site Conditions. 
The Owner warrants that it has conducted site investigations sufficient to be aware of all 
natural conditions, including, but not limited to, flooding, slopes, and soils characteristics, 
that may affect the installation of improvements upon the Subject Property and its 
development for the approved use. The Owner further warrants that all plans submitted 
pursuant to this Agreement and all applications for building permits upon the Subject 
Property will properly account for all such conditions. The Owner holds the City harmless for 
natural conditions and for any faults in their own assessment of those conditions. 

 
5. Maintenance Districts.  

Owner hereby agrees to waive its right to protest and appeal the lawful creation by City of 
maintenance districts for any proper purpose including but not limited to fire hydrant, 
lighting and street maintenance, and shall pay the proportionate share of the costs 
associated with said maintenance districts as they may be applied to the Subject Parcel.  
This includes existing districts which may be extended or expanded to include the Subject 
Parcel. 

 
6.  Public Roadway Lighting. 

Owner hereby agrees to continue to participate in the lighting district for public roadway 
lighting facilities that service the Subject Property. A lighting district to serve the properties 
on Skyline Dr NW will be established. 

 
7. Warranty, Ownership and Inspection of Public Improvements.  

Installation of any public improvement required for the Subject Property shall be subject to 
the City’s inspection policy in place at the time of installation.  

 
8. City Acceptance and Zoning.  

In consideration of the terms of this Agreement, the City hereby accepts a tract of land 
described as Skyline Addition, Block 1, Lot 4 located in the SW ¼ NW ¼ of Section 35, 
Township 21 North, Range 3 East, P.M.M. Cascade, County, Montana for incorporation by 
annexation into the corporate limits of the City of Great Falls, Montana, with an assigned 
zoning classification of R-2 Single-family Medium Density. 

 
9. Indemnification.   
 The Owner shall indemnify, hold harmless and defend the City of Great Falls, its officers, 

agents, servants and employees and assigns from and against all claims, debts, liabilities, 
fines, penalties, obligations and costs including reasonable attorney fees, that arise from, 
result from or relate to obligations relating to that owner’s property described herein. Upon 
the transfer of ownership of property, the prior owner’s (whether it is the Owner that 
signed this agreement or a subsequent owner) indemnity obligation herein for the 
transferred property is released as to that owner and the indemnity obligation runs to the 
new owner of the property.  Only the owner of the parcel of property at the time the City 
incurs the claim, debt, liability, fine, penalty, obligation or cost is obligated to indemnify, 
and no owner of property is obligated to indemnify for adverse conditions on property 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 133 of 284                                     Attachment # 14



 

4 
 

owned by someone else.  This indemnification by the owner of the property shall apply 
unless such damage or injury results from the gross negligence or willful misconduct of the 
City. 

 
10. Binding Effect.  

The provisions, covenants, and terms of this Agreement shall run with the land and bind the 
present owners, their devisees, heirs, successors, and assigns; and any and all parties 
claiming by, through, or under them, shall be taken to agree and covenant with each of the 
parties to the Agreement, their devisees, heirs, successors and assigns, to conform to the 
provisions, covenants and terms of this Agreement.  

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have set their hands and seal the day, month and 
year first hereinabove written. 

 

THE CITY OF GREAT FALLS, MONTANA 

A Municipal Corporation of the State of Montana 

________________________________________ 

Gregory T. Doyon, City Manager 

 

ATTEST: 

 

______________________________ 

Lisa Kunz, City Clerk 

 

 

(Seal of City) 

 

APPROVED FOR LEGAL CONTENT*: 

 

 

_____________________________ 

Sara R. Sexe, City Attorney 

*By law, the City Attorney may only advise or approve contract or legal document language on 

behalf of the City of Great Falls, and not on behalf of other parties.  Review and approval of this 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 134 of 284                                     Attachment # 14



 

5 
 

document was conducted solely from the legal perspective, and for the benefit, of the City of 

Great Falls. Other parties should not rely on this approval and should seek review and approval 

by their own respective counsel. 

  OWNER 

                                              

________________________________ 

Brian Burks 

                                              

 

 ________________________________ 

Pauline L. Burks 

 

State of ___________  ) 

      :ss. 

County of ___________ ) 

 

On this _________ day of ____________, in the year ____________, before me, the undersigned, a 

Notary Public for the State of ______________, personally appeared ____________________, known to 

me to the persons whose names are subscribed to the instrument within and acknowledged to me that 

they executed the same. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my Notarial Seal the day and year first 

above written. 

 

________________________________________ 

  Notary Public for the State of ____________ 

        

 (NOTARIAL SEAL) 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 135 of 284                                     Attachment # 14



 

1 
 

 

 

ANNEXATION IMPROVEMENT AGREEMENT 

SKYLINE ADDITION, BLOCK 1, LOT 5  
LOCATED IN THE SW ¼ NW ¼ OF SECTION 35, TOWNSHIP 21 N, 

RANGE 3 E, P.M.M., CASCADE COUNTY, MONTANA 
 

The following is a binding Agreement dated this ______ day of ____________, 2018, 
between David J. Stanton and Sherrie F. Stanton, of 308 Skyline Drive NW, Great Falls, MT 
59404, hereinafter referred to as “Owner,” and the City of Great Falls, Montana, a municipal 
corporation of the State of Montana, hereinafter referred to as “City”, regarding the 
requirements for annexation of a tract of land described as Skyline Addition, Block 1, Lot 5 
located in the SW ¼ NW ¼ of Section 35, Township 21 North, Range 3 East, P.M.M. Cascade, 
County, Montana, hereinafter referred to as “Subject Property”. Owner of the 
aforementioned Subject Property agrees to and is bound by the provisions of this 
Agreement, and by signing this Agreement therefore agrees to terms herein applicable to 
the Subject Property.   
 

1. Supporting Documents.  
A.  Legal documents, including but not limited to any easements, articles of incorporation, 

bylaws, covenants, and declarations establishing the responsibilities of Owner recorded 
in the Clerk and Recorder’s Office of Cascade County, Montana. 

 
2. City Fees and Charges.  

A. Owner shall pay the following fees as provided by City policy and resolution: 
a. Storm Drain Fee ($250/acre x 1.0 acres)    $250.00 
b. Recording fees for Annexation Agreement and Resolution 

($11 per page x 3 pages)      $33.00 

  _________________________________________________________________ 
  

  Total Fees paid by applicant to City:    $283.00 

Fees paid by applicant are in addition to the $500 application fee for Annexation and $2,000 
for Zoning Map Amendment, which have been split between the seven property owners 
and have been paid prior to this Annexation Agreement. 

B.  The total fees summarized in Section A above shall be paid to the City no later than 
thirty (30) calendar days after City Commission action to annex the Subject Property into 
the City. 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 136 of 284                                     Attachment # 15



 

2 
 

C. The absence of any fee from this Agreement which is lawfully charged by the City in 
connection with construction activity associated with Subject Property shall not 
constitute a waiver by the City. 

 
3.  Public Improvements  

A. Street Improvements 

1. The Owner hereby agrees to pay a lump sum contribution of $15,000.00 

towards the reconstruction of Skyline Drive to City standards to be 

undertaken by the City of Great Falls Public Works Department.  The 

reconstruction will include street widening and paving, curb and gutter, 

mailbox relocation, driveway connection within the public right-of-way, 

sidewalk, and fire hydrant installation.   

2. The amount due in Section 3.A.1 above shall be paid within 30 days of the 

award of the bid by the City of Great Falls for the reconstruction of Skyline 

Drive. 

B. Water Improvements 

1. To serve the Subject Property, the Owner has connected to the existing 

water main located in Skyline Drive, per a previous written agreement with 

the City of Great Falls Public Works Department that was received August 

2017, and Owner owes no reimbursement for the main. 

C. Sewer Improvements 

1. At the time of the failure of the existing drainfield or septic tank, the Owner 

is required to abandon the drainfield or septic tank per the Cascade County 

Health Department and City of Great Falls requirements. 

2. The Owner hereby agrees, when then existing drainfield or septic tank fails, 

to connect to the existing 8-inch diameter sewer main on City property to the 

South of the Subject Property which will require an easement from the 

adjoining property owner. This connection will require no reimbursement to 

the City.  The sewer connection fee and inspection fee adopted at the time 

the connection shall be paid by the Owner. The easement will meet all City 

requirements. 

3. Should the Subject Property connect to a sewer main within the Skyline Drive 

right-of-way, the owner shall be responsible for extending the main shall pay 

applicable reimbursements. 

4. At any time after the recording of this Agreement, the Owner is allowed to 

connect to City sewer and abandon their existing drainfield or septic tank. 

 
 
 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 137 of 284                                     Attachment # 15



 

3 
 

4.  Site Conditions. 
The Owner warrants that it has conducted site investigations sufficient to be aware of all 
natural conditions, including, but not limited to, flooding, slopes, and soils characteristics, 
that may affect the installation of improvements upon the Subject Property and its 
development for the approved use. The Owner further warrants that all plans submitted 
pursuant to this Agreement and all applications for building permits upon the Subject 
Property will properly account for all such conditions. The Owner holds the City harmless for 
natural conditions and for any faults in their own assessment of those conditions. 

 
5. Maintenance Districts.  

Owner hereby agrees to waive its right to protest and appeal the lawful creation by City of 
maintenance districts for any proper purpose including but not limited to fire hydrant, 
lighting and street maintenance, and shall pay the proportionate share of the costs 
associated with said maintenance districts as they may be applied to the Subject Parcel.  
This includes existing districts which may be extended or expanded to include the Subject 
Parcel. 

 
6.  Public Roadway Lighting. 

Owner hereby agrees to continue to participate in the lighting district for public roadway 
lighting facilities that service the Subject Property. A lighting district to serve the properties 
on Skyline Dr NW will be established. 

 
7. Warranty, Ownership and Inspection of Public Improvements.  

Installation of any public improvement required for the Subject Property shall be subject to 
the City’s inspection policy in place at the time of installation.  

 
8. City Acceptance and Zoning.  

In consideration of the terms of this Agreement, the City hereby accepts a tract of land 
described as Skyline Addition, Block 1, Lot 5 located in the SW ¼ NW ¼ of Section 35, 
Township 21 North, Range 3 East, P.M.M. Cascade, County, Montana for incorporation by 
annexation into the corporate limits of the City of Great Falls, Montana, with an assigned 
zoning classification of R-2 Single-family Medium Density. 

 
9. Indemnification.   
 The Owner shall indemnify, hold harmless and defend the City of Great Falls, its officers, 

agents, servants and employees and assigns from and against all claims, debts, liabilities, 
fines, penalties, obligations and costs including reasonable attorney fees, that arise from, 
result from or relate to obligations relating to that owner’s property described herein. Upon 
the transfer of ownership of property, the prior owner’s (whether it is the Owner that 
signed this agreement or a subsequent owner) indemnity obligation herein for the 
transferred property is released as to that owner and the indemnity obligation runs to the 
new owner of the property.  Only the owner of the parcel of property at the time the City 
incurs the claim, debt, liability, fine, penalty, obligation or cost is obligated to indemnify, 
and no owner of property is obligated to indemnify for adverse conditions on property 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 138 of 284                                     Attachment # 15



 

4 
 

owned by someone else.  This indemnification by the owner of the property shall apply 
unless such damage or injury results from the gross negligence or willful misconduct of the 
City. 

 
10. Binding Effect.  

The provisions, covenants, and terms of this Agreement shall run with the land and bind the 
present owners, their devisees, heirs, successors, and assigns; and any and all parties 
claiming by, through, or under them, shall be taken to agree and covenant with each of the 
parties to the Agreement, their devisees, heirs, successors and assigns, to conform to the 
provisions, covenants and terms of this Agreement.  

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have set their hands and seal the day, month and 
year first hereinabove written. 

 

THE CITY OF GREAT FALLS, MONTANA 

A Municipal Corporation of the State of Montana 

________________________________________ 

Gregory T. Doyon, City Manager 

 

ATTEST: 

 

______________________________ 

Lisa Kunz, City Clerk 

 

 

(Seal of City) 

 

APPROVED FOR LEGAL CONTENT*: 

 

 

_____________________________ 

Sara R. Sexe, City Attorney 

*By law, the City Attorney may only advise or approve contract or legal document language on 

behalf of the City of Great Falls, and not on behalf of other parties.  Review and approval of this 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 139 of 284                                     Attachment # 15



 

5 
 

document was conducted solely from the legal perspective, and for the benefit, of the City of 

Great Falls. Other parties should not rely on this approval and should seek review and approval 

by their own respective counsel. 

  OWNER 

                                              

________________________________ 

David J. Stanton 

                                              

 

 ________________________________ 

Sherrie F. Stanton 

 

State of ___________  ) 

      :ss. 

County of ___________ ) 

 

On this _________ day of ____________, in the year ____________, before me, the undersigned, a 

Notary Public for the State of ______________, personally appeared ____________________, known to 

me to the persons whose names are subscribed to the instrument within and acknowledged to me that 

they executed the same. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my Notarial Seal the day and year first 

above written. 

 

________________________________________ 

  Notary Public for the State of ____________ 

        

 (NOTARIAL SEAL) 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 140 of 284                                     Attachment # 15



 

1 
 

 

 

ANNEXATION IMPROVEMENT AGREEMENT 

SKYLINE ADDITION, BLOCK 1, LOT 6A  
LOCATED IN THE SW ¼ NW ¼ OF SECTION 35, TOWNSHIP 21 N, 

RANGE 3 E, P.M.M., CASCADE COUNTY, MONTANA 
 

The following is a binding Agreement dated this ______ day of ____________, 2018, 
between Lyle W. Stanton, of 304 Skyline Drive NW, Great Falls, MT 59404, hereinafter 
referred to as “Owner,” and the City of Great Falls, Montana, a municipal corporation of the 
State of Montana, hereinafter referred to as “City”, regarding the requirements for 
annexation of a tract of land described as Skyline Addition, Block 1, Lot 6A located in the SW 
¼ NW ¼ of Section 35, Township 21 North, Range 3 East, P.M.M. Cascade, County, 
Montana, hereinafter referred to as “Subject Property”. Owner of the aforementioned 
Subject Property agrees to and is bound by the provisions of this Agreement, and by signing 
this Agreement therefore agrees to terms herein applicable to the Subject Property.   
 

1. Supporting Documents.  
A.  Legal documents, including but not limited to any easements, articles of incorporation, 

bylaws, covenants, and declarations establishing the responsibilities of Owner recorded 
in the Clerk and Recorder’s Office of Cascade County, Montana. 

 
2. City Fees and Charges.  

A. Owner shall pay the following fees as provided by City policy and resolution: 
a. Storm Drain Fee ($250/acre x 0.50 acres)   $125.00 
b. Recording fees for Annexation Agreement and Resolution 

($11 per page x 3 pages)      $33.00 

  _________________________________________________________________ 
  

  Total Fees paid by applicant to City:    $158.00 

Fees paid by applicant are in addition to the $500 application fee for Annexation and $2,000 
for Zoning Map Amendment, which have been split between the seven property owners 
and have been paid prior to this Annexation Agreement. 

B.  The total fees summarized in Section A above shall be paid to the City no later than 
thirty (30) calendar days after City Commission action to annex the Subject Property into 
the City. 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 141 of 284                                     Attachment # 16



 

2 
 

C. The absence of any fee from this Agreement which is lawfully charged by the City in 
connection with construction activity associated with Subject Property shall not 
constitute a waiver by the City. 

 
3.  Public Improvements  

A. Street Improvements 

1. The Owner hereby agrees to pay a lump sum contribution of $15,000.00 

towards the reconstruction of Skyline Drive to City standards to be 

undertaken by the City of Great Falls Public Works Department.  The 

reconstruction will include street widening and paving, curb and gutter, 

mailbox relocation, driveway connection within the public right-of-way, 

sidewalk, and fire hydrant installation.   

2. The amount due in Section 3.A.1 above shall be paid within 30 days of the 

award of the bid by the City of Great Falls for the reconstruction of Skyline 

Drive. 

B. Water Improvements 

1. To serve the Subject Property, the Owner has connected to the existing 

water main located in Skyline Drive, per a previous written agreement with 

the City of Great Falls Public Works Department that was received August 

2017, and Owner owes no reimbursement for the main. 

C. Sewer Improvements 

1. At the time of the failure of the existing drainfield or septic tank, the Owner 

is required to abandon the drainfield or septic tank per the Cascade County 

Health Department and City of Great Falls requirements. 

2. The Owner hereby agrees, when then existing drainfield or septic tank fails, 

to connect to the existing 8-inch diameter sewer main on City property to the 

South of the Subject Property which will require an easement from the 

adjoining property owner. This connection will require no reimbursement to 

the City.  The sewer connection fee and inspection fee adopted at the time 

the connection shall be paid by the Owner. The easement will meet all City 

requirements. 

3. Should the Subject Property connect to a sewer main within the Skyline Drive 

right-of-way, the owner shall be responsible for extending the main shall pay 

applicable reimbursements. 

4. At any time after the recording of this Agreement, the Owner is allowed to 

connect to City sewer and abandon their existing drainfield or septic tank. 

 
 
 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 142 of 284                                     Attachment # 16



 

3 
 

4.  Site Conditions. 
The Owner warrants that it has conducted site investigations sufficient to be aware of all 
natural conditions, including, but not limited to, flooding, slopes, and soils characteristics, 
that may affect the installation of improvements upon the Subject Property and its 
development for the approved use. The Owner further warrants that all plans submitted 
pursuant to this Agreement and all applications for building permits upon the Subject 
Property will properly account for all such conditions. The Owner holds the City harmless for 
natural conditions and for any faults in their own assessment of those conditions. 

 
5. Maintenance Districts.  

Owner hereby agrees to waive its right to protest and appeal the lawful creation by City of 
maintenance districts for any proper purpose including but not limited to fire hydrant, 
lighting and street maintenance, and shall pay the proportionate share of the costs 
associated with said maintenance districts as they may be applied to the Subject Parcel.  
This includes existing districts which may be extended or expanded to include the Subject 
Parcel. 

 
6.  Public Roadway Lighting. 

Owner hereby agrees to continue to participate in the lighting district for public roadway 
lighting facilities that service the Subject Property. A lighting district to serve the properties 
on Skyline Dr NW will be established. 

 
7. Warranty, Ownership and Inspection of Public Improvements.  

Installation of any public improvement required for the Subject Property shall be subject to 
the City’s inspection policy in place at the time of installation.  

 
8. City Acceptance and Zoning.  

In consideration of the terms of this Agreement, the City hereby accepts a tract of land 
described as Skyline Addition, Block 1, Lot 6A located in the SW ¼ NW ¼ of Section 35, 
Township 21 North, Range 3 East, P.M.M. Cascade, County, Montana for incorporation by 
annexation into the corporate limits of the City of Great Falls, Montana, with an assigned 
zoning classification of R-2 Single-family Medium Density. 

 
9. Indemnification.   
 The Owner shall indemnify, hold harmless and defend the City of Great Falls, its officers, 

agents, servants and employees and assigns from and against all claims, debts, liabilities, 
fines, penalties, obligations and costs including reasonable attorney fees, that arise from, 
result from or relate to obligations relating to that owner’s property described herein. Upon 
the transfer of ownership of property, the prior owner’s (whether it is the Owner that 
signed this agreement or a subsequent owner) indemnity obligation herein for the 
transferred property is released as to that owner and the indemnity obligation runs to the 
new owner of the property.  Only the owner of the parcel of property at the time the City 
incurs the claim, debt, liability, fine, penalty, obligation or cost is obligated to indemnify, 
and no owner of property is obligated to indemnify for adverse conditions on property 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 143 of 284                                     Attachment # 16



 

4 
 

owned by someone else.  This indemnification by the owner of the property shall apply 
unless such damage or injury results from the gross negligence or willful misconduct of the 
City. 

 
10. Binding Effect.  

The provisions, covenants, and terms of this Agreement shall run with the land and bind the 
present owners, their devisees, heirs, successors, and assigns; and any and all parties 
claiming by, through, or under them, shall be taken to agree and covenant with each of the 
parties to the Agreement, their devisees, heirs, successors and assigns, to conform to the 
provisions, covenants and terms of this Agreement.  

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have set their hands and seal the day, month and 
year first hereinabove written. 

 

THE CITY OF GREAT FALLS, MONTANA 

A Municipal Corporation of the State of Montana 

________________________________________ 

Gregory T. Doyon, City Manager 

 

ATTEST: 

 

______________________________ 

Lisa Kunz, City Clerk 

 

 

(Seal of City) 

 

APPROVED FOR LEGAL CONTENT*: 

 

 

_____________________________ 

Sara R. Sexe, City Attorney 

*By law, the City Attorney may only advise or approve contract or legal document language on 

behalf of the City of Great Falls, and not on behalf of other parties.  Review and approval of this 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 144 of 284                                     Attachment # 16



 

5 
 

document was conducted solely from the legal perspective, and for the benefit, of the City of 

Great Falls. Other parties should not rely on this approval and should seek review and approval 

by their own respective counsel. 

 

  OWNER  

                                         

 ________________________________ 

 Lyle W. Stanton 

 

State of ___________  ) 

      :ss. 

County of ___________ ) 

 

On this _________ day of ____________, in the year ____________, before me, the undersigned, a 

Notary Public for the State of ______________, personally appeared ____________________, known to 

me to the persons whose names are subscribed to the instrument within and acknowledged to me that 

they executed the same. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my Notarial Seal the day and year first 

above written. 

 

________________________________________ 

  Notary Public for the State of ____________ 

        

 (NOTARIAL SEAL) 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 145 of 284                                     Attachment # 16



 

1 
 

 

 

ANNEXATION IMPROVEMENT AGREEMENT 

TRACT 2 OF COS #5150 
LOCATED IN THE SW ¼ NW ¼ OF SECTION 35, TOWNSHIP 21 N, 

RANGE 3 E, P.M.M., CASCADE COUNTY, MONTANA 
 

The following is a binding Agreement dated this ______ day of ____________, 2018, 
between the Kyle D. Juelfs, hereinafter referred to as “Owner,” and the City of Great Falls, 
Montana, a municipal corporation of the State of Montana, hereinafter referred to as 
“City”, regarding the requirements for annexation of a tract of land described as Tract 2 of 
COS #5150 located in the SW ¼ NW ¼ of Section 35, Township 21 North, Range 3 East, 
P.M.M. Cascade, County, Montana, hereinafter referred to as “Subject Property”. Owner of 
the aforementioned Subject Property agrees to and is bound by the provisions of this 
Agreement, and by signing this Agreement therefore agrees to terms herein applicable to 
the Subject Property.   
 

1. Supporting Documents.  
A.  Legal documents, including but not limited to any easements, articles of incorporation, 

bylaws, covenants, and declarations establishing the responsibilities of Owner recorded 
in the Clerk and Recorder’s Office of Cascade County, Montana. 

 
2. City Fees and Charges.  

A. Owner shall pay the following fees as provided by City policy and resolution: 
a. Storm Drain Fee ($250/acre x 0.8 acres)    $206.50 
b. Recording fees for Annexation Agreement and Resolution 

($11 per page x 3 pages)      $33.00 

  _________________________________________________________________ 
  

  Total Fees paid by applicant to City:    $239.50 

Fees paid by applicant are in addition to the $500 application fee for Annexation and $2,000 
for Zoning Map Amendment, which have been split between the seven property owners 
and have been paid prior to this Annexation Agreement. 

B.  The total fees summarized in Section A above shall be paid to the City no later than 
thirty (30) calendar days after City Commission action to annex the Subject Property into 
the City. 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 146 of 284                                     Attachment # 17



 

2 
 

C. The absence of any fee from this Agreement which is lawfully charged by the City in 
connection with construction activity associated with Subject Property shall not 
constitute a waiver of any such fee by the City. 

 
3.  Public Improvements  

A. Street Improvements 

1. The Owner hereby agrees to pay a lump sum contribution of $27,000.00 

toward the reconstruction of Skyline Drive to City standards to be 

undertaken by the City of Great Falls Public Works Department.  The 

reconstruction will include street widening and paving, curb and gutter, and 

fire hydrant installation.  Driveway connection within the public right-of-way 

and installation of boulevard style sidewalk shall be constructed by the 

Owner prior to certificate of occupancy.  

2. The amount due in Section 3.A.1 above shall be paid by the Owner within 30 

days of the award of the bid by the City of Great Falls for the reconstruction 

of Skyline Drive. 

B. Water Improvements 

1. To serve the Subject Property, the Owner shall connect to the existing water 

main located in Skyline Drive and Owner owes no reimbursement for the 

cost associated with the construction of the water main.  Owner remains 

responsible for all costs associated with the private service line benefitting its 

property. 

C. Sewer Improvements 

1. The Owner hereby agrees, at its cost, to extend a new sewer main within the 

Skyline Drive right-of-way consistent with City standards and submitted plans 

approved by the City of Great Falls. Said sewer main shall be extended to the 

western property line and constructed in accordance with City standards and 

approved by the City engineering department. 

2. The Owner is responsible for providing its final construction costs to the City 

for extending the new sewer main. The Owner shall be entitled to 

proportionate reimbursement for half of its actual cost of extending the 

sewer main, should an owner of a property adjacent to Skyline Drive connect 

a sewer service to the sewer main.  The City will assist (the extent and nature 

of such assistance being solely determined by the City) in obtaining initial 

reimbursements due under this agreement from the adjacent property 

owners connecting to the sewer main; however Owner remains responsible 

for any legal enforcement of the terms of this agreement as against these 

adjacent property owners.  Proportionate reimbursement will be based on 

the street frontage along Skyline Drive.  

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 147 of 284                                     Attachment # 17



 

3 
 

4.  Site Conditions. 
The Owner warrants that it has conducted site investigations sufficient to be aware of all 

natural conditions, including, but not limited to, flooding, slopes, and soils characteristics, 
that may affect the installation of improvements upon the Subject Property and its 
development for the approved use. The Owner further warrants that all plans submitted 
pursuant to this Agreement and all applications for building permits upon the Subject 
Property will properly account for all such conditions. The Owner holds the City harmless for 
natural conditions and for any faults in their own assessment of those conditions. 

5. Maintenance Districts.  
Owner hereby agrees to waive its right to protest and appeal the lawful creation by City of 
maintenance districts for any proper purpose including but not limited to fire hydrant, 
lighting and street maintenance, and shall pay the proportionate share of the costs 
associated with said maintenance districts as they may be applied to the Subject Parcel.  
This includes existing districts which may be extended or expanded to include the Subject 
Parcel. 

 
6.  Public Roadway Lighting. 

Owner hereby agrees to waive its right to protest and appeal any future special lighting 
district for public roadway lighting facilities that service the Subject Property, and further 
agrees to pay for its proportionate share of the costs associated with roadway lighting 
which services the Development Parcel that may be installed with or without a special 
lighting district. 

 
7. Warranty, Ownership and Inspection of Public Improvements.  
 Installation of any public improvement by Owner which is required for the Subject Property 

shall be subject to the City’s inspection policy in place at the time of installation. The City 

will conduct a limited review of plans and perform inspections for compliance with 

requirements set forth in this agreement and/or in applicable law. The Owner is exclusively 

responsible for ensuring that the design, construction drawings, completed construction, 

and record drawings comply with acceptable engineering practices, State requirements, and 

other applicable standards. The City’s limited plans review and inspections are not 

substantive reviews of the plans and engineering. The City’s approval of any plans or 

completed inspections is not an endorsement of the plan or approval or verification of the 

engineering data and plans. Neither the Owner, nor any third party may rely upon the City’s 

limited review or approval.  

 
8. City Acceptance and Zoning.  

In consideration of the terms of this Agreement, the City hereby accepts a tract of land 
described as Tract 2 of COS #5150 located in the SW ¼ NW ¼ of Section 35, Township 21 
North, Range 3 East, P.M.M. Cascade, County, Montana for incorporation by annexation 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 148 of 284                                     Attachment # 17



 

4 
 

into the corporate limits of the City of Great Falls, Montana, with an assigned zoning 
classification of R-2 Single-family Medium Density. 

 
9. Indemnification.   
 The Owner shall indemnify, hold harmless and defend the City of Great Falls, its officers, 

agents, servants and employees and assigns from and against all claims, debts, liabilities, 
fines, penalties, obligations and costs including reasonable attorney fees, that arise from, 
result from or relate to obligations relating to that owner’s property described herein. Upon 
the transfer of ownership of property, the prior owner’s (whether it is the Owner that 
signed this agreement or a subsequent owner) indemnity obligation herein for the 
transferred property is released as to that owner and the indemnity obligation runs to the 
new owner of the property.  Only the owner of the parcel of property at the time the City 
incurs the claim, debt, liability, fine, penalty, obligation or cost is obligated to indemnify, 
and no owner of property is obligated to indemnify for adverse conditions on property 
owned by someone else.  This indemnification by the owner of the property shall apply 
unless such damage or injury results from the gross negligence or willful misconduct of the 
City. 

 
10. Binding Effect.  

The provisions, covenants, and terms of this Agreement shall run with the land and bind the 
owners, their devisees, heirs, successors, and assigns; and any and all parties claiming by, 
through, or under them, shall be taken to agree and covenant with each of the parties to 
the Agreement, their devisees, heirs, successors and assigns, to conform to the provisions, 
covenants and terms of this Agreement.  

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have set their hands and seal the day, month and 
year first hereinabove written. 

 

THE CITY OF GREAT FALLS, MONTANA 

A Municipal Corporation of the State of Montana 

________________________________________ 

Gregory T. Doyon, City Manager 

 

ATTEST: 

 

______________________________ 

Lisa Kunz, City Clerk 

 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 149 of 284                                     Attachment # 17



 

5 
 

 

(Seal of City) 

 

APPROVED FOR LEGAL CONTENT*: 

 

 

_____________________________ 

Sara R. Sexe, City Attorney 

*By law, the City Attorney may only advise or approve contract or legal document language on 

behalf of the City of Great Falls, and not on behalf of other parties.  Review and approval of this 

document was conducted solely from the legal perspective, and for the benefit, of the City of 

Great Falls. Other parties should not rely on this approval and should seek review and approval 

by their own respective counsel. 

  OWNERS 

                                              

________________________________ 

Kyle D. Juelfs 

                                              

 

 

State of ___________  ) 

      :ss. 

County of ___________ ) 

 

On this _________ day of ____________, in the year ____________, before me, the undersigned, a 

Notary Public for the State of ______________, personally appeared ____________________, known to 

me to the persons whose names are subscribed to the instrument within and acknowledged to me that 

they executed the same. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my Notarial Seal the day and year first 

above written. 

 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 150 of 284                                     Attachment # 17



 

6 
 

________________________________________ 

  Notary Public for the State of ____________ 

        

 (NOTARIAL SEAL) 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 151 of 284                                     Attachment # 17



Agenda # 23.
Commission Meeting Date: August 7, 2018

City of Great Falls
Commission Agenda Report

Item: Public Hearing - Ordinance 3190 to rezone the property located in The Great Falls Water Power
and Townsite Company's First Addition, Block 405, Lots 8-14 from PUD Planned Unit Development to
R-3 Single-family high density

From: Erin Borland, Planner II, Planning and Community Development

Initiated By: NWGF Beargrass Village, LLC, Owner

Presented By: Craig Raymond, Director, Planning and Community Development

Action Requested: City Commission adopt Ordinance 3190 and the Findings of Fact.

Public Hearing:
1. Mayor conducts public hearing, calling three times each for proponents and opponents.
 
2. Mayor closes public hearing and asks the will of the Commission.

Suggested Motion:
1. Commissioner moves:            

 
“I move that the City Commission (adopt/deny) Ordinance 3190 and the Findings of Fact”
 

2.  Mayor requests a second to the motion, Commission discussion, and calls for the vote.

Staff Recommendation:
Staff recommends approval of the proposed rezoning request. 

Summary:
On December 5, 2017, the City Commission approved the rezone of the subject property, located at the
northwest corner of 3rd Avenue South and 14th Street South, from S ngle-fam ly high density (R-3) to
Planned Unit Development (PUD) in order to allow a pocket neighborhood to be developed. The
applicant will not be proceeding with the pocket eighborhood and therefore seeks to rezone the property
from the current PUD zoning back to R-3 Single-family high density zoning. The applicant is now
proposing to build seven single family homes on the vacant property.
 
At the conclusion of a public hea ing held on June 12  2018, the Zoning Comm ssion recommended the
City Commission approve the rezoning request from PUD to R-3 for the subject property.

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 152 of 284                                     



Background:
The applicant had previously proposed to develop the first pocket neighborhood in Great Falls on a

1.21 acre parcel.  The subject property was previously occupied by Kranz Floral, but it now sits
vacant due to the closure of the business and subsequent demolition of the previous buildings. The usage
of the PUD zoning was originally needed due to the uniqueness of the pocket neighborhood proposal
featuring small lot sizes, shared parking, and common space.
 
Due to the costs of the pocket neighborhood project related to the types of soils and the required
foundations, the applicant has now decided to build seven single family homes on the existing lots. Since
the PUD zoning does not permit the current p oposal for the property, the original R-3 zoning is needed
for the homes to be constructed.
 
The basis for decision on zoning map amendments, i.e. rezoning or zone changes, is listed in OCCGF
§17.16.40.030. The recommendation of the Zoning Commission and the decision of City Commission
shall at a minimum consider the criteria which are attached as Findings of Fact  Zoning Map
Amendment.
 
Neighborhood Council Input:
The subject property is located in Neighborhood Council #9.  The Owner did present the pocket
neighborhood proposal to Council #9.  The neighborhood council members have been informed of the
rezone back to R-3, and no concerns have been expressed.

Fiscal Impact:
Services will be provided by the City, and the cost of any infrastructure improvements will be borne by
the Owner. The rezone request will provide for the development of seven single family homes on what
currently is vacant land.  This will increase the City’s tax base and increase revenue. 

Alternatives:
If there are justifiable reasons to do so, the City Commission could deny the requested action to the
extent allowed in City Code and State Statute.

Concurrences:
Because the proposal is simply a zoning change request associated with construction of homes on
existing platted lots, no review from other City departments is needed at this time.

ATTACHMENTS:

Ordinance 3190
Basis of Decision
Aerial Map
Zoning Map

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 153 of 284                                     



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ORDINANCE 3190 

 

AN ORDINANCE BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF 

GREAT FALLS TO REZONE THE PROPERTY LEGALLY DESCRIBED 

AS: THE GREAT FALLS WATER POWER AND TOWNSITE 

COMPANY’S FIRST ADDITION, BLOCK 405, LOTS 8-14 LOCATED IN 

THE NE1/4 OF SECTION 12, TOWNSHIP 20 NORTH, RANGE 3 EAST, 

P.M.M. CASCADE COUNTY, MONTANA, FROM PUD PLANNED UNIT 

DEVELOPMENT TO R-3 SINGLE-FAMILY HIGH DENSITY DISTRICT 

* * * * * * * * * *  
  

WHEREAS, the City Commission approved the rezone of the subject property, located 

at the northwest corner of 3rd Avenue South and 14th Street South from R-3 Single-family High 

Density to PUD Planned Unit Development by Ordinance 3176 in order to allow a pocket 

neighborhood to be developed.; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the property owner, NWGF Beargrass Village, LLC, has decided not to 

move forward with the project and has petitioned the City of Great Falls to rezone said properties 

to R-3 Single-family High Density by replacement of Ordinance 3176 with Ordinance 3190; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Great Falls Zoning Commission conducted a public hearing on June 12, 

2018, to consider said rezoning from PUD Planned Unit Development district to R-3 Single-

family High Density and, at the conclusion of said hearing, passed a motion recommending the 

City Commission rezone the property legally described as The Great Falls Water Power and 

Townsite Company's First Addition, Block 405, Lots 8-14, located in the NE 1/4 Section 12, 

Township 20 North, Range 3 East, P.M., City of Great Falls, Cascade County, Montana; and, 

 

 WHEREAS, notice of assigning said zoning classification to the subject property was 

published in the Great Falls Tribune advising that a public hearing on this zoning designation 

would be held on the 7th day of August, 2018, before final passage of said Ordinance herein; and 

 

WHEREAS, following said public hearing, it was found and decided that the zoning 

map amendment on said property meets the Basis of Decision requirements in the Official Code 

of the City of Great Falls (OCCGF), Section 17.16.40.030, and that the said rezoning designation 

be made. 

 

 

 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 154 of 284                                     Attachment # 1



NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE 

CITY OF GREAT FALLS, MONTANA: 

 

 Section 1. It is determined that the herein requested rezoning meets the criteria and 

guidelines cited in Mont. Code Ann §76-2-304, and Section 17.16.40.030 of the OCCGF.  

 

 Section 2. That the property legally described as: The Great Falls Water Power and 

Townsite Company's First Addition, Block 405, Lots 8-14, located in the NE 1/4 Section 12, 

Township 20 North, Range 3 East, P.M., City of Great Falls, Cascade County, Montana, be 

rezoned to R-3 Single-family High Density district. 

            

Section 3. This ordinance shall be in full force and effect thirty (30) days after its passage and 

adoption by the City Commission. 

 

 ACCEPTED by the City Commission of the City of Great Falls, Montana on first reading 

July 3, 2018. 

  

 ADOPTED by the City Commission of the City of Great Falls, Montana on second 

reading August 7, 2018. 

 

 

 

 Bob Kelly, Mayor 

 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

Darcy Dea, Deputy City Clerk  

 

 

(SEAL OF CITY) 

 

 

APPROVED FOR LEGAL CONTENT: 

 

 

 

Sara Sexe, City Attorney 

 

 

 

State of Montana ) 

County of Cascade : ss 

City of Great Falls ) 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 155 of 284                                     Attachment # 1



 

 I, Darcy Dea, Deputy City Clerk of the City of Great Falls, Montana, do certify that I did 

post as required by law and as prescribed and directed by the Commission, Ordinance 3190 on 

the Great Falls Civic Center posting board and the Great Falls City website. 

 

 

   

 Darcy Dea, Deputy City Clerk 

(CITY SEAL) 

 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 156 of 284                                     Attachment # 1



1 

 

FINDINGS OF FACT – ZONING MAP AMENDMENT 

 

Amended Plat of The Great Falls Water Power and Townsite Company's First Addition, Block 

405, Lots 8-14, located in the NE 1/4 of Section 12, Township 20 North, Range 3 East, PM, City 

of Great Falls, Cascade County, MT. 

 

PRIMARY REVIEW CRITERIA: 

The basis for decision on zoning map amendments is listed in Official Code of the City of Great 

Falls §17.16.40.030 of the Land Development Code. The recommendation of the Zoning 

Commission and the decision of City Commission shall at a minimum consider the following 

criteria: 

 

1.  The amendment is consistent with and furthers the intent of the City's growth policy. 

The proposed rezone is consistent with the overall intent and purpose of the 2013 City Growth 

Policy Update. This project is strongly supported by the Social and Physical portions of the 

Growth Policy, specifically the goal and principle of enhancing the urban built environment by 

promoting infill and redevelopment in the City. 

 

Additional policies that this rezone is consistent with include: 

 

Social - Housing 

Soc1.4.1  Work with the private sector and non-profits to increase housing opportunities in the city. 

Soc1.4.2  Expand the supply of residential opportunities including single family homes, apartments, 

manufactured homes and assisted living facilities. 

Soc1.4.3  Encourage, promote and support adequate and affordable home ownership in the City. 

Soc1.4.13 Protect the character, livability and affordability of existing neighborhoods by ensuring that 

infill development is compatible with existing neighborhoods. 

 

Environmental – Urban Form 

Env2.3.1 In order to maximize existing infrastructure, identify underutilized parcels and areas with 

infill potential as candidates for redevelopment in the City. 

 

Physical - Land Use 

Phy4.1.1 Promote and incentivize infill development that is compatible with the scale and character 

of established neighborhoods. 

Phy4.1.5 Encourage and incentivize the redevelopment or adaptive reuse of vacant or underutilized 

properties so as to maximize the City’s existing infrastructure. 

 

The Growth Policy identifies that Great Falls embodies balanced, compatible growth. The 

approval of the rezone request would create balanced infill development that is compatible 

with the adjacent properties as well as carry out the vision of the adjacent zoning districts 

surrounding the property. 

 

2. The amendment is consistent with and furthers adopted neighborhood plans, if any. 

Great Falls is separated into nine Neighborhood Councils. There are no adopted Neighborhood 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 157 of 284                                     Attachment # 2



2 

 

Plans for any of the Councils within the City. The subject property is located in Neighborhood 

Council #9. The council has been informed of the rezone and no comments have been made at 

this time. 

 

3. The amendment is consistent with other planning documents adopted by the City 

Commission, including the river corridor plan, transportation plan and sub-area plans. 

There are no additional planning documents that are related to the proposed rezoning back to 

the original R-3 district. 

 

4.  The code with the amendment is internally consistent. 

The proposed rezoning back to the original R-3 district is more consistent with City code than 

the original pocket neighborhood proposal. Staff anticipates that no variances will be needed to 

execute new single family home construction on the existing platted lots. 

 

5. The amendment is the least restrictive approach to address issues of public health, safety, 

and welfare. 

There are no existing public health, safety, or welfare issues that have been identified for this 

property.  The proposed rezoning will allow for the entire block to be developed, which should 

only enhance the overall safety of the neighborhood area. 

 

6.  The City has or will have the financial and staffing capability to administer and enforce the 

amendment. 

The City has the financial and staffing capability to enforce the amendment if it is approved. 

The properties will be developed in a manner consistent with the previous zoning and platting 

for this area. 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 158 of 284                                     Attachment # 2





ZONING MAP

1
3

T
H

 S
T

 S

1
4

T
H

 S
T

 S

1
5

T
H

 S
T

 S

1
2

T
H

 S
T

 S
1ST AVE S

2ND AVE S

4TH AVE S

5T   

3RD AVE S

275 0 275137.5 Feet

Subject Properties

R-3  Single-family High Density

R-5  Multi-family Medium Density

PUD  Planned Unit Development

C-1  Neighborhood Commercial

C-5  Central Business Periphery

Tracts of Land

¯
City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 160 of 284                                     Attachment # 4



Agenda # 24.
Commission Meeting Date: August 7, 2018

City of Great Falls
Commission Agenda Report

Item: Set Public Hearing For Resolution 10247 to Levy and Assess the Great Falls Park District
Number 1.

From: Judy Burg, Taxes and Assessments

Initiated By: Annual Assessment Process

Presented By: Melissa Kinzler, Finance Director

Action Requested: City Commission set Public Hearing Date for Resolution 10247 to Levy and Assess
the Great Falls Park District Number 1.

Suggested Motion:
1.     Commissioner moves:
 

"I move that the City Commission (set/not set) a Public Hearing date on Resolution 10247 for
September 4, 2018 to levy and assess the Great Falls Park District Number 1."

 
2.     Mayor requests a second to the motion, public comment, Commission discussion and calls for the
vote.

Staff Recommendation:
Staff recommends the City Commission set a public hearing date for September 4, 2018. 

Background:
On June 5, 2018, the City Commission adopted Resolution 10238 creating the Great Falls Park District
Number 1.  The boundaries of the District as shown on Exhibit "A" are the current incorporated limits of
the City, as well as all properties later annexed thereto.
 
The Park District's overall purpose is to utilize tax dollars and direct those monies to:
 

Maintenance, repair, replacement, upkeep, installation, improvements, operation enhancement,
construction, acquisition of land;
Implementation of measures required to maintain public health and safety or meet legal or
regulatory requirements;
Purchase, replace and/or maintain equipment, tools or vehicles used to carry out the functions
described herein; and/or

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 161 of 284                                     



Other functions, labor, supplies and/or materials necessary for management and maintenance of
City-owned facilities, lands, and equipment under the responsibility and care of the City of Great
Falls Park and Recreation Department including but not limited to:

Public parks and park areas (as described in the City of Great Falls Park and Recreation
Master Plan), recreation facilities, trails, open space, urban forest, medians, boulevards,
pathways, sidewalks, public easements, and other facilities which are located in the city limits
and/or are owned by the City.

 
The Park District's revenue may not be used for programming.
 
According to Mont. Code Ann. Sections 7-11-2021 and 1025, prior to annually levying assessments
necessary to carry out the services to be performed in the District, each year the City Manager shall
prepare, or cause to be prepared for Commission approval, a work plan, budget, and estimated expenses
for the services to be performed in the District and the Commission shall specify the method of
assessment for the lots and parcels of land located in the District, provide for any methods of financing
such services, publish notice, and conduct a public hearing on such assessment before finally adopting a
resolution levying assessments against the lots of parcels of land in the District.  The Commission must
annually adopt a resolution establishing the annual assessment for the District.

Fiscal Impact:
The cost of the proposed improvements for the Great Falls Park District Number 1 is $1,500,000
annually for the first three years. 
 
The annual assessment shall be based on the taxable value of each parcel within the District.  This
method of assessment shall be made pursuant to Mont. Code Ann. Section 7-11-1024(3)(iii) which
states:
 

Each lot or parcel of land, including the improvements on the lot or parcel, may be assessed for that
part of the cost of the special district that its taxable valuation bears to the total taxable valuation of
the property of the District.

 
The estimated annual assessment for a $100,000 market value property would be $22.92.
 

Alternatives:
The City Commission could choose to not set the public hearing and thereby deny Resolution 10247 to
Levy and Assess Great Falls Park District Number 1.  However, the reduction in services and
improvements to the park system including facilities and the urban forest, or maintenance will not
improve and facilities will deteriorate or close.

Concurrences:
Park and Recreation staff is responsible for the operational expenses of the Park District Number 1. 
Finance staff is responsible for assessing and collecting the revenue necessary to carry out the
operations.

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 162 of 284                                     



ATTACHMENTS:

Resolution 10247
Park District Boundaries Exhibit "A"
Legal Notice Park District Assessment

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 163 of 284                                     



 RESOLUTION NO.  10247 
 
 

A RESOLUTION LEVYING AND ASSESSING THE COST OF 

MAINTENANCE  IN THE GREAT FALLS PARK DISTRICT 

NUMBER 1 OF THE CITY OF GREAT FALLS, MONTANA FOR 

THE FISCAL YEAR BEGINNING JULY 1, 2018 AND ENDING 

JUNE 30, 2019 

******************************** 
 

 WHEREAS, the City Commission did create Great Falls Park District No. 1 
(hereinafter “District”) by adoption of Resolution 10238 on June 5, 2018; and 
 
 WHEREAS, said Resolution 10238 set forth the boundaries of the District, the 
method of governing the District, the assessment method, estimated cost of the District and 
method of financing, payment of the assessment, list of properties to be assessed, and the 
duration of the District.  The District was established for the purpose of providing services 
including but not limited to: 

 
(A) Maintenance, repair, replacement, upkeep, installation, improvement, 

operational enhancement, construction, reconstruction, acquisition of land;  
(B) Implementation of measures required to maintain public health and safety 

or meet legal or regulatory requirements;  
(C) Purchasing, replacing, and/or maintaining equipment, tools or vehicles used 

to carry out the functions described herein; and/or  
(D) Any other functions, labor, supplies and/or materials necessary for 

management and maintenance of City-owned facilities, lands, and 
equipment under the responsibility and care of the City of Great Falls Parks 
and Recreation Department including but not limited to:   
i. Public parks and park areas (as described in the City of Great Falls 

Park and Recreation Master Plan), recreation facilities, trails, open 
space, urban forest, medians, boulevards, pathways, sidewalks, 
public easements and other facilities which are located in the city 
limits and/or are owned by the City.   

 
 WHEREAS, on July 17, 2018, the City Commission adopted Resolution 10240, 
Annual Budget Resolution, in which the estimated assessment for such maintenance 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 164 of 284                                     Attachment # 1



within the District was reflected as ONE MILLION FIVE HUNDRED THOUSAND DOLLARS 
($1,500,000); and  
 

WHEREAS, in accordance with Mont. Code Ann. §§ 7-11-1024 and 7-1-4127, notice 
was published setting forth that Resolution No. 10247 Levying and Assessing the Cost of the 
Great Falls Park District No. 1 would be brought before the Great Falls City Commission for 
public hearing on September 4, 2018; and 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY 

OF GREAT FALLS, MONTANA, that: 
 
Section 1 – Maintenance Costs Assessed 
The cost of maintenance in the Great Falls Park District No. 1, totaling $1,500,000, be levied and 
assessed upon the properties in said district for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2019.   
 
Section 2 – Maintenance Assessment Method 
Each lot or parcel of land, including improvements on the lot or parcel, will be assessed for that 
part of the cost of the District that its taxable valuation bears to the total taxable valuation of the 
properties within the District.   
 
Section 3 – Assessment Due Date 
Assessments are payable in two payments and will become delinquent at 5:00 o'clock p.m. on 
November 30, 2018 and May 31, 2019. 
 
Section 4 – Office of Record 
The official list of properties subject to potential assessment, fees or taxation of the District is on 
file and available for public inspection in the City Clerk’s office, and further that such list is the 
last completed property tax record maintained by the Department of Revenue for the county.  The 
City Clerk’s office is designated as the office of record for the minutes to be maintained. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Commission of the City of Great Falls, Montana, 
this 4th day of September, 2018. 
 
 

                                                     
Bob Kelly, Mayor                         

ATTEST: 
 
 
                                               
Lisa Kunz, City Clerk 
 
 
(Seal of the City) 
 
 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 165 of 284                                     Attachment # 1



APPROVED FOR LEGAL CONTENT: 
 
 
                                                                          
Sara R. Sexe, City Attorney 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 166 of 284                                     Attachment # 1





 PUBLIC HEARING NOTICE 

 

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that Resolution 10247 – A Resolution Levying and Assessing 

the Cost of Great Falls Park District Number 1 in the City of Great Falls, Montana for the Fiscal Year 

Beginning July 1, 2018 and Ending June 30, 2019 – will be brought before the Great Falls City 

Commission for public hearing in the Commission Chambers, Civic Center Building, 2 Park Drive 

South, Great Falls, Montana on Tuesday, September 4, 2018, at 7:00 o’clock p.m.  Any interested 

person may appear and speak for or against said Resolution 10247 or submit in writing any 

comments to the City Clerk prior to or during the Commission Meeting.  

 

 

/s/ Lisa Kunz 

City Clerk 

 

 

 

DO NOT PUBLISH BELOW THIS LINE: 

Publication Dates:  August 10 & 17, 2018 

 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 168 of 284                                     Attachment # 3



Agenda # 25.
Commission Meeting Date: August 7, 2018

City of Great Falls
Commission Agenda Report

Item: Ordinance 3180 - An Ordinance to establish PUD Planned Unit Development zoning upon
annexation for the property legally described in Certificate of Survey #5162,for a project known as
Wheat Ridge Estates, Phase I.

From: Tom Micuda, Deputy Director, Planning and Community Development

Initiated By: KYSO Corporation

Presented By: Craig Raymond, Director, Planning and Community Development

Action Requested: City Commission accept Ordinance 3180 on first reading and set a public hearing
for September 18, 2018.

Suggested Motion:
1. Commissioner moves:      
 

"I move that the City Commission (accept/not accept) Ordinance 3180 on first reading and (set/not
set) a public hearing for September 18, 2018."

 
2. Mayor requests a second to the motion, public comment, Commission discussion, and calls for the
vote.

Staff Recommendation:
Although City staff does not support the proposed annexation, establishment of PUD zoning, and the
preliminary subdivision plat for the applicant's proposal, staff does support setting the public hearing for
the proposal on September 18.  At the end of its April 24, 2018 meeting, the Planning Advisory
Board/Zoning Commission recommended that the City Commission approve the applicant's request
despite a negative recommendation from City staff. 

Summary:
The applicant, KYSO Corporation, is requesting annexation, zoning, and subdivision of a 21.10 acre
parcel located south of the East Great Falls Retail Center anchored by the Walmart Superstore. The
21.10 acre parcel is one of three parcels that comprise 227.63 acres owned by the applicant. The
applicant's 227.63 acres are bordered by the Walmart store and vacant commercially zoned property to
the north, the KOA Campground and vacant property to the west, vacant property to the south, and vacant
property to the east. The northeast portion of the 227.63 acres adjoining US Highway 89 and the
Malmstrom Air Force Base contains a 10.21 acre Airfield Restrictive Easement not being disturbed for
development. This decreases the total potential development area to 217.42 acres.

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 169 of 284                                     



 
The 21.10 acre parcel and two other remaining tracts are located within the Cascade County Planning
Jurisdiction.  These tracts are zoned Agricultural, which restricts development to single family detached
units or two-unit dwellings on parcels that must be at least 20 acres in size. Because the 21.10 acre
parcel is contiguous to the City limits as a result of the East Great Falls Retail Center annexation, it is
eligible to be considered for a developer-initiated annexation request.
 
The applicant has long had a vision of developing the entire 200+ acre area for a master planned
community featuring different types of residential housing products,  mixed use parcels immediately
adjoining the East Great Falls Retail Center, a Town Center featuring some higher density housing and
commercial services, and numerous pocket parks and linear greenways. Because of this concept, the
applicant is requesting Planned Unit Development (PUD) zoning for the 21.10 acre tract to be annexed.
The applicant's proposal for this tract also includes subdivision to create three mixed use lots.  Although
these lots would be zoned PUD, the development of the lots is proposed to be modeled almost precisely
according to the standards and allowed uses of the City's M-1 Mixed-use zoning district. This district
allows a range of residential housing types, some retail uses, office uses, institutional uses, and light
manufacturing. The combined area of the mixed use lots is 1.82 acres.
 
The applicant also wishes to subdivide another portion of the 21.10 acres for 37 single family detached
home lots. All of the proposed lots would be at least 11,500 square feet and most
resemble development one would find in the City's R-2 Single-family medium density zoning district,
which requires 11,000 square foot residential lots. The remaining development standards for this portion
of the proposed PUD, such as lot width, building heights, setbacks, and lot coverage percentage, are
requested to be a mix of standards found in the City's R-1, R-2, and R-3 zoning districts.  Although the
proposed use of the lots will be for single family detached homes, the applicant is requesting permitted
uses consistent with the R-1 zoning district. The combined area of the residential lots is 12.50 acres,
with the remaining acreage being devoted to streets (public and private) and greenspace.
 
The applicant's request for annexation, establishment of PUD zoning, and a Preliminary Plat to
subdivide the mixed use and single family home lots requires consideration by both the Planning
Advisory Board/Zoning Commission and City Commission. Staff analysis of applicable review issues
is provided in the background section of the report.
 
Due to the policy issues created by the applicant's request, as well as the difference of opinion between
the Planning Advisory Board/Zoning Commission and City staff, two meetings were needed to reach a
recommendation. First, a public hearing was conducted by the Planning Advisory Board/Zoning
Commission on March 27, 2018. After the close of the public hearing, the item was tabled for a later
date because of the Planning Advisory Board/Zoning Commission members' desire to take additional
time to evaluate a significant amount of new information which was presented by applicant at the March
27 meeting.
 
At the April 24 meeting of the Planning Advisory Board/Zoning Commission, both City staff and the
applicant provided additional presentations and materials as follow-up to the previous month's public
hearing. After hearing additional testimony, the Board overruled the staff's recommendation of denial and
recommended to the City Commission that the requested annexation, establishment of PUD zoning, and
subdivision be approved. The Board's recommendations on all three requests were not unanimous, with
the votes being 6-3 in favor of annexation, 6-3 in favor of establishing PUD zoning, and 5-4 in favor of
the preliminary subdivision plat.  At the meeting, City staff assisted the Board in developing alternative
findings of fact to support these recommendations. The alternative findings plus the staff's original
findings of denial are being provided for the City Commission's review.  

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 170 of 284                                     



 
 

Background:
The applicant has been developing property within Great Falls for many years. Specifically, the
applicant has developed the Berkner Heights residential subdivision as well as the East Ridge
residential subdivision in the southeast portion of the community. The applicant has been interested in
developing the larger 227.63 acre parcel since 2005. For various reasons, including City concerns about
the potential impacts of development on Malmstrom Air Force Base, no development proposal has
moved forward for public hearing review.
 
Annexation is discretionary, not mandatory.  The City is not required to approve every application to
annex property, but rather to evaluate requests for annexation on their individual merits as they relate to
the City's interests - particularly the ability for the City to provide essential services. If a weighing of the
merits does not support annexation, the City may disapprove the application pursuant to MCA §7-2-
4601(3). 
 
The City's evaluation of the applicant's annexation, zoning, and subdivision requests requires the City
Commission to accept specific Findings of Fact for each request.  In its own evaluation and development
of proposed Findings of Fact, City staff discussed the proposed project with other City departments,
outside legal counsel retained in existing litigation where the City is a defendant, as well as
representatives from Malmstrom Air Force Base. These discussions revealed the presence of the
following challenges:
 
Public Safety Service: Because the 21.10 acre parcel is only contiguous to the City limits on the
parcel's north side and because the property is located at the southeast boundary of Great Falls, 
it  presents challenges for police, fire, and emergency services. In the event of a fire or EMS call, the
typical response to an incident on this parcel would come from City Fire Station #3 located at 3325
Central Avenue. According to Great Falls Fire Rescue (GFFR), the current average response time to
provide service to the closest edge of the adjoining Walmart property is approximately six to
seven minutes. A 4 minute response time is the industry standard for service according to the National
Fire Protection Association. Please see a color-coded response time map provided by the Fire
Department as an attachment to this report.
 
During the Planning Board hearing, the applicant argued that the GFFR response time map did not
support Staff's indication that the emergency response time to the proposed development was six to seven
minutes. Staff agrees that the map itself does not indicate a six to seven minute time. The response time
map was illustrative based upon data from 2014-16, which was two to four years old. Around the time
Walmart opened, GFFR performed a test run to determine the response time, and it took GFFR seven
minutes and twenty seconds to respond to the store. Additionally, eight 2018 calls from the Walmart
store, two of which were non-emergent, had an average response time of six and a half to seven minutes.
The  response time is the time en route to the time GFFR arrives on scene.
 
Finally, information provided in July 2018 to GFFR by the City's contracted private ambulance service
provider, which referenced a nationwide paramedic shortage, adds to the City's concern regarding
overstretching its emergency response capabilities. 
 
While the attached map shows other areas already in the City that have equal or even longer response
times, there are some other aspects about the parcel's locational context and proposed access design that

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 171 of 284                                     



cause additional challenges. First, the submitted Phase I Subdivision Plan only shows a single public
street access for the 37 single family lots and 3 mixed use lots using a proposed extension of 57th
Street South. The 2012 International Fire Code (IFC), Appendix D, requires two separate and approved
fire apparatus access roads when the number of dwelling units exceeds 30. The applicant has initiated
the permit process with the Montana Department of Transportation to get an emergency access approach
onto Highway 89. An exhibit showing the proposed approach location is included as an attachment to
this report. The applicant has incorporated the emergency access into the proposed Phase I plan
and committed to its construction.  
 
The City-adopted 2012 International Fire Code (D.102.1) pertains to the applicant's proposed
secondary access drive. This section reads:
 

D102.1 Access and Loading. Facilities, buildings or portions of buildings hereafter constructed
shall be accessible to fire department apparatus by way of an approved fire apparatus access road
with an asphalt, concrete or other approved driving surface capable of supporting the imposed load
of fire apparatus weighing at least 75,000 pounds (34 050 kg).

 
The applicant's proposed emergency access drive utilizing a millings surface was evaluated by City
Engineering and GFFR Staff. Both departments have indicated that the asphalt milling is not acceptable
for a number of reasons, including, but not limited to:
 

1. An asphalt-milling surface will not provide a durable emergency access point, especially
considering Great Falls' climate and ground conditions. Further, the applicant indicates that the
access road would need to be seeded to prevent non-emergency use. This seeding requires water
and maintenance for grass to become established, and such rooting will degrade the integrity of the
milled surface;

2. An asphalt-milled surface requires significantly more maintenance than an asphalt surface; and
 

3. An asphalt-milled surface will not be as resistant to degradation after precipitation. Rain or
snowfall will lower the ability of the roadway to bear the weight of at least a 75,000 pound fire
engine.

 
Complicating the City service issue even further is the parcel's location in reference to properties to
the west. The parcel borders a developed property, the KOA Campground.  However, that property is
not annexed into the City and is served by a private drive which does not connect to the applicant's
parcel. The nearest existing east-west oriented public street to the west of the parcel (13th Avenue
South) is over 1/2 mile from the applicant's property. The Annexation Improvement Agreement for the
East Great Falls Retail Center (which includes the new Walmart) required dedication of a 60-foot wide
right of way between the applicant's property and the Walmart property. If the applicant's property is
annexed and future phases of the larger acreage are considered for development, the applicant should be
required to construct a small portion of 13th Avenue South. However, the full construction of 13th
Avenue South from 57th Street to another viable connection point into the City limits would require the
cooperation of other private parties, over which the City has no control.
 
In summary, the City Fire and Engineering Departments have legitimate concerns over the functionality
of the proposed secondary emergency access drive, and all staff are concerned about the difficulty in
creating a viable public street connection into the City to provide much needed additional access. 
 
The applicant correctly indicates that the City may levy impact fees under MCA §7-6-1601 et seq. to

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 172 of 284                                     



address improvements to public safety service. While the City Staff agrees that the City Commission has
the discretion to levy impact fees, the applicant's position does not consider three salient points:
 

1. The City Commission has been adverse to assess impact fees for the past thirty or so years;
 
2. Impact Fee levies are tools available when the City chooses to exercise its discretion if it
determines that an annexation is in the City's best interests. Given the issues particular to this
application, Staff does not recommend annexation here; and
 
3. Notwithstanding the analytical burden imposed in creating an impact fee service area report,
under §7-6-1602(7)(e), impact fees are not permitted to include operational or maintenance
expenses. In consideration of the already stretched public safety services, this would be an
additional unfunded burden that the City is not equipped to undertake at this time.
 

Stormwater Management: The applicant has provided a preliminary stormwater drainage submission
to the City for the entire master plan area. This plan proposes a series of detention ponds designed to
hold the post-development rate of flow to slightly  less than the pre-development flow rate currently
occurring for the property.  The applicant is proposing a fairly large detention pond that would
temporarily remain in the County's jurisdiction and has been designed to capture and detain storm
drainage from the proposed Phase I subdivision as well as future development phases 2-9 (almost the
northern half of the entire property).
 
Much like with the public safety issue, the challenge for the City is the property's location. Phase I as
well as the larger proposed master plan area is located at the top of a drainage basin that flows into an
area known as "Gibson Flats." As discussed in great detail during Planning Board deliberations, the City
is currently defending claims against itself where over $2,000,000 in damages have been claimed by L.
Johnson Corporation. These claims are based upon alleged damage to the Corporation's property
resulting from drainage issues from prior developments in the Berkner Heights, Whispering Ridge,
Charles Russell Addition, Christensen Addition, East Ridge Addition, and East Great Falls Retail
Center Addition. The L.Johnson farm ground is directly south and west of the applicant's proposed
development as can be seen in an attached map exhibit which was also displayed for the Planning Board.
 
Although the applicant's plan addresses reduction in stormwater flow rate, it does not mitigate for
the increased total volume of water resulting from the conversion of farm ground to impervious surfaces.
The plan also creates a concentration of the stormwater discharge point rather than dispersed points of
natural flow. Finally, the applicant's plan also does not account for the potential of a resulting increase in
groundwater flows. Even with the applicant's proposal to reduce flow rate, there is the likelihood of
increased issues in the downstream area, potentially exacerbating an issue already in litigation.
 
This potential exacerbation is apparently evident to the Plaintiff in the L. Johnson litigation, as the
lawyer representing the L. Johnson Corporation even attended the Planning Board meetings and has
requested that the City provide informal discovery, copies of documents, and the recording of the March
27 meeting. Simply, if this annexation application is approved, the City anticipates that the Plaintiff will
claim that there are increased damages in its case, potentially resulting from this development.
 
Staff has proposed the applicant's retention of stormwater through a lined pond system or diversion of the
stormwater to the next drainage basin to the north, as alternatives to the detention plan offered by the
applicant. However, the applicant contends that such alternatives adversely affect downstream water
rights and that the City (not the applicant) would have to obtain permits for such water rights use with
retention or diversion. If this application is approved and the land is annexed, the City will be faced

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 173 of 284                                     



either with an exacerbation of an existing issue already in litigation or the potential of additional water
rights litigation.
 
Staff believes that the stormwater issues alone are sufficient for the City to exercise its discretion to deny
annexation of this property, in light of the unique characteristics of applicant's property.
 
Impacts Associated with Malmstrom Air Force Base: Once again, the property's location creates an
annexation and development challenge because of its proximity to Malmstrom Air Force Base (MAFB).
City staff members have talked to both representatives of MAFB, as well as Montana Air National
Guard (MANG) about the potential development of the master plan area. Additionally, staff
members have discussed the specific Phase I annexation and development  proposal with Malmstrom
representatives.
 
After MAFB had its historical flying mission officially realigned in 1995,  regular discussions have
occurred among the MAFB, City, and County officials over how to strike an appropriate balance
between how to protect the existing and future operational capabilities of the Air Base, while still
allowing for appropriate development on the east side of the community on lands proximate to the
Base's runway.
 
Discussions on this issue gained focus during the planning and development of what is known as the Joint
Land Use Study (JLUS). Resolution 9965 pertaining to this study was adopted by the City Commission
on May 1, 2012. The last recital before the proclamation states, "Whereas, the City of Great Falls finds
the recommendations contained in the JLUS may protect the mission and future missions of Malmstrom,
encourage compatible land use around the base and help to sustain growth within the City and Cascade
County." The City Commission accepted the report and indicated that it may be used as a resource in
developing future land use decisions.
 
The JLUS identifies a significant portion of the larger master plan area within what is known as
Accident Potential Zone I (APZ). Please see a map attachment developed by the City overlaying the
Phase I project, larger parcel, and APZ. According to the map results, approximately 89 percent of the
larger parcel is within the APZ. For the proposed 21.10 acre annexation and subdivision request,
slightly less than 30 percent of the acreage is shown within the APZ.
 
The following excerpt from pages 3-8 of the JLUS provides some guidance regarding land use planning
in areas proximate to the Air Base:
 

COMPATIBLE USES
Open Space – This use typically has few structures and excludes residential and other developed
uses.
Agricultural – This use typically restricts the number of structures and allows for limited or very
low density inhabitable structures and other developed uses.
Commercial – This use is compatible when not within a designated military safety zone and
buildings and structures are below a specified building height.
Industrial – This type of use typically may be compatible because industrial uses have many of the
same characteristics as military uses (e.g. noise, dust, steam, smoke, safety, etc.). Industrial uses
located near military housing, however, can be incompatible but impacts may be mitigated
depending on the specific use.
 
INCOMPATIBLE USES

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 174 of 284                                     



Medium to High Density Residential – These uses are not compatible within close proximity to
military facilities because high numbers of people are permanently congregated in small areas. In
general, residential uses are discouraged near military facilities because of increased safety risks,
noise exposure and the typical heights of high density buildings, which can interfere with low-level
flights.
Schools, Childcare Centers, Assisted Living Complexes – These uses encourage the
congregation of people and tend to be noise sensitive.
Public Institutions – These uses encourage the congregation of people and tend to be noise
sensitive.
Office Buildings – These uses encourage the congregation of people.
 

The JLUS is a land use planning document that has not resulted in revisions to the City's Land
Development Code or zoning maps. Staff is providing this summary to the City Commission because the
document should be considered in the evaluation of the applicant's annexation request.
 
Currently, there are helicopter training sorties flying over the larger parcel area owned by the applicant.
Staff has been advised that the MAFB and the MANG units are also collaborating to consider
developing a future C-130 flying mission that would involve the construction of what is called an
"Assault Landing Strip" that is proposed to be located just east of the current runway. The planning for
this landing strip is in the Environmental Assessment process. Although staff acknowledges that the
higher volume noise contours of the Environmental Assessment  are not shown to encroach on the
applicant's annexation area, staff remains concerned about the possibility of noise complaints and
expected sound mitigation requests from future residents of the proposed development. Staff has advised
the applicant  on multiple occasions to proactively identify proper noise mitigation techniques into the
construction design for both the mixed use buildings and residential dwellings. To date, the applicant has
refused to cooperate on this issue in its petition for annexation. If the Commission overrules the
staff recommendation and votes in favor the project, this mitigation should be considered as a condition
of approval.
 
The applicant states that City staff is using the Joint Land Use Study (JLUS) as a regulatory document.
However, this is not correct. Staff is referencing the JLUS for guidance to consider in evaluating this
annexation request in the area evaluated by the JLUS. Simply because the JLUS was not adopted as a
regulatory document, but one providing guidance (similar to the City's Growth Policy), does not mean
that the JLUS should be ignored. The JLUS provides the City with guidance as to how its decisions may
affect the long term viability and mission of MAFB.
 
The applicant further asserts that the use of the JLUS impacts its property rights. However, this position
is misplaced. The analysis here is whether this specific annexation is in the City's
interests. Annexation is a discretionary decision the City can make under applicable Montana law. A
rejection of the annexation request would not impact the applicants' property rights, as the City has no
jurisdiction over the property if annexation does not occur.
 
On this point, a document and public statement was provided by Cascade County Commissioner Joe
Briggs at the March Planning Advisory Board/Zoning Commission meeting. He described the
Application as an attempt to "circumvent the existing County Zoning," as the property is currently zoned
in Cascade County for Agricultural uses and that zoning was established to avoid encroachment and
potential disruption of the MAFB mission. If that were the case, the zoning action was taken by the
governing body with the power to restrict the applicants' property, Cascade County.
 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 175 of 284                                     



Further, Lt. Col. Mignery, MAFB Base Engineer, provided City staff with a Bullet Background Paper
On Encroachment Impacts from Development of Compatible Lands which is attached as Memo from
MAFB. This includes the applicant's 21.10 acre property. A summary of points from the Bullet
Background Paper includes:
 

1. Undeveloped lands southwest of Malmstrom AFB are currently compatible, however, the
potential exists for residential and/or commercial development that could impact military
operations;
 
2. Several assets would be impacted by the potential development area, including helicopter
movement areas, Drop Zones and proposed Assault Landing Zone; and
 
3. Development could have an impact to Helicopter operations and C-130H operations.

The Bullet Background Paper also discusses that development could have the following negative
impacts:

1.  Light pollution effects on multiple arrival and departure flight tracks of the Helicopter
operations,
2.   Flights at 500 feet above ground and aircraft noise posing a nuisance to the proposed
development,
3.   That the location of the approach and departure zones for the active drop zones and proposed
assault landing zones may be impacted by development.

 
Other Issues and Review Comments: During the City's review of the proposed annexation, PUD, and
preliminary plat, the City has identified a short list of additional issues that should be discussed by the
City Commission if it approves the proposal.  These include:
 

1. Annexation Improvement Agreement - Because City staff and the applicant both prefer a City
Commission decision on the annexation before working on a detailed Annexation Improvement 
Agreement, any decision to approve the project should be conditioned on the City and applicant
developing a separate Improvement Agreement that would have to be approved by City
Commission. The Improvement Agreement will address all required public improvements, any off-
site improvements, and reimbursements owed to the owner or paid out by the owner for previously
installed infrastructure.
 
2. Transportation Connectivity - If the entire master plan area is developed, more streets should
be stubbed to perimeter property lines - particularly 57th Street South, 2) Additionally, the
applicant should be required to construct 13th Avenue South to a public street connection within
City limits as part of additional development of the master plan area.
 
3. Utilities - Significantly more detailed discussions are required between the applicant and Public
Works concerning the design of sewer, water, and stormwater facilities.
 

Fiscal Impact:
The applicant contends that the proposed development of the 21.10 acres would have a positive fiscal
impact to the City because of property taxes generated from the proposed single family and mixed use
parcels which will be developed. Staff contends that such revenues are more than outweighed by the
following negative factors:

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 176 of 284                                     



 
1) the risk of added complication and damage claims related to the on-going Gibson Flats litigation;
 
2) potential for inadequate public safety response, poor roadway connectivity, and maintenance
concerns associated with the proposed emergency response access drive; and
 
3) development impacts to both the current and potential long-term missions of Malmstrom Air
Force Base and Montana Air National Guard, with such impacts being in conflict with the policy
guidance of the JLUS.

 

Alternatives:
The City Commission could deny acceptance of Ordinance 3180 on first reading and not set the public
hearing.

Concurrences:
The Fire Department, Public Works Department, Legal Department, and City Manager's Office have
been consulted extensively on this petition and concur with the staff's recommendation against the
applicant's request for annexation, PUD zoning, and subdivision based on negative impacts to public
safety, downstream stormwater concerns, and the short and long-term impacts to Malmstrom Air Force
Base.

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 177 of 284                                     



ATTACHMENTS:

Ordinance 3180
Ordinance 3180 Attachment A
Ordinance 3180 Attachment B
Ordinance 3180 Attachment C
Vicinity Map
Existing Conditions
Purpose and Intent Narrative
Conceptual Site Plan
Overall Site Plan
COS #5162
MAFB Accident Potential Zone Map
Memo from MAFB
Growth Policy
PUD Lot Design
Phase I Site Plan
Drainage Map
Fire Response Time
Road Section
Monument Examples
PAB Minutes - 3-27-18
Information Submitted at PAB Public Hearing 3-27-18
PAB Minutes - 4-24-18
Information Submitted at PAB 4-24-18
Annexation Findings of Fact - Updated
PUD Findings of Fact - Updated
Subdivision Findings of Fact - Updated
Alternative Findings - Annexation - Planning Board - Updated
Alternative Findings - PUD - Planning Board - Updated
Alternative Findings - Subdivision - Planning Board - Updated

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 178 of 284                                     



 

 

 

ORDINANCE 3180 

 

AN ORDINANCE BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF GREAT 

FALLS ASSIGNING A ZONING CLASSIFICATION OF PUD PLANNED UNIT 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT TO THE PROPERTY LEGALLY DESCRIBED 

AS: PARCEL 1 OF CERTIFICATE OF SURVEY #5162; A 21.10 ACRE TRACT 

LOCATED IN THE W1/2 OF SECTION 15, TOWNSHIP 20 NORTH, RANGE 4 

EAST, P.M.M. MT, CASCADE COUNTY, MONTANA 

 

* * * * * * * * * *  
  

 WHEREAS, KYSO CORPORATION is the owner of record and has petitioned the City 

of Great Falls to annex and subdivide the subject property, consisting of ±21.10 acres, as legally 

described above; and, 

 

WHEREAS, KYSO CORPORATION has petitioned said property to be assigned a City 

zoning classification of PUD Planned Unit Development district, upon annexation to the City; and, 

  

 WHEREAS, notice of assigning said zoning classification to the subject property was 

published in the Great Falls Tribune advising that a public hearing on this zoning designation 

would be held on the 18th day of September, 2018, before final passage of said Ordinance herein; 

and, 

 

 WHEREAS, following said public hearing, it was found and decided that said zoning 

designation be made; and, 

 

WHEREAS, the zoning map amendment on said property meets the Basis of Decision 

requirements in the Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Section 17.16.29.050; and, 
  

WHEREAS, the Great Falls Zoning Commission conducted a public hearing on April 24, 

2018, to consider said zoning and at the conclusion of said hearing passed a motion recommending 

the City Commission zone the property legally described as Parcel 1 of Certificate of Survey 

#5162; A 21.10 Acre Tract located in the W1/2 of Section 15, Township 20 North, Range 4 East 

P.M. MT, Cascade County, Montana to PUD Planned Unit Development district. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF 

GREAT FALLS, MONTANA: 

 

 Section 1. It is determined that the herein requested zoning assignment will meet the criteria 

and guidelines cited in Section 76-2-304 Montana Code Annotated, and Section 17.16.29.50 of 

the Land Development Code of the City of Great Falls.  

 

 Section 2. That the property legally described as: Parcel 1 of Certificate of Survey #5162; 

A 21.10 Acre Tract located in the W1/2 of Section 15, Township 20 North, Range 4 East P.M. 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 179 of 284                                     Attachment # 1



MT, Cascade County, Montana be designated as PUD Planned Unit Development district, subject 

to the development standards attached hereto as Attachment A and the Allowable Land Uses 

attached hereto as Attachment B, and by this reference made a part hereof, as well as all other 

applicable regulatory codes and ordinances. 

 

 Section 3. Except for the development standards in Attachment A and Allowable Land 

Uses in Attachment B, where the OCCGF regulations apply to a specific zoning district, M-1 

Mixed-use district regulations shall apply to the lots designated as “Mixed Use M-1” in the Phase 

I area of Attachment C and R-2 Single-family medium density district regulations shall apply to 

the lots designated as “Single Family Residential PUD” in the same attachment.  

 

 Section 4. This ordinance shall be in full force and effect thirty (30) days after its passage 

and adoption by the City Commission. 

 

 ACCEPTED by the City Commission of the City of Great Falls, Montana on first reading 

August 7, 2018. 

  

 ADOPTED by the City Commission of the City of Great Falls, Montana on second reading 

September 18, 2018. 

 

 

 Bob Kelly, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

Lisa Kunz, City Clerk 

 

 

(SEAL OF CITY) 

 

 

APPROVED FOR LEGAL CONTENT: 

 

 

 

Sara R.  Sexe, City Attorney 

 

 

State of Montana ) 

County of Cascade : ss 

City of Great Falls ) 

 

 I, Lisa Kunz, City Clerk of the City of Great Falls, Montana, do certify that I did post as 

required by law and as prescribed and directed by the Commission, Ordinance 3180 on the Great 

Falls Civic Center posting board and the Great Falls City website. 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 180 of 284                                     Attachment # 1



 

 

   

 Lisa Kunz, City Clerk 

(CITY SEAL) 

 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 181 of 284                                     Attachment # 1

























City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 193 of 284                                     Attachment # 5



City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 194 of 284                                     Attachment # 6



City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 195 of 284                                     Attachment # 7





City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 197 of 284                                     Attachment # 9







Mr. Chris Murphy/341 CES/CEIE/cjm/20 Feb 18 
 

BULLET BACKGROUD PAPER 

 

ON 

 

ENCROACHMENT IMPACTS FROM DEVELOPMENT OF COMPATIBLE LANDS  

 

 
PURPOSE 

 
To provide information on the impacts to military operations from the development of 
compatible lands southwest of Malmstrom AFB  
 
BACKGROUND 

 

- Undeveloped lands southwest of Malmstrom AFB are currently compatible, however, the 
potential exists for residential and/or commercial development that could impact military 
operations    

    
- Assets impacted by potential development 
   -- 110-acre Helicopter Movement Area 
   -- 625-acre Drop Zone (DZ) 
   -- 4,800-ft long x 60-ft wide proposed Assault Landing Zone (ALZ) 
 
- Usage or throughput of capabilities impacted 
   -- UH-1N Helicopter operations 
     --- 1,232 flight orders per year (FY16) 
     --- 1,696 sorties per year (FY16 – sorties include main base and missile field) 
     --- 42 functional check flights per year (FY16) 
     --- Flight Hour Program increased by 25% in FY18 (3,200-hrs to 4,000-hrs)    
   -- C-130H operations 
     --- 500 training bundle/sandbag drops per year 
     --- 500 heavy drops per year 
     --- 500 projected sorties per year, if the ALZ is constructed  

 
DISCUSSION 

 

- Development could impact multiple arrival and departure flight tracks of the UH-1N 
   -- Anticipated light pollution from development will impair the ability to monitor aircraft in  
      formation during nighttime operations 
   -- UH-1Ns fly at 500-ft Above Ground Level (AGL) southwest of Malmstrom AFB 
   -- The area is not located within modeled noise contours ranging from 65 dB Day-Night                               

average sound Level (DNL) to 80 dB DNL, however, aircraft noise will pose a nuisance to 
this area with nighttime events considered more annoying to residential areas 

     --- Development could lead to increased noise complaints and drive avoidance  
          requirements and/or time of day restrictions 
 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 200 of 284                                     Attachment # 12



Mr. Chris Murphy/341 CES/CEIE/cjm/20 Feb 18 
 

 
- The approach and departure zones to both the active DZ and the proposed ALZ could be 

impacted by development 
   -- C-130Hs currently execute 500 heavy drops and 500 training bundle/sandbag drops per year 

with 500 sorties per year projected for the ALZ 
   -- Other C-130 units could utilize the ALZ for training, if constructed   
   -- Development could lead to noise complaints and drive avoidance requirements and/or time  
      of day restrictions 
 
- There is planned construction of a new Weapons Storage Facility, located on the south side of 

Malmstrom AFB 
 
RECOMMENDATION 

 
None, for information only. 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 201 of 284                                     Attachment # 12



City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 202 of 284                                     Attachment # 13



City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 203 of 284                                     Attachment # 14



City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 204 of 284                                     Attachment # 15



City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 205 of 284                                     Attachment # 16



City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 206 of 284                                     Attachment # 17



City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 207 of 284                                     Attachment # 18



City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 208 of 284                                     Attachment # 19



 

 

 MINUTES OF THE MEETING  
OF THE 

GREAT FALLS PLANNING ADVISORY BOARD/ZONING COMMISSION 
March 27, 2018 

 

CALL TO ORDER 
 

The regular meeting of the Great Falls Planning Advisory Board/Zoning Commission was called 
to order by Vice Chair Mike Wedekind at 3:00 p.m. in the Commission Chambers of the Civic 
Center.  

 
ROLL CALL & ATTENDANCE 

 

Planning Board Members present:   
   
 Michael Wedekind, Vice Chair 
 Dave Bertelsen  
 Scot Davis 
 Anthony Houtz 
 Tory Mills 
 Charles Pankratz 
 Patrick Sullivan 
 Amanda Thompson  
 
Planning Board Members absent: 
  
 Pete Fontana, Chair 
        
Planning Staff Members present: 
  
 Thomas Micuda, Deputy Director P&CD 
 Erin Borland, Planner II 
 Connie Tryon, Sr. Admin Asst 
    
Other Staff present: 
  
 Sara Sexe, City Attorney 
 Steve Hester, Fire Chief 
 Dave Dobbs, City Engineer 
 Jim Rearden, Director Public Works 
 Dirk Johnson, Fire Marshal 
  
Mr. Micuda affirmed a quorum of the Board was present.  
  

MINUTES 
 
Vice Chair Mike Wedekind asked if there were any comments or corrections to the minutes of the 
meeting held on February 27, 2018. Seeing none, Mr. Davis moved to approve the minutes. Mr. 
Houtz seconded, and all being in favor, the minutes were approved.  
 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 209 of 284                                     Attachment # 20



Minutes of the March 27, 2018 

Planning Advisory Board Meeting 

Page 2 

 

 

BOARD ACTIONS REQUIRING PUBLIC HEARING 
 

Annexation, Zoning, and Preliminary Plat for Wheat Ridge Estates Phase I 
 

Tom Micuda, Deputy Director of PCD, said the subject property is a 20.98 acre parcel directly 
south of the East Great Falls Retail Center. The applicant, KYSO Corporation, is requesting 
annexation and an assignment of Planned Unit Development (PUD) zoning. Mr. Micuda explained 
the parcel is currently in County planning jurisdiction zoned Agricultural, and the proposed 
preliminary plat request is for a major subdivision to create three mixed use lots and 37 single 
family home lots, for a total of 40 lots. Mr. Micuda reviewed the Aerial Map and explained the 
20.98 acre phase proposed is part of a much larger parcel of land that is about 227 acres. The 
property is contiguous to City limits on the north side of the parcel, with the majority of the parcel 
surrounded by County jurisdiction.  
 
The applicant has an overall conceptual plan for the entire 227 acres, minus 10.21 acres, which 
is an Airfield Restrictive Easement that cannot be developed. The applicant proposes extending 
57th Street South, incorporating linear greenways and pocket parks, having a series of detention 
ponds, and creating a gravel emergency access drive to Highway 89. 
 
Mr. Micuda reviewed the transportation challenges associated with the project. Currently, the only 
proposed public access into the development is by 57th Street South, and a second public access 
is recommended by Public Works due to the size of the development. The emergency secondary 
gravel access proposed by the applicant for public safety is not consistent with Fire 
recommendations, and is not part of Phase I development. The nearest public street system is 
approximately ½ mile away. 
 
Dave Dobbs, City Engineer, discussed the drainage challenges associated with the proposed 
project. He noted an area of land southwest of the subject property currently pending litigation 
with the City of Great Falls due to drainage issues onto nearby property, causing flooding and 
crop loss. He explained the current proposal for a detention pond will have potential impacts on 
the sensitive downstream system. The City’s Engineering Department recommends retention or 
diversion, but the applicant is not in favor of either approach. In light of current pending litigation 
and the potential for further litigation no matter what stormwater management system is used, Mr. 
Dobbs said it is not in the City’s best interest to annex this property into the City. 
 
Stever Hester, Fire Chief, discussed the challenges associated with public safety and fire. He said 
the first major concern of this particular development is time and distance; fire station #3 is almost 
3 miles from the development and would take over 7 minutes to get to. The national standard for 
response time is 4 minutes. He discussed the concerns of potential fires given the location, as 
well as access in and out of the development. He explained the proposed gravel access raises 
concerns about being able to support a 75,000 pound fire truck, especially in the spring time. 
 
Mr. Micuda presented some major impacts of the development in relation to Malmstrom Air Force 
Base. Potentially residential and commercial development could impact current and proposed 
base operations. A memo provided from the base expressed concerns on light pollution, noise 
concerns, as well as the C130H missions. Finally Mr. Micuda explained the Accident Potential 
Zone, which is a zone that was identified by a significant study that occurred in association with 
the Joint Land Use Study (JLUS). The majority of the 227 acre property is directly in the Accident 
Potential Zone, which is a much bigger concern for residential and commercial development due 
to the potential for aircraft accidents. 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 210 of 284                                     Attachment # 20



Minutes of the March 27, 2018 

Planning Advisory Board Meeting 

Page 3 

 

 

 
Mr. Micuda explained staff is recommending denial of the proposed project due to the challenges 
of fire protection, stormwater impacts, access into the development, and conflicts with the 
Accident Potential Zone and Malmstrom Air Force Base.  
 

PETITIONER’S PRESENTATION 
 
Spencer Woith, 1725 41st St South, C&W Development, discussed stormdrain standards, and 
said they did go above and beyond City standards when creating the stormdrain plan; he also 
emphasized having to be careful of violating individual water rights. He reviewed the proposed 
lots and their view and size configuration. He also discussed the single entrance into the 
development, and the ability to create an entry feature for the development.   
 
Dana Heustis, 2901 4th Avenue North, said he represents KYSO Corporation. He voiced his 
disagreement with staff’s decision to recommend denial, and his disagreement with the Accidental 
Potential Zone prohibiting development. Mr. Heustis provided a written statement with exhibits 
detailing his concerns with staff’s recommendation and supporting his right to develop. He also 
emphasized there is no current flying mission at the base, thus development should not be 
prohibited. 
 
Abigail St. Lawrence, PO Box 2019, Helena, MT, attorney for C&W Development, outlined a 
memo she handed out to the Board in response to the staff report. She reviewed her disagreement 
with staff’s concerns on fire response time, the access road, stormwater management, and 
Malmstrom Air Force Base.  
 

PUBLIC QUESTION AND ANSWER SESSION 
 
Terry Thompson, 401 13th Avenue South, asked if the Malmstrom or Black Eagle Fire 
Departments would respond to this subdivision in the event of a fire, whether or not the City has 
requested construction cease north of town due to the difficulty fighting the Vineyard Fire, and 
what the statistics were on noise complaints for residents in the flight path of commercial jets and 
C130s. 
 
Mr. Pankratz asked if the City has adopted the 2012 International Fire Code, and Ms. Sexe 
responded yes.  
 
Chief Hester responded to Ms. Thompson’s question regarding who specifically would respond 
to the proposed subdivision in the event of a fire. It would be the City’s responsibility to respond 
to a fire, but there are mutual aid agreements with other entities such as Malmstrom. However, 
the City still has to be on the scene first before requesting mutual aid help.  
 
Mr. Micuda said construction has not ceased in the developments north of town due to the 
Vineyard Fire. As far as standard commercial air traffic complaints, Mr. Micuda said it may be 
appropriate to contact the airport regarding those complaints.  
 
Mr. Pankratz confirmed that even with mutual aid agreements in the event of a fire, the response 
time remains the same because it is Great Falls’ jurisdiction, so they must respond first. Mutual 
aid agreements do not speed up response time.  
 
There was discussion on the capacity of fire services for a growing Great Falls.  

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 211 of 284                                     Attachment # 20



Minutes of the March 27, 2018 

Planning Advisory Board Meeting 

Page 4 

 

 

 
Mr. Houtz asked for clarification on when the access road would be constructed. Mr. Woith said 
it is proposed for Phase I. Mr. Wedekind asked what the proposed surface would be, and Mr. 
Woith said ground asphalt.  
 
Mr. Bertelsen asked for further clarification on the applicant’s proposed stormwater plan, and 
whether it was designed to current standards. Mr. Dobbs explained the applicant’s proposal and 
why the City cannot recommend their method due to the pending litigation with adjoining property, 
and the increased impacts on that property.  
 

PUBLIC COMMENT 
 

Eric Ray, 3401 1st Avenue South, expressed his support of the project and his disagreement in 
prohibiting development. 
 
Terry Thompson, 401 13th Avenue South, expressed her support of the project and the owner’s 
right to develop this property.  
 
Jolene Schalper, 300 Central Avenue, expressed her support of the project and the need for 
housing in Great Falls.  
 
Rick Higgins, Ulm, expressed his support for the project, and said he does not believe the negative 
possibilities outweigh the benefits of the project. 
 
Kirk Timmer, 4104 15th Avenue South, expressed his support for the project, and the emphasized 
the importance of the City working to help make it happen. 
 
Lee Janetski, 83 Sun River Road, expressed his support for the project in order to start growing 
Great Falls again.  
 
David Weissman, 100 1st Avenue North, expressed his opposition to the development, and 
emphasized that this development would ensure that Malmstrom will never be considered for 
future missions.  
 
Joe Briggs, 5900 Western Drive, expressed his opposition to the project and emphasized the 
importance of the JLUS and the Accident Potential Zone.  
 
Spencer Woith, 1725 41st Street South, said it has been 13 years since they have been trying to 
develop this property, and expressed the importance of this development and diversifying the 
economy for our community. 
 
Laura Huestis, 2901 4th Avenue North, expressed her support for the project.  
 
Mr. Sullivan asked what the general price point for each home would be. Mr. Woith said the first 
phase would be higher end homes, but as they progress through the development they will try to 
hit different price points.  
 
Ms. Thompson asked if there were already interested parties in purchasing the lots in Phase I, 
and Mr. Woith said there are a number of people who have expressed interest.  
 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 212 of 284                                     Attachment # 20



Minutes of the March 27, 2018 

Planning Advisory Board Meeting 

Page 5 

 

 

Mr. Pankratz asked if retaining all of the stormwater was possible, and Mr. Woith said from an 
engineering standpoint, yes, but with a massive cost associated. From a legal standpoint, his 
concerns are with water rights. Mr. Wedekind asked if there was a way for the developer and City 
to compromise on the stormwater plan, and Mr. Woith said he believes there are some options. 
There was more discussion on stormwater ponds and the concerns with this development.  
 

BOARD DISCUSSION AND ACTION 
 
MOTION: That the Planning Advisory Board table the vote until April 24, 2018. 
 
Made by: Mr. Houtz 
Second: Mr. Sullivan 
 
VOTE:  Mr. Bertelsen voted in opposition, and the remaining 7 members voted in favor. 
The motion carried.  

 
COMMUNICATIONS 

 
Next Meeting Agenda – Tuesday, April 10, 2018  

 None  

 

Petitions & Applications Received: 

 3125 8th Avenue North- CUP request for two-unit dwelling in single family zoning district 
 

Mr. Micuda said the Rockcress Commons project, the Buffalo Crossing subdivision preliminary 
plat, and the Terrascapes CUP have all been approved by the City Commission. 
 

PUBLIC COMMENT 
 
There was no public comment. 

 
ADJOURNMENT 

 
There being no further business, Vice Chair Mike Wedekind adjourned the meeting at 6:06 p.m.  
 
 
                                                                     
CHAIRMAN SECRETARY 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 213 of 284                                     Attachment # 20



City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 214 of 284                                     Attachment # 21





City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 216 of 284                                     Attachment # 21



City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 217 of 284                                     Attachment # 21



City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 218 of 284                                     Attachment # 21



City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 219 of 284                                     Attachment # 21



City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 220 of 284                                     Attachment # 21



City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 221 of 284                                     Attachment # 21



City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 222 of 284                                     Attachment # 21



City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 223 of 284                                     Attachment # 21



City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 224 of 284                                     Attachment # 21



City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 225 of 284                                     Attachment # 21







City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 228 of 284                                     Attachment # 21



City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 229 of 284                                     Attachment # 21



City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 230 of 284                                     Attachment # 21



City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 231 of 284                                     Attachment # 21



City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 232 of 284                                     Attachment # 21



City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 233 of 284                                     Attachment # 21



City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 234 of 284                                     Attachment # 21



City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 235 of 284                                     Attachment # 21



City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 236 of 284                                     Attachment # 21









City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 240 of 284                                     Attachment # 21



City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 241 of 284                                     Attachment # 21



City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 242 of 284                                     Attachment # 21



City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 243 of 284                                     Attachment # 21



City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 244 of 284                                     Attachment # 21



City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 245 of 284                                     Attachment # 21



City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 246 of 284                                     Attachment # 21



City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 247 of 284                                     Attachment # 21



City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 248 of 284                                     Attachment # 21



 

 

 MINUTES OF THE MEETING  
OF THE 

GREAT FALLS PLANNING ADVISORY BOARD/ZONING COMMISSION 
April 24, 2018 

 

CALL TO ORDER 
 

The regular meeting of the Great Falls Planning Advisory Board/Zoning Commission was called 
to order by Chair Pete Fontana at 3:00 p.m. in the Commission Chambers of the Civic Center.  

 
ROLL CALL & ATTENDANCE 

 

Planning Board Members present:   
   
  
 Pete Fontana, Chair 
 Michael Wedekind, Vice Chair 
 Dave Bertelsen  
 Scot Davis 
 Anthony Houtz 
 Tory Mills 
 Charles Pankratz 
 Patrick Sullivan 
 Amanda Thompson  
 
Planning Board Members absent: 
  
 None 
        
Planning Staff Members present: 
  
 Craig Raymond, Director P&CD 
 Thomas Micuda, Deputy Director P&CD 
 Erin Borland, Planner II 
 Brad Eatherly, Planner I 
 Connie Tryon, Sr. Admin Asst 
    
Other Staff present: 
  
 Sara Sexe, City Attorney 
 Steve Hester, Fire Chief 
 Dave Dobbs, City Engineer 
 Dirk Johnson, Fire Marshal 
  
Mr. Raymond affirmed a quorum of the Board was present.  
  

 
 
 
 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 249 of 284                                     Attachment # 22



Minutes of the April 24, 2018 

Planning Advisory Board Meeting 

Page 2 

 

 

MINUTES 
 
Chair Pete Fontana asked if there were any comments or corrections to the minutes of the 
meeting held on March 27, 2018. Seeing none, Mr. Sullivan moved to approve the minutes. Mr. 
Davis seconded, and all being in favor, the minutes were approved.  
 

BOARD ACTIONS REQUIRING PUBLIC HEARING 
 

CUP Request 3125 8th Avenue North 
 

Brad Eatherly, Planner I, said the request is for a Conditional Use Permit (CUP) for a Residence, 
Two-Family land use in what is currently zoned R-3 Single-family high density. He reviewed the 
zoning map, site photos, and proposed site plan. The existing sidewalk will be required to be 
repaired during development.  
 
Mr. Eatherly said the proposal is consistent with the City’s Growth Policy, adequate utilities will 
be provided, and the conditional use will not impede upon normal and orderly development. City 
staff does recommend approval of the CUP, and Mr. Eatherly offered to answer any questions. 
 

PETITIONER’S PRESENTATION 
 
Tom Skovron, 112 Riverview Dr. East, said the house that was on the lot was razed and they are 
ready to move forward with something new.  
 

PUBLIC QUESTION AND ANSWER SESSION 
 
There were no questions from the Board or the public. 
 

PUBLIC COMMENT 
 

Harold Hamon, 3115 8th Ave North, spoke in favor of the proposed project. 
 

BOARD DISCUSSION AND ACTION 
 
MOTION: That the Zoning Commission recommends the City Commission approve the 
Conditional Use Permit subject to the applicant fulfilling the listed Conditions of Approval. 
 
Made by: Mr. Sullivan 
Second: Mr. Davis 
 
VOTE:  All in favor, the motion carried. 

 
BOARD ACTIONS NOT REQUIRING PUBLIC HEARING 

 
Wheat Ridge Estates 

 
Tom Micuda, Deputy Director of P&CD, gave a brief background on the project and said the public 
hearing portion was completed at the March 27 meeting. He reviewed the order of procedure for 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 250 of 284                                     Attachment # 22



Minutes of the April 24, 2018 

Planning Advisory Board Meeting 

Page 3 

 

 

removing this item from tabled status, and said staff and the applicant will both give brief remarks, 
and then answer any questions from the Board. 
 
Ms. Thompson disclosed that her mother-in-law did make public comment regarding the proposed 
project during the public hearing, but she had not discussed the project with her. She also 
disclosed that her employer owns land directly across from the proposed project. 
 
MOTION: That the Planning Advisory Board remove the agenda item from the table for 
discussion purposes and further action. 
 
Made by: Mr. Wedekind 
Second: Mr. Houtz 
 
VOTE:  All in favor, the motion carried. 
 
Mr. Micuda said new information was provided to the Board at the meeting on the 27th, and they 
were made available as part of this meeting’s packet. After evaluation of all the additional 
information, the staff recommendation remains the same due to the unique location challenges of 
the proposed project. Mr. Micuda reiterated specific public safety issues including emergency 
response time, the emergency access road and durability concerns of the proposed surface, as 
well as the nearest public street access being over ½ mile away.  
 
Pending litigation in the amount of $2 million for alleged flooding damage to properties directly 
southwest of the proposed project is also a concern for City staff. The applicant is proposing 
stormwater detention at a rate above and beyond what is required; however, this controls rate, 
not volume of water being released.  
 
The third major concern for staff is the location of the project being adjacent to Malmstrom Air 
Force Base. The Accident Potential Zone that was identified by the Joint Land Use Study (JLUS), 
the impact on current and future flying missions, as well as light and noise impacts from any 
residential or commercial development are additional reasons why staff feels the project should 
not move forward at this time due to potential impacts to the Air Base. 
 

PETITIONER COMMENTS 
 
Abigail St. Lawrence, representing KYSO Corporation, said in regards to emergency response 
time, staff is holding the proposed development to a standard that current development is not 
being held to. She also reviewed a geotechnical report evaluating the capacity of the proposed 
emergency access road surface that stated it is capable of holding 75,000 pounds. Ms. St. 
Lawrence discussed impact fees and the ability of the City to levy those fees to address public 
safety issues. 

 

Ms. St. Lawrence stated that while she can appreciate the City’s concern for litigation, the bottom 
line with the stormwater management issue is that the City is holding the developer liable for a 
liability that has not yet occurred. She discussed water rights in regards to staff’s insistence on 
retention versus detention, and explained the developer cannot apply for a water right for a 
retention pond. 

 

Ms. St. Lawrence discussed the issues with Malmstrom Air Force Base, and disputed staff’s 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 251 of 284                                     Attachment # 22



Minutes of the April 24, 2018 

Planning Advisory Board Meeting 

Page 4 

 

 

position on the effect of development on current and future missions. She also touched on the 
edge development concern noted in the staff report and stated that in the approval of the east 
Walmart, the City anticipated growth in the direction of Wheat Ridge. 

 
BOARD QUESTION AND ANSWER SESSION 

 
Mr. Sullivan asked for clarification on whether this is truly the only direction the City can, and will, 
grow. Mr. Micuda said no. 
 
Mr. Fontana inquired about funding for the 13 h Ave South connector and said Ms. St. Lawrence 
testified that there was money in escrow but the City refuted that. He asked if Walmart had paid 
upfront and was anticipating reimbursement by subsequent developers. Ms. St. Lawrence said 
they were mistaken about money being in escrow, but they are willing to pay their proportionate 
share. Mr. Fontana asked staff if Walmart paid up front. Mr. Micuda said the Improvement 
Agreement pertains to reimbursement of water lines, and there is no mention of street 
reimbursement. There was discussion on the dedicated right-of-way and the City’s ability to fully 
connect the street.  
 
Mr. Pankratz asked for clarification from Ms. St. Lawrence on what a particular handout that was 
just provided to Board members was supposed to show. She stated the southeast Great Falls 
Wastewater Master Plan before them was part of the approval of east Walmart, which proves the 
City’s anticipation of further development in the direction of Wheat Ridge Estates. Mr. Pankratz 
asked staff if that was accurate. Mr. Dobbs, City Engineer, said a water main was upsized with 
the knowledge that there could be further potential development. He also stated this was before 
the litigation began in that area. 
 
Mr. Pankratz inquired about anticipated groundwater flows in a residential development. Ms. St. 
Lawrence explained the effects of a change in agricultural use to a residential use. Spencer Woith, 
Woith Engineering, explained further about time of concentration and delays in stormwater. 
 
Mr. Dobbs elaborated on the groundwater issues and said the applicant has not satisfactorily 
addressed the stormwater problems. 
 
Mr. Fontana pointed out that the JLUS does not discuss low density residential development, and 
asked if the opinion was that residential development was okay, as long as it was not medium or 
high density. Mr. Micuda explained the concern is creating resident populations, but there is no 
definition in the JLUS on what density is acceptable. 
 
Mr. Mills asked if there was an air tower control currently on Malmstrom, and whether flying 
missions could be done without one, and the answer was No to both.  
 
Mr. Pankratz inquired further about existing water rights, and said he felt as though it would benefit 
the litigating property to retain the stormwater from Wheat Ridge. Ms. St. Lawrence said the 
concern with the retention proposal of City staff is that the water never reaches them because it 
evaporates, thus infringing upon water rights. 
 
Mr. Fontana referred to comments submitted at the public hearing on March 27 by County 
Commissioner Briggs, that said the applicant is attempting to circumvent County zoning 
regulations, and asked Ms. St. Lawrence if this application had ever been in front of or denied by 
the County. She said No.  

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 252 of 284                                     Attachment # 22



Minutes of the April 24, 2018 

Planning Advisory Board Meeting 

Page 5 

 

 

 
Mr. Sullivan asked there were crops on this parcel currently being agriculturally watered. Mr. 
Woith said there are no water rights associated with the property for specific irrigation of crops, 
other than natural rainfall. Mr. Sullivan also asked Mr. Woith to confirm this will not be a gated 
community, and Mr. Woith said no. 
 
Mr. Fontana asked if citizens would be able to exit on the emergency access road if need be. 
Chief Hester said Yes, but because it exits onto a highway, MDT and the Highway Patrol would 
also be involved in that determination. 
 
Mr. Houtz asked that Mr. Micuda review staff Findings of Fact regarding the annexation. Mr. 
Micuda reviewed the Findings of Fact as listed in the staff report, and expanded upon the 
reasoning for the recommendation for denial on each one.  
 
Mr. Houtz asked Mr. Dobbs if the applicant was able to deal with the rate and the flow of the 
stormwater plan, would the City be more on board with the proposal. Mr. Dobbs said the proposed 
plan has the rate reduced, however, more gallons of water will flow downhill into the area of 
current litigation. Mr. Micuda said a City staff recommendation was provided for a stormwater plan 
of total retention, but the applicant had concerns with water rights.  
 
There was discussion on staff’s reasoning behind a negative recommendation, and Mr. Fontana 
said he felt the majority of the arguments were weak. 
 
There was more discussion on stormwater challenges and the feasibility to detain the water and 
pump it elsewhere. 
 
Mr. Wedekind asked Mr. Woith why they did not want to adhere to the City’s recommendations 
on the stormwater plan. Mr. Woith said expense, as well it being a water rights issue. Mr. 
Wedekind asked if once the property is annexed, does the City then take on the responsibility of 
any legal issue that may arise, and Mr. Woith said potentially Yes. 
 
Mr. Mills asked if there would be an analysis done after each phase of development on water 
rights affecting downstream. Mr. Woith said before every phase the same storm drain analysis is 
done.  
 
Mr. Wedekind asked staff if the property is annexed, who owns any liability moving forward. Ms. 
Sexe said the City could be sued in the future by the downstream water users. 
 
Mr. Sullivan asked Chief Hester if annexing this property would affect the City’s ISO rating, and 
Chief Hester said No, mileage  5 miles away or greater affects the rating. 
 

BOARD DISCUSSION AND ACTION 
 
MOTION: That the Planning Advisory Board recommend the City Commission deny a 
resolution to annex the Subject Property, based on the accompanying Findings of Fact. 
 
Made by: Mr. Bertelsen 
Second: Mr. Sullivan 
 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 253 of 284                                     Attachment # 22



Minutes of the April 24, 2018 

Planning Advisory Board Meeting 

Page 6 

 

 

Loren Smith, 1500 51st Street South, noted that he has owned the KOA Campground adjacent to 
the project for many years.  He expressed his support of the project and encouraged the Board 
to allow development of the proposed project. 
 
Katie Hanning, 327 2nd Street South, said not every vacant piece of land can be built on. She 
expressed her support of the project, and her disappointment of fear of litigation being what she 
felt was the driving force behind the City’s negative recommendation. 
 
Lauren Smith, 51st Street South, explained the east Walmart development was developed with 
anticipation of future development in the surrounding areas.  
 
Terry Thompson, 401 13th Avenue South, expressed her support of the project and disagreement 
with the staff recommendation that the project cannot develop due to Malmstrom Air Force Base. 
She stated her view that the development process in Great Falls is viewed negatively, and asked 
that the Board help shift that view and approve the project. 
 
Mr. Bertelsen said the Planning Advisory Board has recommended approval of many projects 
involving surrounding developments, and does not believe that is viewed as negative by the 
community. Mr. Bertelsen likes the proposed project, but does not like the location and believes 
the proximity to the base and the Accident Potential Zone is a huge concern. This will send the 
wrong message to the Department of Defense. 
 
Mr. Sullivan noted that the 2018 Department of Defense budget includes over 400 billion dollars 
in base infrastructure in the United States, and at this time it is unknown how much of those funds 
will be dedicated to Malmstrom Air Force Base. 
 
Mr. Wedekind said he does feel the community expresses difficulty in developing within the City, 
but he agrees with Mr. Bertelsen in that the Board approves the majority of the projects presented 
to them. He also expressed his desire to protect the future of the base.  
 
Mr. Davis said this is a very contentious issue, and said it should be considered that if there is no 
current mission on the base, there is no Accident Potential Zone. He also expressed his opinion 
that this is an opportunity that needs to be seriously considered.  
 
Mr. Houtz added that he likes the development, but his concerns are the unknowns surrounding 
the way forward.  
 
Ms. Thompson expressed her support of the project and views it as a way of positive growth. 
 
Mr. Pankratz said there is a lot of room to find solutions to stormwater issues in regards to the 
entire 227 acre project. He said he does not believe development should be stopped in that area 
simply for the hope of a future possibility of a flying mission on the base, but expressed his 
appreciation for the military.  
 
Mr. Mills said he agreed with Mr. Davis and Mr. Pankratz, and felt the first Phase is small enough 
to start and see where things develop from there.  
 
Mr. Fontana stated he felt the staff reasons for recommendation for denial are a bit weak, and the 
developer should not be held hostage due to pending City litigation. He also said the JLUS is an 
advisory, aged document, and should not be used as guidance. 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 254 of 284                                     Attachment # 22



Minutes of the April 24, 2018 

Planning Advisory Board Meeting 

Page 7 

 

 

 
Mr. Houtz asked if the motion were to be changed to approve the annexation, would it include 
approval of the stormwater plan or secondary access point. Mr. Raymond said that would be more 
appropriate to address in the motion for Plat recommendation.  
 
VOTE:  Mr. Bertelsen, Mr. Sullivan, and Mr. Wedekind voted in favor of the motion. The 
remaining Board members voted in opposition. The motion failed 3-6. 
 
There was procedural discussion, and Ms. Sexe suggested a recess in order to amend the 
Findings of Fact to reflect the Board’s anticipated new motion to approve the project.  
 
The Board took a 25 minute recess for staff and Mr. Davis to develop amended Findings of Fact. 
 
MOTION: That the Planning Advisory Board recommend the City Commission adopt a 
resolution to annex the Subject Property, based on the accompanying Findings of Fact as 
determined by the Board (see attached amended Findings of Fact- Annexation). Mr. Davis read 
these findings into the record. 
 
Made by: Mr. Davis 
Second: Ms. Thompson 
 
Ms. St. Lawrence stated she agreed with the amended Findings of Fact. 
 
VOTE:  Mr. Bertelsen, Mr. Sullivan, and Mr. Wedekind voted in opposition of the motion. 
The remaining Board members voted in favor. The motion carried 6-3. 
 
MOTION: That the Zoning Commission recommend the City Commission adopt the 
assignment of a zoning designation of Planned Unit Development upon the Subject Property, 
based on the accompanying Findings of Fact (see attached amended Basis of Decision-PUD). 
Mr. Davis read these findings into the record. 
 
Made by: Mr. Davis 
Second: Ms. Thompson 
 
Ms. St. Lawrence stated she agreed with the amended Findings. 
 
VOTE:  Mr. Bertelsen, Mr. Sullivan, and Mr. Wedekind voted in opposition of the motion. 
The remaining Board members voted in favor. The motion carried 6-3. 
 
MOTION: That the Planning Advisory Board recommend the City Commission adopt the 
Preliminary Plat for Wheat Ridge Estates, Phase I, based on the accompanying Findings of Fact 
(see attached amended Finding of Fact- Montana Subdivision and Platting Act). Mr. Davis read 
these findings into the record 
 
Made by: Mr. Davis 
Second: Mr. Mills 
 
Ms. St. Lawrence stated she agreed with the amended Findings. 
 
Mr. Sullivan explained his reasons for siding with City staff in voting against the motions. 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 255 of 284                                     Attachment # 22



Minutes of the April 24, 2018 

Planning Advisory Board Meeting 

Page 8 

 

 

 
Mr. Houtz stated he would like to see more work done with stormwater and emergency access. 
 
VOTE:  Mr. Bertelsen, Mr. Houtz, Mr. Sullivan, and Mr. Wedekind voted in opposition of 
the motion. The remaining Board members voted in favor. The motion carried 5-4. 

 
COMMUNICATIONS 

 
Next Meeting Agenda – Tuesday, May 8, 2018  

 PUD Amendment for Jewel Addition 
 

Petitions & Applications Received: 

 None 
 

PUBLIC COMMENT 
 
Dan Huestis, 2901 4th Avenue North, thanked the Board for their deliberate and thoughtful 
considerations.  

 
ADJOURNMENT 

 
There being no further business, Chair Pete Fontana adjourned the meeting at 6:03 p.m.  
 
 
                                                                     
CHAIRMAN SECRETARY 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 256 of 284                                     Attachment # 22



























1 
 

FINDINGS OF FACT – ANNEXATION 
 

PRIMARY REVIEW CRITERIA: 
The basis for decision on annexation is listed in Official Code of the City of Great Falls 
§17.16.7.050 of the Land Development Code. The recommendation of the Planning 
Advisory Board and the decision of City Commission shall at a minimum consider the 
following criteria: 
 

1. The subject property is contiguous to the existing City limits.  

The 21.10 acre site proposed for annexation is contiguous to existing City limits to the 
north. 

 

2. The proposed annexation is consistent with the City's growth policy.  

The proposed project is not consistent with the overall intent and purpose of the City of 
Great Falls Growth Policy Update. The annexation is supported by some of the Plan’s 
Goals as noted below: 

 
Soc1.4.1 – Work with the private sector and non-profits to increase housing 
opportunities in the City. 
 
Phy4.1.1 – Create a balanced land use pattern that provides for a diversity of 
uses that will accommodate existing and future development in the City. 
 

In contrast, the annexation is in conflict with the goals listed below for reasons 
outlined in the agenda report addressing public service impacts: 

 
Soc1.4.12 – When annexing land for residential development, consider the 
timing, phasing and connectivity of housing and infrastructure development. 
 
Phy4.2.5 – Promote orderly development and the rational extension of 
infrastructure and City services. 
 
Phy4.3.2 – Plan for the provision of appropriate infrastructure 
improvements, where needed, to support development. 

 

Phy4.7.6 – Encourage new development in areas contiguous to existing 
development in the City, where capacity exists or can be planned for. 

 

While staff notes that the property is contiguous and is adjacent to a stubbed street 
containing water, sewer, and stormwater mains, the property’s location context creates 
significant challenges for the provision of stormwater and public safety services. With 
regards to the Plan’s guidance on supporting the current and future military mission of 
Malmstrom Air Force Base and the Montana Air National Guard, page 154 of the Plan 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 269 of 284                                     Attachment # 24



2 
 

document has been included as an attachment. Staff notes the following policy guidance 
as being most applicable to the Planning Board’s consideration of this finding: 

 
 Eco3.1.2 - Support the Malmstrom Air Force Base Joint Land Use Study (2012), also 
 referred to as the JLUS study, and participate in the joint coordinating committee so 
 as to implement the report’s recommendations.  

 

Eco3.1.3 - Should there be a change in the current mission and role of the military at 
Great Falls, follow the recommendations of the Office of Economic Adjustment 
(OEA) in responding to this condition so that the City is well positioned and prepared 
to respond to any change of status, be it new missions, adjustments, downsizing or 
closure. 

 

3. The proposed annexation is consistent with applicable neighborhood plans, if any.  

Great Falls is separated into nine Neighborhood Councils.  There are no adopted 
Neighborhood Plans for any of the Councils within the City.  The subject property is 
located in Neighborhood Council #5.  The Owner presented information to Council #5, 
and the Council voted in favor of the project. 

 

4. The proposed annexation is consistent with other planning documents adopted by the 
City Commission, including a river corridor plan, transportation plan, and sub-area 
plans. 

The subject property does not lie within any adopted plans or sub-area plans, except for 
the Great Falls Area Long Range Transportation Plan. This annexation is consistent with 
the goals and purpose of the Plan through the extension of 57th Street South. 

 

5. The City has, or will have, the capacity to provide public services to the subject 
property. 

The 21.10 acre parcel’s location outside the southeastern boundary of the City’s 
corporate limits presents challenges for local services such as street maintenance, snow 
removal, and public safety response. Complicating these issues are the following: 1) the 
property is only contiguous to the City limits in one direction – to the north, 2) the 
developer hasn’t shown or committed to constructing a paved secondary access for 
either emergency services or general connectivity, and 3) the nearest public street to 
the west is located approximately ½ acre to the west of the parcel being considered for 
annexation. As a result, staff cannot make a positive finding that the City has the 
capacity to provide public services.  

 

6. The subject property has been or will be improved to City standards.  

The developer has demonstrated the feasibility to connect and extend City water 
service. While the developer’s preliminary proposal for installation of a force main and 
temporary lift station still requires additional design, providing sanitary sewer service 
seems to be feasible. The proposed roadways also will meet typical design standards.  

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 270 of 284                                     Attachment # 24



3 
 

However, the subject property is not being improved to the standards acceptable to the 
Engineering Department or Fire Department. For Engineering, the property’s location 
upstream from the Gibson Flats area requires a preliminary plan to re-route or retainage 
of all stormwater for the annexed parcel. For the Fire Department, their standards for a 
second fire apparatus route and response times have not been addressed. 

 

7. The owner(s) of the subject property will bear all of the cost of improving the property 
to City standards and or/ the owner(s) has signed an agreement waiving the right of 
protest to the creation of a special improvement district created to pay, in whole or in 
part, any necessary improvement.  

An Improvement Agreement is being deferred in order to first address the issue of 
whether or not the parcel should be annexed. The owner is anticipating financial 
responsibility of installing street and utility infrastructure. The owner has not committed 
to installing a complying secondary ingress and egress route for fire protection and 
improved connectivity. Additionally, no agreement has been reached regarding the 
Engineering Department’s stormwater recommendations.  

 

8. The subject property has been or will be surveyed and officially recorded with the 
County Clerk and Recorder.  

A Certificate of Survey has been recorded for the subject property. 

 

9. The City will provide both water and sewer service to each of the uses in the subject 
property that may require potable water and waste water treatment and disposal.  

These services can be feasibly provided to the subject property. 

 

10. The subject property is not located in an area the City Commission has designated as 
unsuitable for annexation.  

The subject property is not located in an area the City Commission has designated as 
unsuitable for annexation. 

 

11. The subject property is not located in another city or town. (See: 7-2-4608 (1), MCA.)  

The subject property is not located in another city or town.   

 
12. The subject property is not used in whole or in part for agriculture, mining, smelting, 

refining, transportation, or any other industrial or manufacturing purpose or any 
purpose incidental thereto. (See: 7-2-4608 (2), MCA) 
The subject property has been utilized for agriculture, but the developer is willingly 
giving up this land use option to seek annexation into the City. 

 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 271 of 284                                     Attachment # 24



1 
 

BASIS OF DECISION – PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT 
 

PRIMARY REVIEW CRITERIA: 
The basis for decision on planned unit developments is listed in Official Code of the City of 
Great Falls § 17.16.29.050 of the Land Development Code. The recommendation of the Zoning 
Commission and the decision of City Commission shall at a minimum consider the following 
criteria: 
 
1.  The development project is consistent with the City's Growth Policy; 

The proposed PUD development has some elements of consistency with the City’s Growth 
Policy. Specifically, it provides a nice transition from the commercial development of the 
East Great Falls Retail Center with mixed use parcels decreasing in density to ¼ acre homes 
with excellent rural views. The proposal is also supported by some of the Plan’s Goals as 
noted below: 

 
Soc1.4.1 – Work with the private sector and non-profits to increase housing 
opportunities in the City. 
 
Phy4.1.1 – Create a balanced land use pattern that provides for a diversity of 
uses that will accommodate existing and future development in the City. 
 

However, the PUD is in conflict with the goals listed below for reasons outlined in 
the agenda report addressing public service impacts: 

 
Phy4.2.5 – Promote orderly development and the rational extension of 
infrastructure and City services. 
 
Phy4.3.2 – Plan for the provision of appropriate infrastructure improvements, 
where needed, to support development. 

 

Phy4.7.6 – Encourage new development in areas contiguous to existing development in 
the City, where capacity exists or can be planned for. 

 
While staff notes that the property is contiguous and is adjacent to a stubbed street containing 
water, sewer, and stormwater mains, the property’s location creates significant challenges for 
the provision of stormwater and public safety services. 
 
2. The development project is consistent with applicable neighborhood plans, if any; 
Great Falls is separated into nine Neighborhood Councils.  There are no adopted Neighborhood 
Plans for any of the Councils within the City.  The subject property is located in Neighborhood 
Council #5.  The Owner presented information to Council #5 on February 19, 2018, and the 
Council voted unanimously in favor of the project. 
 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 272 of 284                                     Attachment # 25



2 
 

3.  The establishment, maintenance, or operation of the development project will not be 
detrimental to, or endanger the public health, safety, morals, comfort or general welfare; 
Any development within the City limits requires a review of how the development will impact 
the public health, safety and welfare. For public safety, the location and design of the PUD 
create negative impacts to public safety response. The Fire Department is very concerned about 
providing adequate and timely emergency service to the area (further stretching already limited 
emergency response), and the current layout is not in compliance with the provisions in 
Appendix D of the 2012 International Fire Code. For Public Health, concerns over downstream 
flooding being alleged by the adjoining property owner create enough concerns from the 
Engineering Department that a positive finding cannot be made.   
 
4.  The development project will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property 
in the immediate vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and 
impair property values within the neighborhood; 
As noted in the staff report and other findings, the Engineering Department has concerns that 
the development project, with its stormwater detention proposal, could diminish and impair 
adjoining Gibson Flats property to the south, already the subject of litigation.  
 
5. The development project will not impede the normal and orderly development and 
improvement of the surrounding property for uses permitted in the district; 
Staff cannot make a positive finding for this criterion. If the PUD proposal is approved, it will be 
despite challenges related to public service provision, drainage impacts, and compatibility with 
Malmstrom Air Force Base. These issues are even more magnified on the remaining 200 plus 
acres controlled by the applicant, which are not subject to the pending application, but have 
been identified for future development Additionally, parts of this property and portions of 
properties to the east and west overlap with the Accident Potential Zone  identified in the Joint 
Land Use Study  and also drain into the already sensitive area of Gibson Flats. A more orderly 
development pattern would build out areas along 10th Avenue South to the north and extend 
the City limits at the existing terminus of 13th Avenue South. 
 

6.  The proposed design of the building and other structures are compatible with the desired 
character of the neighborhood; 
Because of the limited amount of developed property nearby, there is not any established 
neighborhood context to govern the design of buildings and structures. Although architectural 
designs have not been provided, the applicant has indicated that the proposed residential 
homes will have a price point of approximately $400,000 and be quite large in size.  All homes 
would be constructed to the customized needs of the homeowner. 
 

7.  Adequate utilities, access roads, drainage and/or necessary facilities have been or are 
being provided; 

As noted in the agenda report and other findings, staff cannot conclude that the PUD addresses 
this criterion.  Downstream drainage issues identified by the Engineering Department have not 
been addressed and both fire access needs and overall transportation connectivity have not 
been planned in the PUD proposal. 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 273 of 284                                     Attachment # 25



3 
 

 

8.  Adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so as to 
minimize traffic congestion in the public streets; 
Because the area of the City south of 10th Avenue South and on either side of 57th Street South 
is so lightly developed at the current time, development of the proposed 21.10 acre PUD would 
not cause traffic congestion on public streets. The applicant’s proposal to extend 57th Street 
South coupled with the new traffic signal at the 57th/10th Avenue South intersection will 
address congestion. A positive aspect of the proposed PUD is that access to homes will not 
come from the 57th Street extension. 
 

 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 274 of 284                                     Attachment # 25



1 
 

FINDINGS OF FACT – MONTANA SUBDIVISION AND PLATTING ACT – Wheat Ridge Estates, 
Phase I 

 
 (PREPARED IN RESPONSE TO 76-3-608(3) MCA) 
  
PRIMARY REVIEW CRITERIA: 
 
Effect on Agriculture and Agricultural Water User Facilities: Although the 21.10 acre 
subdivision being considered for three mixed use lots and 37 single family home lots is actually 
zoned Agricultural in the County’s jurisdiction, the property has long been considered for City 
annexation and development by the applicant. The County’s Agricultural zoning designation is 
driven by the property’s location near Malmstrom Air Force Base, as much as the current 
farming or ranching activity. 
 
Effect on Local Services: As noted in the annexation and PUD findings, the parcel’s location 
outside the southeastern boundary of the City’s corporate limits presents challenges for local 
services such as street maintenance, snow removal, and public safety response. Complicating 
these issues are the following: 1) the property is only contiguous to the City limits in one 
direction – to the north, 2) the developer’s subdivision layout doesn’t show or commit to a 
paved secondary access for either emergency services or general connectivity, and 3) the 
nearest public street to the west is located approximately ½ acre to the west of the proposed 
subdivision site. As a result, staff cannot make a positive finding for the subdivision’s effect on 
local services. 
 
Effect on the Natural Environment: The subdivision is not expected to adversely affect soils. In 
fact, the applicant has indicated that the soils on the property are some of the best for 
construction within the community.  No specific environmental constraints have been found on 
the Phase I development site, although the presence of some steep slopes will require 
consideration in the design of the 57th Street extension. The only negative impact related to this 
criterion is the potential for water volume impact to the Gibson Flats area directly adjacent to 
the master plan area. The City’s Engineering Department has recommended that stormwater 
from the proposed subdivision be pumped northward beyond the basin draining to Gibson 
Flats. As an alternative, Engineering has suggested total stormwater retention in a lined pond 
where water could only leave the property through evaporation. As noted in the staff report, 
there is an ongoing litigation issue involving an adjacent property owner to the master plan 
area. As a result, staff cannot definitely make a positive finding for this criterion. 
 
Effect on Wildlife and Wildlife Habitat: This is not in an area of significant wildlife habitat 
beyond occasional migrating fowl, deer and ground animals. There are no wooded areas or 
other important habitats.  
 
Effect on Public Health and Safety: Based on available information, the subdivision is not 
subject to abnormal natural hazards nor potential man-made hazards. Staff has identified one 
potential negative impact of the subdivision to public safety and one related to public health. 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 275 of 284                                     Attachment # 26



2 
 

For public safety, the location and design factors outlined in the Effect on Public Services 
criterion all create negative impacts to public safety response. The Fire Department is very 
concerned about providing adequate service, and the current layout is not in compliance with 
the provisions in Appendix D of the 2012 International Fire Code. For Public Health, concerns 
over downstream flooding being alleged by the adjoining property owner create enough 
concerns from the Engineering Department that a positive finding cannot be made.   
 
REQUIREMENTS OF MONTANA SUBDIVISION AND PLATTING ACT, UNIFORM STANDARDS FOR 
MONUMENTATION, AND LOCAL SUBDIVISION REGULATIONS 
The subdivision meets the requirements of the Montana Subdivision and Platting Act and the 
surveying requirements specified in the Uniform Standards for Monumentation, and conforms 
to the design standards specified in the local subdivision regulations. The local government has 
complied with the subdivision review and approval procedures set forth in the local subdivision 
regulations. 
 
EASEMENT FOR UTILITIES 
The developer shall provide necessary utility easements to accommodate water mains, sanitary 
sewer mains and private utilities to serve all lots of the subdivision. Although the project is in 
the preliminary stages of design, there is no reason to believe that all required easements 
cannot be provided.  
 
LEGAL AND PHYSICAL ACCESS 
Legal and physical access to the proposed development will be from the extension of 57th Street 
South. As a result, the proposed subdivision meets the minimum legal standard for access. As 
for access for both public service provision and overall transportation connectivity, the proposal 
is deficient because it does not adequately address code required fire apparatus access as well 
as any future needs for 13th Avenue South connectivity to the west.  
 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 276 of 284                                     Attachment # 26



1 
 

FINDINGS OF FACT – ANNEXATION 
 

PRIMARY REVIEW CRITERIA: 
The basis for decision on annexation is listed in Official Code of the City of Great Falls 
§17.16.7.050 of the Land Development Code. The recommendation of the Planning 
Advisory Board and the decision of City Commission shall at a minimum consider the 
following criteria: 
 

1. The subject property is contiguous to the existing City limits.  

The 21.10 acre site proposed for annexation is contiguous to existing City limits to the 
north. 

 

2. The proposed annexation is consistent with the City's growth policy.  

The proposed project is not consistent with the overall intent and purpose of the City of 
Great Falls Growth Policy Update. The annexation is supported by some of the Plan’s 
Goals as noted below: 

 
Soc1.4.1 – Work with the private sector and non-profits to increase housing 
opportunities in the City. 
 
Phy4.1.1 – Create a balanced land use pattern that provides for a diversity of 
uses that will accommodate existing and future development in the City. 
 

In contrast, the annexation is in conflict with the goals listed below for reasons 
outlined in the agenda report addressing public service impacts. 

 
Soc1.4.12  When annexing land for residential development, consider the 
timing, phasing and connectivity of housing and infrastructure development. 
 
Phy4.2.5  Promote orderly development and the rational extension of 
infrastructure and City services. 
 
Phy4.3.2  Plan for the provision of appropriate infrastructure 
improvements, where needed, to support development. 

 

Phy4.7.6  Encourage new development in areas contiguous to existing 
development in the City, where capacity exists or can be planned for. 

 

While sStaff notes that the property is contiguous and is adjacent to a stubbed street 
containing water, sewer, and stormwater mains., the property’s location context creates 
significant challenges for the provision of stormwater and public safety services. With 
regards to the Plan’s guidance on supporting the current and future military mission of 
Malmstrom Air Force Base and the Montana Air National Guard, page 154 of the Plan 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 277 of 284                                     Attachment # 27





3 
 

seems to be feasible. The proposed roadways also will meet typical design standards.  
However, the subject property is not being improved to the standards acceptable to the 
Engineering Department or Fire Department. For Engineering, the property’s location 
upstream from the Gibson Flats area requires a preliminary plan to re route or retainage 
of all stormwater for the annexed parcel. For the Fire Department, their standards for a 
second fire apparatus route have not been addressed. 

 

7. The owner(s) of the subject property will bear all of the cost of improving the property 
to City standards and or/ the owner(s) has signed an agreement waiving the right of 
protest to the creation of a special improvement district created to pay, in whole or in 
part, any necessary improvement.  

An Improvement Agreement will be required to address developer and City 
responsibilities.is being deferred in order to first address the issue of whether or not the 
parcel should be annexed. The owner is anticipating financial responsibility of installing 
street and utility infrastructure. The owner has not committed to installing a complying 
secondary ingress and egress route for fire protection and improved connectivity. 
Additionally, no agreement has been reached regarding the Engineering Department’s 
stormwater recommendations. 

 

8. The subject property has been or will be surveyed and officially recorded with the 
County Clerk and Recorder.  

A Certificate of Survey has been recorded for the subject property. 

 

9. The City will provide both water and sewer service to each of the uses in the subject 
property that may require potable water and waste water treatment and disposal.  

These services can be feasibly provided to the subject property. 

 

10. The subject property is not located in an area the City Commission has designated as 
unsuitable for annexation.  

The subject property is not located in an area the City Commission has designated as 
unsuitable for annexation. 

 

11. The subject property is not located in another city or town. (See: 7-2-4608 (1), MCA)  

The subject property is not located in another city or town.   

 
12. The subject property is not used in whole or in part for agriculture, mining, smelting, 

refining, transportation, or any other industrial or manufacturing purpose or any 
purpose incidental thereto. (See: 7-2-4608 (2), MCA) 
The subject property has been utilized for agriculture, but the developer is willingly 
giving up this land use option to seek annexation into the City. 

 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 279 of 284                                     Attachment # 27



1 
 

BASIS OF DECISION – PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT 
 

PRIMARY REVIEW CRITERIA: 
The basis for decision on planned unit developments is listed in Official Code of the City of 
Great Falls § 17.16.29.050 of the Land Development Code. The recommendation of the Zoning 
Commission and the decision of City Commission shall at a minimum consider the following 
criteria: 
 
1.  The development project is consistent with the City's Growth Policy; 

The proposed PUD development has some elements of consistency with the City’s Growth 
Policy. Specifically, it provides a nice transition from the commercial development of the 
East Great Falls Retail Center with mixed use parcels decreasing in density to ¼ acre homes 
with excellent rural views. The proposal is also supported by some of the Plan’s Goals as 
noted below: 

 
Soc1.4.1 – Work with the private sector and non-profits to increase housing 
opportunities in the City. 
 
Phy4.1.1 – Create a balanced land use pattern that provides for a diversity of 
uses that will accommodate existing and future development in the City. 
 

However, the PUD is in conflict with the goals listed below for reasons outlined in 
the agenda report addressing public service impacts: 

 
Phy4.2.5  Promote orderly development and the rational extension of 
infrastructure and City services. 
 
Phy4.3.2 – Plan for the provision of appropriate infrastructure improvements, 
where needed, to support development. 

 

Phy4.7.6  Encourage new development in areas contiguous to existing development in 
the City, where capacity exists or can be planned for. 

 
While staff notes that the property is contiguous and is adjacent to a stubbed street containing 
water, sewer, and stormwater mains, the property’s location creates significant challenges for 
the provision of stormwater and public safety services. 
 
2. The development project is consistent with applicable neighborhood plans, if any; 
Great Falls is separated into nine Neighborhood Councils.  There are no adopted Neighborhood 
Plans for any of the Councils within the City.  The subject property is located in Neighborhood 
Council #5.  The Owner presented information to Council #5 on February 19, 2018, and the 
Council voted unanimously in favor of the project. 
 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 280 of 284                                     Attachment # 28



2 
 

3.  The establishment, maintenance, or operation of the development project will not be 
detrimental to, or endanger the public health, safety, morals, comfort or general welfare; 
Any development within the City limits requires a review of how the development will impact 
the public health, safety and welfare. These factors have been considered. For public safety, the 
location and design of the PUD create negative impacts to public safety response. The Fire 
Department is very concerned about providing adequate and timely emergency service to the 
area (further stretching already limited emergency response), and the current layout is not in 
compliance with the provisions in Appendix D of the 2012 International Fire Code. For Public 
Health, concerns over downstream flooding being alleged by the adjoining property owner 
create enough concerns from the Engineering Department that a positive finding cannot be 
made.   
 
4.  The development project will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property 
in the immediate vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and 
impair property values within the neighborhood; 
There is no such injury.As noted in the staff report and other findings, the Engineering 
Department has concerns that the development project, with its stormwater detention 
proposal, could diminish and impair adjoining Gibson Flats property to the south, already the 
subject of litigation.  
 
5. The development project will not impede the normal and orderly development and 
improvement of the surrounding property for uses permitted in the district; 
This finding has been met. Staff cannot make a positive finding for this criterion. If the PUD 
proposal is approved, it will be despite challenges related to public service provision, drainage 
impacts, and compatibility with Malmstrom Air Force Base. These issues are even more 
magnified on the remaining 200 plus acres controlled by the applicant, which are not subject to 
the pending application, but have been identified for future development Additionally, parts of 
this property and portions of properties to the east and west overlap with the Accident 
Potential Zone  identified in the Joint Land Use Study  and also drain into the already sensitive 
area of Gibson Flats. A more orderly development pattern would build out areas along 10th 
Avenue South to the north and extend the City limits at the existing terminus of 13th Avenue 
South. 
 

6.  The proposed design of the building and other structures are compatible with the desired 
character of the neighborhood; 
Because of the limited amount of developed property nearby, there is not any established 
neighborhood context to govern the design of buildings and structures. Although architectural 
designs have not been provided, the applicant has indicated that the proposed residential 
homes will have a price point of approximately $400,000 and be quite large in size.  All homes 
would be constructed to the customized needs of the homeowner. 
 

7.  Adequate utilities, access roads, drainage and/or necessary facilities have been or are 
being provided; 

This finding has been met.As noted in the agenda report and other findings, staff cannot 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 281 of 284                                     Attachment # 28



3 
 

conclude that the PUD addresses this criterion.  Downstream drainage issues identified by the 
Engineering Department have not been addressed and both fire access needs and overall 
transportation connectivity have not been planned in the PUD proposal. 

 

8.  Adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so as to 
minimize traffic congestion in the public streets; 
Because the area of the City south of 10th Avenue South and on either side of 57th Street South 
is so lightly developed at the current time, development of the proposed 21.10 acre PUD would 
not cause traffic congestion on public streets. The applicant’s proposal to extend 57th Street 
South coupled with the new traffic signal at the 57th/10th Avenue South intersection will 
address congestion. A positive aspect of the proposed PUD is that access to homes will not 
come from the 57th Street extension. 
 

 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 282 of 284                                     Attachment # 28



1 
 

FINDINGS OF FACT – MONTANA SUBDIVISION AND PLATTING ACT – Wheat Ridge Estates, 
Phase I 

 
 (PREPARED IN RESPONSE TO 76-3-608(3) MCA) 
  
PRIMARY REVIEW CRITERIA: 
 
Effect on Agriculture and Agricultural Water User Facilities: Although the 21.10 acre 
subdivision being considered for three mixed use lots and 37 single family home lots is actually 
zoned Agricultural in the County’s jurisdiction, the property has long been considered for City 
annexation and development by the applicant. The County’s Agricultural zoning designation is 
driven by the property’s location near Malmstrom Air Force Base, as much as the current 
farming or ranching activity. 
 
Effect on Local Services: There are no negative impacts. The developer is providing all required 
utilities and roadway access.As noted in the annexation and PUD findings, the parcel’s location 
outside the southeastern boundary of the City’s corporate limits presents challenges for local 
services such as street maintenance, snow removal, and public safety response. Complicating 
these issues are the following: 1) the property is only contiguous to the City limits in one 
direction  to the north, 2) the developer’s subdivision layout doesn’t show or commit to a 
paved secondary access for either emergency services or general connectivity, and 3) the 
nearest public street to the west is located approximately ½ acre to the west of the proposed 
subdivision site. As a result, staff cannot make a positive finding for the subdivision’s effect on 
local services. 
 
Effect on the Natural Environment: The subdivision is not expected to adversely affect soils. In 
fact, the applicant has indicated that the soils on the property are some of the best for 
construction within the community.  No specific environmental constraints have been found on 
the Phase I development site, although the presence of some steep slopes will require 
consideration in the design of the 57th Street extension. The only negative impact related to this 
criterion is the potential for water volume impact to the Gibson Flats area directly adjacent to 
the master plan area. The City’s Engineering Department has recommended that stormwater 
from the proposed subdivision be pumped northward beyond the basin draining to Gibson 
Flats. As an alternative, Engineering has suggested total stormwater retention in a lined pond 
where water could only leave the property through evaporation. As noted in the staff report, 
there is an ongoing litigation issue involving an adjacent property owner to the master plan 
area. As a result, staff cannot definitely make a positive finding for this criterion. 
 
Effect on Wildlife and Wildlife Habitat: This is not in an area of significant wildlife habitat 
beyond occasional migrating fowl, deer and ground animals. There are no wooded areas or 
other important habitats.  
 
Effect on Public Health and Safety: Based on available information, the subdivision is not 
subject to abnormal natural hazards nor potential man-made hazards. Staff has identified one 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 283 of 284                                     Attachment # 29



2 
 

potential negative impact of the subdivision to public safety and one related to public health. 
For public safety, the location and design factors outlined in the Effect on Public Services 
criterion all create negative impacts to public safety response. The Fire Department is very 
concerned about providing adequate service, and the current layout is not in compliance with 
the provisions in Appendix D of the 2012 International Fire Code. For Public Health, concerns 
over downstream flooding being alleged by the adjoining property owner create enough 
concerns from the Engineering Department that a positive finding cannot be made.   
 
REQUIREMENTS OF MONTANA SUBDIVISION AND PLATTING ACT, UNIFORM STANDARDS FOR 
MONUMENTATION, AND LOCAL SUBDIVISION REGULATIONS 
The subdivision meets the requirements of the Montana Subdivision and Platting Act and the 
surveying requirements specified in the Uniform Standards for Monumentation, and conforms 
to the design standards specified in the local subdivision regulations. The local government has 
complied with the subdivision review and approval procedures set forth in the local subdivision 
regulations. 
 
EASEMENT FOR UTILITIES 
The developer shall provide necessary utility easements to accommodate water mains, sanitary 
sewer mains and private utilities to serve all lots of the subdivision. Although the project is in 
the preliminary stages of design, there is no reason to believe that all required easements 
cannot be provided.  
 
LEGAL AND PHYSICAL ACCESS 
Legal and physical access to the proposed development will be from the extension of 57th Street 
South. As a result, the proposed subdivision meets the minimum legal standard for access. As 
for access for both public service provision and overall transportation connectivity, the proposal 
is deficient because it does not adequately address code required fire apparatus access as well 
as any future needs for 13th Avenue South connectivity to the west.  
 

City Commission Meeting - August 7, 2018                                                                                                      Page 284 of 284                                     Attachment # 29




